

University of Dundee

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Epidermal growth factor and Transforming growth factor motogenic activities are mediated by Epidermal growth factor receptor Identification of signalling pathways involved in head and neck cancer

Thwe, Aye Myat

Award date: 2020

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
 You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR α MOTOGENIC ACTIVITIES ARE MEDIATED BY EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR: IDENTIFICATION OF SIGNALLING PATHWAYS INVOLVED IN HEAD AND NECK CANCER

Aye Myat Thwe

EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR α MOTOGENIC ACTIVITIES ARE MEDIATED BY EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR: IDENTIFICATION OF SIGNALLING PATHWAYS INVOLVED IN HEAD AND NECK CANCER

Aye Myat Thwe B.D.S, MRes Oral Cancer

Thesis submitted for Doctor of Philosophy

in Dentistry

ii

Table of Contents

| List of Figures | x |
|--|-------|
| List of Tables | xiv |
| DEDICATION | xv |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | xvi |
| DECLARATION | xvii |
| CERTIFICATE | xviii |
| ABBREVIATION | xix |
| Abstract | xxiii |
| Chapter 1 Introduction and literature review | 1 |
| 1.1 Biology of cancer | 2 |
| 1.2 Head and neck cancer | 4 |
| 1.3 Aetiology of head and neck cancer | 6 |
| 1.3.1 Tobacco | 6 |
| 1.3.2 Alcohol | 7 |
| 1.3.3 Virus | 10 |
| 1.3.4 Genetic disease | |
| 1.3.5 Candida | |
| 1.3.6 Diet | 11 |
| 1.3.7 Organs transplant patients | 11 |
| 1.3.8 Family history | 12 |
| 1.3.9 Potentially malignant disorders: | 12 |
| 1.4 Geographic variation of head and neck cancer rate | 14 |
| 1.5 Betel quid chewing in Myanmar and oral cancer statistics | 14 |
| 1.6 Anatomical location of head and neck cancer | 15 |
| 1.7 Clinical features of head and neck cancer | |

| 1.8 Diagnosis of head and neck cancer | 16 |
|---|----|
| 1.9 Staging of head and neck cancer | 17 |
| 1.10 Treatment of head and neck cancer | 20 |
| 1.11 Overview of cell signalling | 21 |
| 1.12 Genomic alterations in Head and Neck cancer | 23 |
| 1.12.1 p53 | 24 |
| 1.12.2 Ras | 24 |
| 1.12.3 PIK3CA | 25 |
| 1.12.4 PRAD-1 (CCND1) | 26 |
| 1.12.5 Notch | 26 |
| 1.12.6 Caspase 8 | 27 |
| 1.12.7 FAT1 | 27 |
| 1.12.8 Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) | 27 |
| 1.13 Biomarkers of head and neck cancer | 28 |
| 1.14 EGF like ligands | 30 |
| 1.15 Epidermal growth factor (EGF) and Transforming growth factor alpha (TGF $lpha$) | 30 |
| 1.16 ErbB receptor family | 33 |
| 1.17 Epidermal growth factor receptor | 34 |
| 1.18 EGFR overexpression | 35 |
| 1.19 Co-expression with other ErbB family members | 36 |
| 1.20 Architecture of EGFR | 37 |
| 1.21 Activation of specific tyrosine kinase residues | 38 |
| 1.22 Inhibition of tyrosine kinase residues | 39 |
| 1.23 EGFR internalization | 39 |
| 1.23.1 EGFR endocytosis | 40 |
| 1.24 EGFR variant III or Δ EGFR, or de2–7EGFR | 42 |

| 1.25 EGFR mutation | 43 |
|---|----|
| 1.26 Secondary EGFR mutation | 45 |
| 1.27 Activation of signalling pathways | 46 |
| 1.28 RAS-RAF-MAPK pathway | 47 |
| 1.29 PI3K -AKT-MTOR pathway | 49 |
| 1.30 STAT signal transducer and activator of transcription | 52 |
| 1.31 JNK pathway or c-Jun N-terminal kinases | 54 |
| 1.32 Phospholipase C gamma (PCLγ) pathway | 55 |
| 1.33 Cell proliferation | 55 |
| 1.34 Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in HNSCC | 58 |
| 1.35 Cell migration | 63 |
| 1.35.1 Single cell migration | 64 |
| 1.35.2 Collective cell migration: | 64 |
| 1.36 Drug target EGFR signalling | 67 |
| 1.36.1 Cetuximab | 68 |
| 1.36.2 Resistance to Cetuximab/ monoclonal antibodies | 69 |
| 1.36.3 Cross talking within signaling pathways | 72 |
| 1.36.4 Other monoclonal antibodies | 72 |
| 1.36.5 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors | 73 |
| 1.36.6 Pathway inhibitors under clinical trials for head and neck cancer | 75 |
| 1.37 The need for development of drugs targeting EGFR mutation and Ras mutation | 75 |
| Chapter 2 Aim and Hypothesis | 77 |
| 2.1 Aims of the project | 78 |
| 2.2 Hypothesis of the study | 79 |
| Chapter 3 Materials and methods | 81 |

v

| 3.1 The cell lines used in the study and source | 82 |
|---|-----------------|
| 3.2 List of equipment | 84 |
| 3.3 List of reagents and antibodies | 85 |
| 3.4 Measuring cell proliferation | 86 |
| 3.5 Cell culture | 86 |
| 3.6 General cell culture for maintenance of stock cells | 87 |
| 3.7 Cryopreservation and resurrection | 88 |
| 3.8 Scatter assay | 89 |
| 3.9 Definition of epithelial characteristic characteristics | 89 |
| 3.10 Definition of mesenchymal characteristic characteristics | 90 |
| 3.11 Scratch assay | 90 |
| 3.12 Immunofluorescence | 91 |
| 3.13 Example of weak, moderate and strong staining (Figure 3.3) | |
| 3.14 Cell lysis | |
| 3.15 Protein assay -Pierce BCA protein Assay Kit (23225) | |
| 3.16 SDS PAGE | |
| 3.17 Western blot | |
| Chapter 4: To study the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGF α on proliferation of the growth factors the transformation of transformati | on, |
| morphology and the migration of head and neck cancer cell lines using changes in | n cell shape as |
| a marker of Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition | 100 |
| 4.1 Introduction | 101 |
| 4.1.1 Proliferation | 101 |
| 4.1.2 EMT and migration | 102 |

| 4.2 Aim and hypothesis | 106 |
|--|-----------|
| 4.3 Materials and methods | 108 |
| 4.3.1 Experimental details using Automated cell counter | 108 |
| 4.3.2 Experimental details for scatter assay | 110 |
| 4.3.3 Experimental detail for scratch assay | 110 |
| 4.3.4 Experimental detail for Immunofluorescence | 111 |
| 4.3.5 Experimental detail for Protein assay, SDS PAGE and Western blot | 111 |
| 4.4 Results | 111 |
| 4.4.1 Proliferation rates of the 4 cells lines as determined by automated cell counter | er 111 |
| 4.4.2 Cell morphology changes | 122 |
| 4.4.3 Scratch assay | 133 |
| 4.4.4 Changes in Protein expression by cancer cell lines in response to growth factor | ors . 143 |
| 4.5. Result Summary | 150 |
| 4.6 Discussion | 152 |
| 4.6. 1 Proliferation | 152 |
| 4.6.2: EMT, single cell migration and collective cell migration | 154 |
| 4.6.3 Discussion for EMT markers | 157 |
| Chapter 5 To investigate the effects of inhibitors on cell scattering, migration and the | |
| localisation and expression of signalling molecules in growth factor stimulated head and | l neck |
| cell lines | 160 |
| 5.1 Introduction | 161 |
| 5.1.1 Background | 161 |
| 5.2 Aim and hypothesis | 165 |
| 5.3 Experimental Methods | 166 |
| 5.3.1 General Tissue Culture for Scratch assay | 166 |
| 5.3.2 Scratch assay | 166 |
| 5.3.4 SDS and Western blot | 167 |
| 5.4 Results | 168 |
| 5.4.1: Inhibitor concentrations of EMT and scattering assay | 168 |

| | 5.4.2 HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors | 171 |
|-----|--|----------------|
| | 5.4.3 TYS cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors | 176 |
| | 5.4.4 AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors | 181 |
| | | 185 |
| | 5.4.5 HSG cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors | 186 |
| | | 190 |
| | 5.4.6 Results of Cell migration assay | 191 |
| | 5.4.7 Pilot experiment to investigate the best time point in the scratch assay | 191 |
| | 5.4.8 Experimental data for TYS cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors the gap closure/scratch assay | s using 192 |
| | 5.4.9 Experimental data for HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and inhibit | ors 196 |
| | 5.4.10 Experimental data for HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Inhibito | ors 200 |
| | 5.4.11 Experimental data for AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Inhibit | ors 204 |
| | 5.4.12 Changes in protein expression by cancer cell lines in response to growth factor and inhibitors | ors 208 |
| | 5.4.13 Localization of EGFR and phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr1068) residue | 208 |
| | 5.4.14 Phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr1068) residue | 213 |
| | 5.4.15 Localization and phosphorylation of MAPK (Thr202/Tyr204) residue | 215 |
| | 5.4.16 Localization and phosphorylation of Akt (Ser 473) residue | 229 |
| ļ | 5.5 Result Summary | 234 |
| | 5.5.1 EMT or single cell migration | 234 |
| | 5.5.2 Scratch assay or collective migration | 236 |
| | 5.5.3 Expression and Localisation of EGFR and its phosphorylated sub-type (Tyr1068 |) 237 |
| | 5.5.4 Expression and localisation of phospho-p44/p42 MAPK(Erk1/2) Thr202/Tyr204 | l 239 |
| | 5.5.5 Expression and localisation of phospho-Akt 473 | 239 |
| Ţ | 5.6 Discussion | 240 |
| | 5.6.1 EMT or Single cell migration | 240 |
| | 5.6.2 Collective cell migration or scratch assay | 241 |
| | 5.6.3 EMT and drug resistant to Tyrosine kinase inhibitor | 241 |
| | 5.6.4 Phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr-1068) | 242 |
| | 5.6.5 EGFR localization | 243 |
| | 5.6.6 Phosphorylation of phosphor-p44/p42 MAPK (Erk1/2) Thr202/Tyr204 | 243 |
| | 5.6.7 Phosphorylation of Akt 473 | 244 |
| Cha | apter 6: General Discussion | 246 |

| | Limitations of research | 249 |
|---|------------------------------------|-----|
| | | |
| | Recommendation for future research | 250 |
| | | |
| (| Chapter 7: References | 253 |
| | • | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1.1 Hall mark of cancer | 4 |
|--|------------|
| Figure 1.2 Alcohol degeneration | 7 |
| Figure 1.3 Three stages of cell signalling | 19 |
| Figure 1.4 PI3K pathway | 22&49 |
| Figure 1.5 EGFR signalling pathway | 35&44 |
| Figure 1.6 MAPK pathway | 46 |
| Figure 1.7 Role of snail in EMT | 59 |
| Figure 1.8 Example of single cell migration | 61 |
| Figure 1.9 Example of collective cell migration | 62 |
| Figure 1.10 Drugs targeting EGFR pathway | |
| Figure 3.1 Epithelial shape cells | 84 |
| Figure 3.2 Mesenchymal shape cells | 85 |
| Figure 3.3 Example of staining patterns | 88 |
| Figure 4.1 EMT | |
| Figure 4.2 Collective cell migration | 100 |
| Figure 4.3 Cell scattering | 101 |
| Figure 4.4 The AZA1 cell line was plated at different densities Figure 4.5 The HSG cell line proliferation data | 104 109 |
| Figure 4.6 HSG proliferation data grouped | 110 |
| Figure 4.7 The AZA1 cell proliferation data | 111 |
| Figure 4.8 AZA1proliferation data grouped | 112 |
| Figure 4.9 The TYS cell proliferation data | |
| Figure 4.10 TYS proliferation data grouped | 114 |
| Figure4.11 The HaCaT cell proliferation data | 115 |
| Figure 4.12 HaCaT proliferation data grouped | 116 |
| Figure 4.13 The TYS cell line <i>was</i> plated at 5x 10 ⁵ per dish | 117 |
| Figure 4.14 HSG cell line and effect of growth factor EGF with different diluti | ons119 |
| Figure 4.15 HaCaT cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours | 121 |
| Figure 4.16 TYS cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours | 123 |

| Figure 4.17 AZA1 cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours125 |
|--|
| Figure 4.18 HSG cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours127 |
| Figure 4.19 Investigation of different time points in the scratch migration assay129 |
| Figure 4.20 Scratch assay using HaCaT cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours |
| Figure 4.21 Scratch assay using TYS cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours |
| Figure 4.22 Scratch assay using HSG cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours |
| Figure 4.23 Scratch assay using AZA1 cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours |
| Figure 4.24 HaCaT cell line: Expression of markers of EMT139 |
| Figure 4.25 TYS cell line: Expression of markers of EMT140 |
| Figure 4.26 AZA1 cell line: Expression of markers of EMT141 |
| Figure 4.27 HSG cell line: Expression of markers of EMT142 |
| Figure 4 .28 SDS-Page and Western blotting of Head and Neck cancer samples144 |
| Figure 4.29 Collective cell migration150 |
| Figure 4.30 Individual cell migration151 |
| Figure 4.31 ameboid shape and mesenchymal shape in cell scattering151 |
| Figure 5.1 Example of cellular projection158 |
| Figure 5.2 Different dose of inhibitor Erlotinib on HSG cell lines164 |
| Figure 5.3a HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib167 |
| Figure 5.3b HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib168 |
| Figure 5.3c HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059169 |
| Figure 5.4a TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib172 |
| Figure 5.4b TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib173 |
| Figure 5.4c TYS cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059174 |
| Figure 5.5a AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib177 |
| Figure 5.5b AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib178 |
| Figure 5.5c AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059179 |
| Figure 5.6a HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib182 |
| Figure 5.6b HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib183 |

| Figure 5.6c HSG cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059184 |
|--|
| Figure 5.7 HSG cell line scratch assay over different time periods186 |
| Figure 5.8a TYS cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in scratch assay |
| Figure 5.8b TYS cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in scratch assay |
| Figure 5.8c TYS cell line plated in presence of inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in scratch assay190 |
| Figure 5.9a HaCaT cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in scratch assay |
| Figure 5.9b HaCaT cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in scratch assay193 |
| Figure 5.9c HaCaT cell line plated in presence of inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in scratch assay194 |
| Figure 5.10a HSG cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in scratch assay196 |
| Figure 5.10b HSG cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in scratch assay197 |
| Figure 5.10c HSG cell line plated in presence of inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in scratch assay198 |
| Figure 5.11a AZA1 cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in scratch assay200 |
| Figure 5.11b AZA1 cell line plated in presence of inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in scratch assay |
| Figure 5.11c AZA1 cell line plated in presence of inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in scratch assay202 |
| Figure 5.12 TYS cell line expression of total EGFR204 |
| Figure 5.13 HaCaT cell line expression of total EGFR205 |
| Figure 5.14 AZA1 cell line expression of total EGFR206 |
| Figure 5.15 HSG cell line expression of total EGFR207 |
| Figure 5.16 Western blot experiments for EGFR phosphorylation at Tyr 1068 with 4 cell lines209 |
| Figure 5.17 Western blot experiments for MAPK phosphorylation with 4 cell lines211 |
| Figure 5.18a HSG cell line in respond to growth factors and Gefitinib(staining with phosphor MAPK)212 |

| Figure 5.18b HSG cell line in respond to growth factors and Erlotinib (staining with phosphor MAPK)213 |
|--|
| Figure 5.18c HSG cell line in respond to growth factors and PD98059 (staining with phosphor MAPK)214 |
| Figure 5.19a AZA1 cell line in respond to growth factors and Gefitinib(staining with phosphor MAPK)215 |
| Figure 5.19b AZA1 cell line in respond to growth factors and Erlotinib (staining with phosphor MAPK)216 |
| Figure 5.19c AZA1 cell line in respond to growth factors and PD98059 (staining with phosphor MAPK)217 |
| Figure 5.20a TYS cell line in respond to growth factors and Gefitinib(staining with phosphor MAPK)218 |
| Figure 5.20b TYS cell line in respond to growth factors and Erlotinib(staining with phosphor MAPK)219 |
| Figure 5.20c TYS cell line in respond to growth factors and PD98059(staining with phosphor MAPK)220 |
| Figure 5.21a HaCaT cell line in respond to growth factors and Gefitinib(staining with phosphor MAPK)221 |
| Figure 5.21b HaCaT cell line in respond to growth factors and Erlotinib (staining with phosphor MAPK)222 |
| Figure 5.21c HaCaT cell line in respond to growth factors and PD98059(staining with phosphor MAPK)223 |
| Figure 5.22 Western blot experiments for AKT phosphorylation with 4 cell lines225 |
| Figure 5.23a TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib(staining with phospho AKT)226 |
| Figure 5.23b TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib(staining with phospho AKT)227 |
| Figure 5.23c TYS cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059(staining with phospho AKT)228 |

List of Tables

| Table 1.1 TNM classification of head and neck cancer14 |
|--|
| Table 1.2 ErbB receptor and their corresponding ligands30 |
| Table 1.3 Types of ErbB receptors and their relationship in different type of cancer31 |
| Table 1.4 EGFR status after ligands binding on whether degraded or recycled |
| Table 1.5 Epithelial and mesenchymal markers associated with EMT |
| Table 1.6 Pathway inhibitors under clinical trials for head and neck cancer72 |
| Table 3.1 The cell lines used in the study and source78 |
| Table 3.2 List of equipment80 |
| Table 3.3 List of reagents and antibodies81 |
| Table3.4 Preparation of Diluted Albumin (BSA) Standards90 |
| Table 4.1 saturation density for each cell line107 |
| Table 4.2 Summary for cell proliferation145 |
| Table 4.3 Summary for cell morphology / single cell migration |
| Table 4.4 Summary for collective cell migration146 |
| Table 4.5 Summary for Immunofluorescence146 |
| Table 5.1 Western blot lanes and test condition 161 |
| Table 5.2a EMT or single cell migration229Table 5.2b EMT or single cell migration231Table 5.3a Scratch assay or collective migration231Table 5.3b Scratch assay or collective migration232Table 5.4 Expression and Localisation of EGFR232 |
| Table 5.5 Expression and Localisation of phosphorylated EGFR sub-type (Tyr1068)233 |
| Table 5.6. Expression and localisation of phospho-p44/p42 MAPK(Erk1/2)Thr202/Tyr204 |
| Table 5.7 Expression and localisation of phospho-Akt 473 |

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents Aye Mar Oo and Win Naing whose endless love and support make me able to walk this journey. To my brother, Nyi Lynn Htet for being there in time of need.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start off by thanking my thesis supervisor Dr. Ian Ellis and Prof. Peter Mossey. Without their support, guidance and help, this thesis would not have been possible.

I would also like to thank Dr. Margaret Florence, Mrs Jacqueline Cox and Dr Mohammad Islam for all their help in the preparation of cells and solution.

I would also like to express my gratitude to all my friends and lab mates who helped me throughout the course.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my family for their constant support and concern. I cannot be here without their support.

DECLARATION

I declare that I am the author of thesis and I have consulted all the reference cited. The work of which thesis is a record has been accepted for a higher degree. This work has been carried out in the cell and molecular biology laboratory of Dundee Dental School, under supervision of Dr. Ian R Ellis and Prof. Peter A Mossey.

Signature

Date

Aye Myat Thwe

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that Aye Myat Thwe has fulfilled the condition of Ordinance of 39 of the University of Dundee and is qualified to submit this thesis for degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dr. Ian R Ellis

Lecturer, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Clinical Sciences

Signed

Date

Prof Peter A Mossey

Professor of craniofacial Development and Associate Dean for Internationalisation

Signed

Date

All the Dental school, University of Dundee, UK .

ABBREVIATION

- FHIT- Fragile histidine triad
- FCS-Foetal Calf Serum
- FGF-Fibroblast growth factor
- FSP1- Fibroblast specific protein
- FAT1- FAT atypical cadherin 1
- FOXC2- Forkhead box C2
- Grb2- Growth factor receptor bound protein 2
- GLUT-1 glucose transporter 1
- $\mathsf{HIF1}\alpha$ hypoxia inducible factor 1α
- HPV- Human papilloma virus
- HIV-Human immunodeficiency virus
- HSV Herpes simplex virus
- HGF -Hepatocyte growth factor
- HB EGF Heparin binding EGF like growth factor
- HNSCC- Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
- Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R)
- JAK-Janus kinaseKi-67 -a protein that in humans is encoded by the MKI67 gene
- MAPK-Mitogen activated protein kinase
- MDM2-Mouse double minus 2 homolog
- MMPs- Matrix metalloprotease enzymes
- MET-Mesenchymal to Epithelial transition
- mTOR- mammalian target of Rapamycin
- MAGE-Melanoma Antigen Gene
- NRGs-Neuregulins
- NF_{KB}- Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells
- NSCLC- Non small cell lung carcinoma
- NOTCH1- Notch homolog 1, translocation associated (Drosophila)
- OSCC-Oral squamous cell carcinoma
- OSMR -Oncostain M receptor
- **OLP-Oral lichen planus**

- PI- Iso-electric point
- pH-Potential hydrogen
- PBS-Phosphate buffer saline
- pAkt473- Phosphorylated Akt at Serine 473
- pAkt308- Phosphorylated Akt at Threonine 308
- PDK1-Phosphoinositide biphosphate
- PIP2-Phosphoinositide biphosphate
- PIP3- Phosphoinositide 3,4,5 triphosphate
- PKB-Protein kinase B
- PKC-Protein kinase C
- PI3K Phosphoinositide 3-kinases
- PIK3CA- Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-Bisphosphate 3-Kinase Catalytic Subunit Alpha
- PIP2- Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate or PtdIns(4,5)P2
- PIP3- Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate or PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃
- PTEN- Phosphatase and tensin homolog
- PTB- Phosphotyrosine binding domains
- p53- TP53 tumor protein
- pRb- Retinoblastoma protein
- PDGFR-Platelet direct growth factor receptor
- PDGF- Platelet direct growth factor
- PCNA -Proliferation cell nuclear antigen
- PMD- Potentially malignant disorder
- Rb Retinoblastoma
- SH2- Src homology 2
- SEA-South East Asia
- SF-Serum free
- STAT-signal activator and activator of transcription
- TBST- Tris buffered saline and Tween 20
- TGF α Transforming growth factor alpha
- TGFβ Transforming growth factor beta

TAMs-Tumour associate macrophage

TKs- Tyrosine kinases

TKIs -Tyrosine kinase inhibitors

VEGF- Vascular endothelial growth factor

VEGFR- Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

WB -Western blot

Abstract

Background: The alteration of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) plays a major role in the development of Head and Neck cancer. However, the only FDA approved EGFR target for this neoplasm is the drug Cetuximab. Cetuximab can only be used where there is an over-expression of EGFR. Cetuximab works by competing with the ligands Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) and Transforming Growth Factor α (TGF α) to bind the extracellular domain of EGFR. Inhibition of this ligand binding blocks the activation of subsequent signalling pathways. It is known that not all Head and Neck cancers over-expressing EGFR respond to Cetuximab. It has been postulated that some of these tumours have additional genetic lesions. Resistance to Cetuximab has been associated with the genetic lesions to EGFR mutation and Ras mutations. These mutations are more common in Asian than Caucasian patients. More recently the Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib and Erlotinib) have been investigated as drugs to target tumours with EGFR mutation. These inhibitors bind to the cytoplasmic domain of the EGFR and compete with ATP and inhibit phosphorylation of the receptor. Another inhibitor of interest is PD98509 which is a selective ERK1/2 inhibitor and may be used in targeting tumours with a Ras mutation. None of these inhibitors has received FDA approval for Head and Neck cancer treatment.

Aim: The main aims of the project were to investigate the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGF α and the inhibitors; Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 on cancer cell lines

obtained from Asian head and neck cancer patients. The first area of study was to investigate the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGF α on cell proliferation, morphological changes, EMT marker expression, single cell migration and collective cell migration. Once the initial data had been collected a second part was to determine whether the inhibitors; Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 could block the stimulatory effect of EGF and TGF α in these assays.

Methods: Three tumour cell lines of Asian origin were used in the study and a normal skin keratinocyte as a control. Cell proliferation was measured using an automated cell counting system. Migration was studied using a cell scatter and cell scratch assay. The movement of the cells was documented by using photomicrographs. Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) and protein expression were determined using immunofluorescence and SDS-PAGE and Western blotting.

Results: Cell proliferation data indicated that the growth factors did not stimulate the proliferation of the cells investigated.

Addition of the growth factors for 48 hours induced an EMT like morphological change, individual cell migration in the scatter assay and collective cell migration in the scratch assay. However, the specific markers of EMT (E cadherin and vimentin) as measured by Western blotting and immunofluorescence showed no change in intensity following the addition of the growth factors for 48 hours.

Pre-treatment of the cells for one hour with the tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and the MAPK inhibitor (PD98059) inhibited these morphological changes, and individual cell migration. However, only the Tyrosine kinase inhibitors inhibited

collective cell migration. PD98059 partially inhibited collective cell migration of the TYS and HaCaT cell lines and fully inhibited cell migration of the HSG and AZA1 cell lines.

Analysis of the MAPK pathway using the expression of phosphorylated MAPK was investigated by Western Blot and Immunofluorescence. Western blot data indicated an increased expression of phosphorylated MAPK202/204 was observed in cells treated with both EGF and TGFα for 24 hours. At the 24hour time point, tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) fully inhibited the MAPK202/204 phosphorylation. In contrast, in ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) treated dishes, phosphorylated MAPK 202/204 was still expressed which was likely to be the same level of expression as serum free treated dishes.

Conclusion and Possible Clinical Impact: The data indicates that the growth factors EGF and TGF α both stimulated single and collective cell migration. The data lead us an unexpected answer as to whether single cell migration and collective cell migration utilised the same signalling pathways. The data indicated that these are separate pathways; the MAPK pathway appears to be the only pathway responsible for morphological change and single cell migration in cell lines used in this project. The role of MAPK signalling pathway in collective cell migration appears to be cell line dependent MAPK and alone might not be responsible for collective cell migration. The ability of the inhibitors may in the future lead to a more personalised therapy for patients in Asian countries and more clinical trials across a diverse group of patients is needed.

xxvi

Chapter 1 Introduction and literature review

1.1 Biology of cancer

Cancer is the disease which at its most basic definition is cells in specific part of body grow uncontrollably (NCI, 2020). These cells can invade the surrounding tissue, organs and eventually spread to other parts of the body which is called metastasis (Guan X, 2015). Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide and accounted for 9.6 million deaths in 2018 (WHO, 2018). 90 % of cancer deaths are caused by metastasis (Guan X, 2015, Chaffer & Weinberg, 2011).

There are 6 types of cancer according to the type of the cells that they originated from:

- a) Carcinoma- derived from epithelial cells which line internal organ.
- b) Sarcomas- derived from mesenchymal origin such as connective and supporting tissues (examples bone, cartilage, fat, and muscle).
- c) Leukaemia -derived from hematopoietic cells such as bone marrow.
- d) Lymphomas derived from T or B lymphocytes which are part of immune system.
- e) Myeloma-derived from plasma cells which are part of immune system.
- f) Brain and spinal cord cancer -which are called central nervous system cancer (CRUK, 2017)

The word tumour simply refers to a mass. This is a general term that can refer to benign or malignant. A benign tumour is slow growing and does not spread to other parts of the body. It they are correctly removed they do not reappear. In contrast, malignant tumours spread to other parts of the body and are likely to recur (CRUK, 2017). All the cancers start with genetic changes which can lead to mutation of proto-oncogenes, loss of function of tumour suppressor genes and eventually acquiring the hallsmark of cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). In 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg published a review article titled "The Hallmarks of Cancer". It was one of the most downloaded and most cited papers of all time. In 2011, they updated their list by adding four more hallmarks of cancer making a total of 10 hallmarks of cancer.

The Hallmarks of Cancer are (and shown in Figure 1.1):

- a) Self-sufficiency in growth signals.
- b) Insensitivity to antigrowth signals.
- c) Resistance to apoptosis.
- d) Limitless replicative potential.
- e) Formation of angiogenesis.
- f) Activating tissue invasion and metastasis.
- g) Genomic instability and mutation.
- h) Tumour promoting inflammation.
- i) Reprogramming emergency metabolism.
- j) Avoiding immune destruction.

All cancers acquire at least some these characteristics in the development of the disease (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000, Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).



Figure1.1 Hallmarks of cancer: Reproduced and modified from (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011)

1.2 Head and neck cancer

The UK National Health Service defines head and neck cancer as referring to the group of cancers that develop from the mucosal linings of the upper aerodigestive tract, comprising oral cavity, nasal cavity, lip, tongue, salivary glands, larynx, pharynx (nasopharynx—behind the nose; oropharynx—soft palate, base of the tongue and the tonsils; hypopharynx—the lowest part of the pharynx) and paranasal air sinuses (NHS, 2018). Oral cancer is a subgroup of head and neck cancer. Head and neck cancer are a heterogeneous disease that can be divided into two genetic subclasses: HPV positive and HPV negative which are different in the pathogenesis process.

According to the WHO, Head and neck cancer is the 6th most common cancer worldwide with more than 550,000 cases with around 300,000 deaths per year. The male to female

ratio 2:1 to 4:1. About 90% of all head and neck cancers are reported to be squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC). Despite the recent developments in medical therapy, the 5 years survival rate of head and neck cancer is still only 40%-50% (WHO, 2014).

The risk of developing head and neck cancer increases with age and most of the cases occur in patients aged 50- years or over (Vigneswaran& Williams, 2014). Development of head and neck cancer is a multistep process which usually starts with potentially malignant disorders (PMD). PMD is the term used to describe potentially malignant lesions and conditions (Warnakulasuriya *et al.*, 2007). A potentially malignant lesion is a morphologically altered mucosa lesion which can transform into malignancy. Any potentially malignant condition arising in the oral cavity will increase the risk of oral cancer (Vigneswaran & Williams, 2014). It is therefore important to detect PMD as early as possible to avoid negative outcome. Therefore understanding the molecular pathogenesis of the disease will help to improve the survival of the patient.

Patients who have been cured from an initial primary tumour have a higher risk of second primary tumour due to field cancerization (Chuang SC *et al.*, 2008, Morris LG *et al.*, 2011, Jones AS *et al.*, 1995). Field cancerization can be defined as the exposure of the whole area to carcinogens which leads to development of multiple cancers (Slaughter DP *et al.*, 1953).

Most HNSCC patients have metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis with regional metastasis (Lymph nodal involvement) in 43% and distant metastasis in 10% (Ridge, 2016).

1.3 Aetiology of head and neck cancer

1.3.1 Tobacco

Smoking is the most common use of tobacco. Smoking is a major independent risk factor for Head and neck cancer with 70–80% of new HNSCC diagnoses being related to tobacco and alcohol use (Jethwa & Khariwala, 2017). Incidence of head and neck cancer is related to smoking and varies among the geographic regions of the world. Smokers have higher chance of cancer than non-smokers. The risk increases with quantity and duration of smoking (Radoi & Luce, 2013). Out of 7000 chemicals released from tobacco smoke, 250 are harmful to human body while 69 are known to cause cancer (NCI, 2018). Acetaldehyde, Aromatic amines, Arsenic, Benzene, 1, 3-Butadienc, Cadmium, Chromium, Cumene, Ethylene oxide, Formaldehyde, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAHs), Tobacco-specific nitrosamines, Vinyl chloride are examples of cancer causing chemicals that are found in tobacco smoke (NCI, 2018). It should be noted that smokeless tobacco use is common in South East Asia. Betel quid, Dry snuff, and Zarda are examples of smokeless tobacco (Wynder et al., 1957). Betel quid is the most common smokeless tobacco in South East Asian region. The composition of Betel quid varies from one place to another since different types of tobacco are popular in different regions. However, the core elements remain the same and consists of three components: the betel leaf, the areca nut (fresh or dried) and slaked lime (Xuan Hien & Reichart, 2008). Research estimated Betel quid chewing is responsible for half of the oral cancer cases in India (Travasso, 2013). The use of electronic cigarettes has risen in popularity since they were first introduced in 2013. Long term use of E-cigarettes has been reported to increase the incidence of oral cancer (Nguyen H et al., 2017). The most common form of E-cigarettes is vaping which is a type of electronic nicotine delivery system utilising a heating of a solution containing liquid nicotine, propylene glycol, glycerol (glycerine), and flavouring agents (Grana R *et al.*, 2014).

Liquid nicotine, tobacco-specific nitrosamines, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, cresol, volatile organic compounds, aldehydes, Tobacco alkaloids, metals, flavouring agents, are found in cartridges and aerosols of e-cigarettes (Cheng T, 2014). A study conducted by American chemical society, reported an increased level of DNA damaging substance such as chemicals formaldehyde, acrolein and methylglyoxal were found in lung tissue of e-cigarettes users (Drewett Z, 2018).

1.3.2 Alcohol

Alcohol is another independent risk factor for HNSCC. Alcohol is the by-product of the fermentation of sugar, yeast, and starch. Different type of fruits, grains are used in the fermentation process with the help of yeast to making the final product (alcohol). Different concentrations of ethanol are found in different alcoholic drinks made from different sources (10% in beer, 16% in wine, 40 % in vodka) (Ogden GR, 2018). The exact percentage of alcohol that may cause head and neck cancer varies with different types of alcohol consumption and different regions of the world (Freedman *et al.*, 2007).

It is believed that the higher alcohol consumption over a short period of time might be more harmful than low alcohol consumption over a longer period of time (Lubin *et al.*,2009).

Regular alcohol drinkers have a 2.5 times higher risk of developing head and neck cancer than non-drinkers and occasional drinkers. The risk of head and neck cancer in people with a daily alcohol consumption of 12.5-50g is 12-81% higher than non-drinkers. Daily alcohol consumption of 50g increases the risk by 5 times compared with non-drinkers. The risk of head and neck cancer is higher in people who use both of alcohol and tobacco (Hashibe *et al., 2009, CRUK* 2018). Ogden GR, 2018 suggested that people need to be aware of their alcohol intake. More public health interventions and the development of alcohol tracking application such as AlcoDriod alcohol tracker should raise awareness and make it easier to track alcohol intake with everyone should be encouraged to use it.

The risk of cancer for an ex-drinker is higher than non-drinker even 10 years after quitting drinking alcohol (Rehm *et al.,* 2007) and only returns to the same level as a non-drinkers 20 years after quitting drinking alcohol (Marron *et al.,* 2010, Rehm *et al.,* 2007, Altieri *et al.,* 2002). Acetaldehyde a by-product of the breakdown of alcohol is a major carcinogen and is much more carcinogenic than alcohol itself (Ogden GR, 2018).

Figure 1.2 describes the break down of alcohol. Acetaldehyde is know to disrupt DNA synthesis and repair and this is a by-product of the breakdown of ethanol in the body and may lead to an increased risk of cancer. Another hypothesis is that alcohol acts as a solvent for carcinogens found in tobacco smoke and this might be the reason for the synergistic effect of alcohol and tobacco which increases the risk of cancer (Kawakita & Matsu, 2017).


Figure 1.2: Alcohol degeneration: shows that ethanol undergoes changes in the body to more carcinogenic substrates (Kawakita & Matsuo, 2017).

Conversion of ethanol into acetaldehyde is induced by Alcohol dehydrogenase enzymes (ADH). Acetaldehyde is further broken down by Aldehyde dehydrogenase enzymes (ALDH). It is hypothesized that an active ADH1B *and* ADH1C genotypes are found in Asian population. Active ADH1B and ADH1C have ability to metabolize ethanol quickly and this could lead to an increased risk of head and neck cancer (Brennan *et al.,* 2004). Asian populations who have an inactive acetaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (*ALDH2*) cannot break down acetaldehyde resulting in the accumulation of acetaldehyde in the human body (Brennan *et al.,* 2004). This may explain why light drinking (low alcohol consumption) has a significant risk of oral cancer in Asia (Bagnardi *et al.,* 2015).

1.3.3 Virus

1.3.3.1 Human papilloma virus (HPV)

HPV is a double stranded DNA virus that is known to be the primary aetiology of cervical cancer (Walboomers et al., 1999). There are over 100 types of HPV genotypes and not all of them causes health problems. HPV 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, and 66 are known as high risk strains causing cancer while HPV 6, 11, 40, 42, 43, 44, and 54 are low risk strains and do not cause cancer (Muñoz et al., 2003). HPV 16 and HPV 18 are known to cause oral cancer. Incidence of HPV+ head and neck cancer vary by country or region (Mehanna H, 2012). A study found that about 23.5 % of HNSCCs are related with HPV (Kreimer et al., 2005) and that HPV 16 is responsible for 90% to 95% of HPV+ HNSCC (Ram et al., 2011). HPV positive head and neck cancer is related to sexual behaviour such as oral sex and an increased number of sexual partners and is predominantly seen in younger people compared with traditional (or HPV negative) head and neck cancer (Nuyts & Dok, 2016). Oncoproteins (proteins that are coded for by an oncogene) E6 and E7 are expressed in HPV infected cells. E6 binds to tumour suppressor protein p53 and induces degradation of this protein. E7 induces inactivation of pRb tumour suppressor protein (Moody & Laimins, 2010). HPV+ HNSCC are commonly found in the oropharynx as a small primary tumour generally around the lymph nodes, are poorly differentiated, but have better prognosis than classic HNSCC (Fakhry et al., 2008, Ang KK et al., 2010, Lassen et al., 2009, Schwartz et al., 2001, Dayyani et al., 2010). However, prognosis of HPV positive HNSCC patients who are exposed to any form of tobacco may not be as good as HPV+ HNSCC patients who do not smoke (Vigneswaran & Willliams, 2014).

1.3.3.2 Other Viruses

HSV-1 or oral herpes is believed to enhance risk of oral cancer (Schildt *et al.,* 1998, Kassim & Daley, 1988, Starr *et al.,* 2001).

Coinfection of EBV and HPV might increase the risk of oral cancer (Al Moustafa *et al.,* 2009). Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is related with risk of oral cancer (Nagao & Sata, 2009).

1.3.4 Genetic disease

Fanconi anemia is an autosomal recessive disorder that causes genetic instability with congenital malformations leading to bone marrow failure and cancer. There is a clear link between fanconi anemia and increased risk of oral cancer. Several reports have shown that 19 out of 754 fanconi anemia patients developed oral cancer (Kutler *et al.*, 2003, Gasparini *et al.*, 2006).

1.3.5 Candida

Candida infection can increase the risk of patients developing Leukoplakia, dysplasia and malignant transformation (Sankari *et al.*, 2015).

1.3.6 Diet

Certain diets such as salted fish, preserved meat and vegetables, are related with an increased risk of head and neck cancer while a diet rich in fruit and vegetables can protect against cancer (Jia *et al.*, 2010, Yu MC *et al.*, 1986).

1.3.7 Organs transplant patients

Solid organ transplant patients have a higher rate of lip cancer and have poor prognosis compared with the general population (Öhman *et al.,* 2015). This might be due to immunosuppression in organ transplant patients that leads them not being able to stand

up to immune destruction. Although why this would lead to a high rate of lip cancers remains to be resolved.

1.3.8 Family history

As with other cancers, family history of oral cancer is associated with early age onset of cancer (Ankathil *et al.,* 1996, Garavello *et al.,* 2007).

1.3.9 Potentially malignant disorders:

1.3.9.1 Leukoplakia, Erythroleukoplakia, Erythroplakia

Oral Leukoplakia is a white patch which cannot be characterized as any other disease (WHO, 1978). It is more frequently found in smokers than non-smokers. The malignant transformation of leukoplakia ranges from 0.13% to 34.0% showing that leukoplakia has malignant potential (Warnakulasuriya & Ariyawardana, 2015). Overexpression of EGFR in oral leukoplakia patients was reported to increase the chance of transformation into a carcinoma, whilst normal expression of EGFR did not lead to this (Ries *et al.*, 2013). Early detection of transformation could be investigated by testing for EGFR expression with over expression in oral leukoplakia patients being utilised as a diagnostic tool. Leukoplakia can be divided into two subtypes: Homogenous (uniformly flat, uniformly white) and non-homogenous (speckled or nodules, mixture of red and white lesion) which is also known as Erythroleukoplakia (Yardimci *et al.*, 2014). Non-homogenous leukoplakia has higher risk for malignant transformation than homogenous leukoplakia (Vigneswaran & William, 2014). Erythroplakia is red patch which cannot diagnosed as any other disease is not as common as leukoplakia but is more likely to become dysplastic in nature (Waal, 2009, Reichart & Philipsen, 2005).

1.3.9.2 Oral submucous fibrosis

Oral submucous fibrosis is a premalignant condition common among betel quid chewing south Asian countries. Eating chilies, genetic changes and nutritional deficiencies are also thought to increase the incidence of OSMF. Clinical features of OSMF are limitations of mouth opening, burning sensation, difficulty in mastication, speech and swallowing(Tilakaratne *et al*,2006). The malignant transformation rate of OSMF is in the range from 8% to 12 % (Vigneswaran & William, 2014). OSMF is considered as collagenmetabolic disorder resulting from exposure to areca nuts. Arecoline (component of betel nut) play an important role in stimulating collagen production. Constant irritation of oral mucosa due to direct contact with arecoline leads to chronic inflammation, leading to activation of T cells and macrophages. This activation is followed by an increase in cytokines and growth factors production such as IL-6, TNF and TGF α . TGF α is major inducer of collagen synthesis. Overall increase in collagen production and decrease in collagen degradation leads to collagen deposition and fibrosis (Rajalalitha P *et al* 2005, Tilakaratne *et al* 2006).

1.3.9.3 Oral lichen planus

Lichen planus is a chronic autoimmune, mucocutaneous disease which affects the oral mucosa (oral lichen planus or OLP), skin, genital mucosa, scalp and nails. In the oral mucosa, it presents with white striations (Wickham's striae), white papules, erythema,

erosions or blisters. Malignant transformation of oral lichen planus is in the range from 0% to 5.3% (Ismail *et al.,* 2007).

This means that a routine dental check-up is important to detect these lesions before a transformation into a cancer (discussed detailed in 1.7 clinical feature of head and neck cancer).

1.4 Geographic variation of head and neck cancer rate

The incidence of head and neck cancer has been reported to be higher in southern Asian countries (such as India, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Taiwan), parts of Europe (France, Hungary), areas of south America (Brazil), and the Pacific region such as Papua New Guinea, Melanesia (Warnakulasuriya, 2009).

1.5 Betel quid chewing in Myanmar and oral cancer statistics

Even though betel quid chewing is uncommon in west, it is practised in South East Asia (SEA) region which has more than 600 million people (10% of total world population) (Cheong *et al.*, 2017). Myanmar is second largest country in SEA with a population of more than 50 million people. About 70% of the population live in rural areas where it is difficult to access health care. Betel quid chewing habit is more common in these rural areas than in the city. It has been reported that more than 50% of Myanmar men use smokeless tobacco (Cheong *et al.*, 2017). The actual number of head and neck cancer incidences in Myanmar is difficult to access, political conflicts, internally displaced persons and struggles with a weak economy are a major challenge in the data collection. According to the official publication of Asia Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention, oral cancer is the fourth most common cancer among Myanmar males and sixth most

common cancer among Myanmar females (Kimman et al., 2012). A retrospective hospital-based study conducted in Toungoo district in Myanmar from 2012 to 2015, found that head and neck cancer accounted for 19.51% of all cancer patients. Out of these, 5.22% were stage 1, 33.33% were stage 2, 46.4% were stage 3 and 15.03% were stage 4 (Ngwe et al., 2016). The risk of oral cancer is four times higher in areca nut chewers who keep the quid overnight in their mouth (Oo et al., 2011). This might be due to prolonged contact time with betel quid and the oral mucosa. In one study with oral screening targeting betel quid chewers (n=86), 3 patients had already developed carcinoma while a further 16 presented with pre-malignant lesion (unpublished data of Shwe Yaung Hnin Si cancer foundation). These figures are indicating a high incidence of head and neck cancer in Myanmar. In Myanmar, patients usually arrive at Hospital at a very late stage of oral cancer with a large ulceration. Most of these have already tried traditional plant base medicines as a therapy before presenting at the health care centre. The effect of traditional non evidence-based medicine in cancer treatment is questionable. Their molecular pathogenesis might be different from people who never receive traditional plant-based medicine. There are only a few studies of head and neck cancer in Myanmar at molecular level. At present there has been no report of EGFR overexpression/mutation status in Myanmar patients. Further work to investigate EGFR status of betel quid chewing HNSCC patients in Myanmar would be a basis of further work to be discussed later in this thesis.

1.6 Anatomical location of head and neck cancer

The anatomical location of head and neck cancer varies with different geographical location based on difference in aetiology. Carcinoma of tongue is most common in US

with high rate of nodal metastasis (Vigneswaran & Williams, 2014). Hard palate cancer is common in the areas where they practice reverse smoking (Vigneswaran & Williams, 2014). Lower lip cancer is more common in pipe smokers (Vigneswaran & Williams, 2014).

Buccal mucosa and cheek cancer are observed mostly in SEA where the betel quid chewing habit is common (Travasso, 2013).

1.7 Clinical features of head and neck cancer

Clinical features of head and neck cancers are persistent mouth sores, unhealed ulcers that have been present for more than 3 weeks, a lump in oral cavity, difficulty in swallowing and chewing, voice changes, unexplained tooth mobility without periodontal disease, numbness in any area of mouth, Erythroplakia, Leukoplakia, Erythroleukoplakia, and weight loss (Bagan *et al.*, 2010).

Since early detection is key to increased survival rate, dental professionals need to understand early signs of head and neck cancer and are able to detect them at very early stage. Unexplained ulceration for more than 3 weeks, persistent and unexplained lumps in the neck or oral cavity, leukoplakia , erythroplakia and erythroleukoplakia are listed in the referral guidelines (NICE, 2017).

1.8 Diagnosis of head and neck cancer

Diagnosis of head and neck cancer is usually done by clinical examination, a biopsy such as scalpel biopsy may be an initial event, other methods such as endoscopy, chest X ray, orthopantomogram, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography combined with computed tomography (PET-CT) (SIGN, 2006).

1.9 Staging of head and neck cancer

In 2017, the American Joint Committee on Cancer published 8th edition of AJCC cancer staging manual. Major changes were introduced around the different staging systems for HPV associated oropharyngeal cancers, and incorporation of depth of invasion and extra nodal extension. Extra nodal extension is used in all head and neck cancers apart from HPV associated p16+ oropharyngeal cancer and nasopharyngeal cancer (Lydiatt *et al.*, 2018, Ettinger *et al.*, 2019).

| Stage 0 | Tis | NO | M0 |
|------------|-----|----|----|
| Stage I | T1 | NO | M0 |
| Stage II | Т2 | NO | M0 |
| Stage III | Т3 | NO | M0 |
| | T1 | N1 | M0 |
| | T2 | N1 | M0 |
| | Т3 | N1 | M0 |
| Stage IV A | T4a | NO | M0 |
| | T4a | N1 | MO |
| | T1 | N2 | M0 |

Table 1.1 HPV negative staging of Head and neck cancer

| | Т2 | N2 | M0 |
|------------|-------|-------|----|
| | Т3 | N2 | MO |
| | T4a | N2 | MO |
| Stage IV B | Any T | N3 | M0 |
| | T4b | Any N | M0 |
| Stage V C | Any T | Any N | M1 |

Legend: TNM staging is common system used for many types of cancer. T stands for Tumour, N stands for Node and M stands for Metastasis. TNM system reports the size of tumour, lymph node metastasis present or not, distant structure metastasis presence or not.

Tx= *Primary tumor cannot be assessed*

Tis= Carcinoma in situ = group of abnormal cells or precancer stage

T1, T2, T3, T4 = increasing size and or involvement of primary tumour.

T1 = tumour 2 cm or less than 2cm in greatest dimension, depth of invasion (DOI) is less than 5mm

T2= Tumour 2 cm or less with more than 5mm but less than 10mm DOI or tumour more than 2 cm but not more than 4 cm and DOI not greater than 10mm.

T3= Tumour is bigger than 4 cm in greatest dimension, DOI is larger than 10mm

T4= (Lip) Tumour infiltrated into cortical bone, inferior alveolar nerve, floor of mouth, skin of face T4a=Tumour infiltrated into cortical bone, muscle of tongue, maxillary sinus or skin of face

T4b= Tumour infiltrated into masticator space, pterygoid plate, skull base and external carotid artery

N_x= Regional lymph node cannot assess.

N₀= no evidence of nodal metastasis

N1, N2, N3= involvement of regional lymph node metastasis.

N1= Metastasis in single ipsilateral lymph node 3 cm or less than 3 cm in greatest dimension and extranodal extension (ENE) negative

N2a= single ipsilateral lymph node more than 3cm but not more than 6cm in greatest dimension and ENE negative

N2b= multiple ipsilateral lymph nodes none more than 6cm in greatest dimension and and ENE negative.

N2c= bilateral contralateral lymph nodes none more than 6cm in greatest dimension and ENE negative.

N3a=lymph node >6cm in dimension, and ENE negative

N3b= metastasis in a single ipsilateral node ENE positive or multiple ipsilateral, bilateral or contralateral nodes ENE positive

ENE now N3b so higher proportion of patients in stage IVb group

M_X= Distant metastasis cannot assess

*M*₀= *No distant metastasis*

TNM staging for HPV positive Oropharyngeal cancer

In HPV positive OPC staging, T classification is largely unchanged apart from Carcinoma *in situ* and T4b are removed. In N classification, there are difference between clinical and pathological staging. Clinical staging is based on laterality and size of nodes while pathological staging is based on number of nodes and for surgical patients only. ENE not included in HPV+ oropharyngeal cancer. M classification is unchanged. Overall stage for HPV positive cancer is changed. Stage IV reserved for M1 disease (Lydiatt *et al.,* 2018, Ettinger *et al.,* 2019).

1.10 Treatment of head and neck cancer

Treatment of head and neck usually starts with a multidisciplinary team which includes medical oncologists, radiation oncologist, surgical oncologist, plastic surgeon, prosthodontist, otolaryngologist, physical therapist, Speech-language pathologist, Audiologist, Psychologist/psychiatrist, Registered dietitian nutritionist (Cancer.Net, 2017). Treatment can be varied depending on cancer stage, size and the location of the tumour, histological grading, patient's medical status, expected side effects, metastasis status (American cancer society, 2018).For example, in carcinoma in situ, the usual treatment is surgical stripping or thin resection. Follow up with the patient is important to check against recurrence and a second primary tumour.

In stage 1 and stage 2, cancer seen in the following places; floor of mouth, tongue, hard palate, buccal mucosa and gum are usually treated by surgery or radiotherapy or surgery followed by radiotherapy or chemoradiation. Radiation alone can be used as main treatment in some patients who are medically not fit for surgery or patient with cancers in the oropharynx area such as the soft palate, and tonsils. Lip cancer usually has better prognosis.

In stage 3 and 4 cancer, treatment is combination of surgery (include nodal dissection), radiotherapy and chemotherapy (CRUK 2014, American cancer society 2018). Early-stage tumours have a more favourable prognosis.

Patients who were cured from initial primary tumor have higher risk of second primary tumour due to field cancerization (Jones AS *et al.,* 1995, Chuang *et al.,* 2008, Morris *et al.,* 2011). Field cancerization means the exposure of whole area to carcinogens which leads to development of multiple cancers (Slaughter *et al.,* 1953).

Common drugs used in oral cancer are cisplatin, bleomycin, Carboplatin, 5-fluorouracil, Paclitaxel, Methotrexate, Docetaxel, Hydroxyurea (CRUK, 2014) which are cell cycle target therapeutic agents.

Other drugs such as Cetuximab and Nivolumab have FDA approval to treat head and neck cancer in 2006 and 2016 respectively (Bonner *et al.,* 2010, Bonner *et al.,* 2006, NCI, 2016).

1.11 Overview of cell signalling

Cell signalling is one of the most fundamental processes in biological life. The human body is composed of organs and systems. Organs are composed of tissues. Tissues are composed of cells. Cells need to communicate with each other in order to perform their normal function and that communication is based on a phenomenon called cell signalling. Dysregulation of cell signalling leads to cells performing abnormal functions which could eventually lead to cancer. Cancer in fact is dysregulation of cells signalling (Weinberg, 2006).

There are three basic steps in cell signalling:



Figure 1.3 Three stages of cell signalling

Legend: Reception- When a signal (also known as a ligand) from outside of the cell binds to a receptor which is located on the cell membrane.

Transduction -When ligand binding leads to receptor shape change. These changes leading to the activation of signalling process known as cascades. Each molecule in cascade activates the next molecule in correct sequence.

Response - When cellular response occurs as the result of signalling (Alberts et al., 1983).

Membrane receptors transfer information from the environment to the cell's interior. Once signal molecules (often called ligands) bind to a receptor which is located on the membrane, information enters the cells usually without the ligands themselves entering the cell. Ligand binding leads to a structural change of receptor which in turn activates the second messenger system within the cell. Secondary messengers relay information from the ligand receptor complex into the cell nucleus. It should be noted that the signal may be amplified significantly as it crosses the cell and into the nucleus. There are three types of cell communications:

- Autocrine signalling: the cells produce its own molecules and receptor.
- Paracrine signalling: the cells receive signals from adjacent cells.
- Endocrine signalling: hormones are produced by endocrine gland and sent through the blood stream to distant cells.

Protein phosphorylation is a common way of transferring information. Phosphorylation is the process of introducing a phosphate group onto a molecular protein at the amino acid level. Only three amino acids can be phosphorylated; serine, tyrosine and threonine. Dephosphorylation is the process of removing the phosphate group from these amino acids. Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation can mean activation or deactivation of the protein depending on the specific protein involved. Protein kinases are enzymes which transfer phosphate groups on to a protein. Protein phosphatase are enzymes that remove phosphate groups from amino acids on proteins. Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation play a critical role in the regulation of cellular processes such as the cell cycle, proliferation, growth, apoptosis, and signal transduction pathways. It is the most common means of regulating protein function and the transmission of signals throughout a cell (Ardito *et al.*, 2017).

1.12 Genomic alterations in Head and Neck cancer

At least 20 genes are known to be mutated in head and neck cancer (Sarode *et al.,* 2018). A vast amount of literature links the following genes; p53, PIK3CA, FAT1, NOTCH1, CASP8, CDKN2A as the most mutated genes in head and neck cancer (Iglesias Bartolome *et al.,* 2013, Pickering *et al.,* 2013). In contrast however, other genes, such as EGFR and CCND1, were not include in highly mutated gene lists, but their alteration also play a significant role in head and neck carcinogenesis (Stransky *et al.,* 2011, Leemans *et al.,* 2011).

1.12.1 p53

p53 is a tumour suppressor gene and it has been cited as the most common tumour suppressor gene to undergo mutation in head and neck cancer. A mutation of p53 is found in more than 70% of traditional head and neck cancer while HPV positive head and neck cancer does not harbour a p53 mutation (Zhou G *et al.*, 2016). Smokers and alcohol drinkers have higher chance of having a p53 mutation (Brennan *et al.*, 1995). In HPV positive head and neck cancer, p53 is inactivated by Oncoprotein E6. The p53 level within the cell is regulated by MDM2 which binds to p53 and induces its degradation (Pant & Lozano, 2014). It is known that p53 plays an important role in the activation and transcription of genes important in cell-cycle control, DNA repair, senescence, metabolism, and cell death (Brady & Attardi, 2010).

1.12.2 Ras

The vast majority of the literature does not list Ras as a highly mutated gene. Mutation of Ras is low in the west (Europe and North America). In fact, only 5% of head and neck cancer patients in UK harboured the H-Ras mutation (Chang *et al.*, 1991). Another study conducted in USA also found low occurrence of H-Ras mutation (Xu J *et al.*, 1998). In contrast, 35% of betel quid chewing related oral SCC in western India have the H-ras mutation (Saranath *et al.*, 1991). Further studies conducted in Eastern India, reported that H- and K-ras genes mutations in head and neck cancer patients have a frequency of 28 % and 33%, respectively (Das N *et al.*, 2000). A study conducted in Taiwan (which is another betel quid chewing region) found that 18% tumour specimens contained K-*ras*

mutation (Kuo *et al.*, 1994). This leads to questions of whether Ras mutation is caused by a specific carcinogen in areca nuts or mutations that are found in certain ethnicities.

1.12.3 PIK3CA

About one third of HNSCC have reported a PI3K pathway mutation and on that pathway the protein *PIK3CA* shows the highest level of mutation (HNSCC-PI3K mutational profile (Lui *et al.*, 2013). Multiple PI3K pathway mutations are only found in the advanced stage of the disease (Lui *et al.*, 2013). A detailed analysis of the PI3K pathway mutational events showed that PIK3CA is mutated in a range between 12.6% (Lui *et al.*, 2013) to 17.5% of all head and neck cancer (Cai *et al.*, 2017). PIK3CA mutation is more frequent in HPV positive cancer than HPV negative (Nichols *et al.*, 2013). PIK3CA mutation is found in 30% of HPV positive head and neck cancer while PI3KCA amplification and loss of PTEN were found in 20% and 33% of the case respectively (Chiosea *et al.*, 2013). One study believed that even though PIK3CA overexpression alone is not sufficient for initiation of HNSCC, it increases invasion and metastasis by inducing the Epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell properties (Du *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1.4 PI3K pathway: Reproduced and modified from (Giudice, 2013).

1.12.4 PRAD-1 (CCND1)

PRAD-1 (CCND1) is a proto-oncogene localized on chromosome 11q13 which encodes the protein cyclin D1. Cyclin D1 plays an important role in controlling the cell cycle. Overproduction of CyclinD1 leads to uncontrolled cell division and proliferation. Both CCND1 amplification and overexpression of the protein cyclin D1 was found in head and neck cancer patients and could be related with poor prognosis. One study reported more than 30 % of head and neck cancer patients have CCND1 amplification (Callender *et al.,* 1994). Co-amplification of EGFR and CCND1 was also found in head and neck cancer patient samples (Sheu *et al.,* 2009). Another study reported oral cancer patients have higher Cyclin D1 expression than normal control group and related with poor outcome (Swaminathan *et al.,* 2012, Zhao *et al.,* 2014, Mineta H *et al.,* 2000).

1.12.5 Notch

The Notch family is a family of highly conserved cell signalling molecules and has 4 receptors (Notch 1-4). Notch 1 mutation is found in 10 to 15% of the HNSCC tumours (Fukusumi & Califano, 2018, Agrawal *et al.*, 2011, Stransky *et al.*, 2011). Notch 1 is a transmembrane receptor which plays an importance role in cell to cell interaction, differentiation and embryogenesis. Notch 1 acting as tumour suppressor or activator is dependent on cellular context and very complex (Yap *et al.*, 2015). Whether the mutation of Notch1 is related to ethnicity is questionable. One study found that 43.1 % of Chinese oral squamous cancer patients harboured Notch mutation and these patients had shorter overall and disease-free survival rate (Song *et al.*, 2014). Another study

conducted in Japan reported completely different findings where only 9.5% of Japanese oral squamous cell cancer patients had the notch mutation, interestingly, Notch mutated Japanese patients had longer disease-free survival than patients without the notch mutation (Aoyama *et al.*, 2014). This leads to the question of whether tumour suppressive or oncogenic role of Notch is dependent on ethnicity.

1.12.6 Caspase 8

CASP8 mutation was reported in 9% of HNSCC patients and appeared to be related to tumour migration, invasion and resistance to death receptor-mediated apoptosis (Li *et al.,* 2014).

1.12.7 FAT1

FAT1 mutation in head and neck cancer patient studies varies in the range from 6.7% to 26.9% (Morris *et al.*, 2013) and seems dependent on HPV status. FAT 1 mutation is higher in HPV-negative HNSCC (26.9%) than HPV-positive HNSCC (7.9%) (Kim *et al.*, 2016). FAT proteins belong to the Cadherin superfamily of proteins. The function of FAT1 in cancer can be either tumour suppressive or oncogenic dependant on the context (Katoh, 2012). In oral cancer, FAT 1 mutation or knockdown is related with disease progression and recurrence (Lin *et al.*, 2018). However, FAT1 inhibits tumour growth via Hippo signalling while FAT1 has been reported to upregulate tumour migration through actin polymerization at lamellipodia and filopodia (Katoh, 2012).

1.12.8 Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A)

Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A is located on chromosome 9p21, it encodes two tumour suppressor genes p16INK4a and p14 ARF which control the cell cycle. Alteration of CDKN2A expression due to mutation, loss of heterozygosity or DNA hypermethylation is commonly found in head and neck cancer (Pérez-Sayáns *et al.,* 2011, Lim *et al.,* 2014, Zhou C, 2018). The loss of CDKN2A leads to the loss of function of p16 and p14. p16 inhibits CDK4 and CDK6 activity and prevents Rb phosphorylation a feedback loop exists between p16 and Rb, by which p16 expression is controlled by Rb. p14ARF activates p53 by inhibiting MDM2. Loss of p14 lead to loss of p53 function (Bates *et al.,* 1998).

1.13 Biomarkers of head and neck cancer

Biomarker are a measurable indicator of the presence of disease and whether they can be used in the pathology service either diagnostically or prognostically. Biomarkers are always gene products which can be translated or untranslated products. Ideal biomarkers need to be easily detected in body fluids such saliva or serum and useful for either early detection, diagnosis or prognosis.

There are some controversial literature which produce different lists of the biomarkers for head and neck cancer. (Dahiya & Dhankhar, 2016) stated that Microsatellite instability, HPV, Chemokine receptors, Methylation markers, Interleukins, MMPs, miRNA, MAGE, Centrosome abnormalities, actin and myosin, Cytokeratins, p53, Eukaryotic translation factor 4 E, Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in chromosome 3p, 9q,13q,17p are useful biomarkers of head and neck cancer. However, (Tsuda & Ohba, 2012) reported that EGFRs, cyclin D1, cyclin B1, Ki-67, PCNA, Akt1. p53/p63, p21/p27, Bcl-2 family members, pRb, Survivin, HIF-1 α , CA IX, GLUT-1, EPOR, VEGF, CD105, CD34, Eph receptor tyrosine kinase /Eph A2, MMP-7,-9,-13,-14, CD44, E-cadherin, N-cadherin, β and γ -catenin, versican, Parathyroid hormone related protein, Endothelins and their receptor, inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and receptor activator of NF-_{KB} ligand as functional biomarkers of OSCC. Therefore one set of markers are very specific at a molecular and protein level and the former are more molecular indicators. Thomas GR *et al.*, 2005 argues that p16, p53, Cyclo-oxygenase 2 (Cox-2), CCND1 (gene encode Cyclin D1), EGFR, VEGF, MMPs, FHIT genes are also molecular markers of head and neck cancer.(Quon *et al.*, 2001) reported that EGFR, TGF- α , cyclin D1, p53 protein expression are useful biomarkers.

The majority of the literature indicates that EGFR, TGF- α , cyclin D1, p53, HPV and p16 are prognostic markers of head and neck cancer. Previously the role of cyclin D1 and p53 were discussed. EGFR and TGF α will be discussed in the next section. HPV and p16 will be discussed below.

HPV status is an independent prognostic factor for survival of HNSCC patients. Oral cancer patients who are HPV positive have a better prognosis than patients who are HPV negative. The 3 years overall survival rate for the HPV positive group is 82.4% compared with 57.1% in the HPV negative group (Ang KK *et al.,* 2010). Tonsil and oropharynx are the most common anatomical location to detect HPV virus in the oral cavity (Hobbs, 2006). In HPV positive HNSCC patients the oncoproteins E6 and E7 inactivate p53 and pRb, respectively. In HPV positive cancers, the inactivation of pRb by HPV E7 protein may lead to p16 over-expression since Rb normally represses p16 transcription (Ang KK *et al.,* 2010).

In HPV+ HNSCC, p16 was expressed as a consequence of pRb inactivation by the E7 but is minimally detected in classic HNSCC (Ang KK *et al.,* 2010, Pérez-Sayáns *et al.,* 2011).There is a strong correlation between HPV16 DNA detection and p16^{INK4A} expression (Lassen P *et al.,* 2009).

p16 expression is found in HPV positive HNSCC and related with favourable prognosis (Sedghizadeh *et al.*, 2016). The 3-year rate of overall survival was 83.6% in the group with p16 positive group and 51.3% in the group negative for p16 expression showing that p16 positive with HPV positive HNSCC has better prognosis (Ang KK *et al.*, 2010, Lassen P *et al.*, 2009). This leads to the potential use of p16 as a prognosis marker in the future. It should be noted that expression of p16^{INK4A} is not limited to HPV-positive tumours(Lassen P *et al.*, 2009). One study argued that testing p16 alone is sufficient and HPV testing may be unnecessary since they found p16+ HPV- HNSCC has survival comparable to p16+ HPV+ HNSCC and statistically significantly better than p16 - HPV-HNSCC (Lewis *et al.*, 2010).

1.14 EGF like ligands

Growth factors are naturally occurring substances such as protein or hormone which have ability to stimulate cell growth. Epidermal growth factor (EGF), Transforming growth factor α (TGF α), Amphiregulin (AR), Betacellulin (BTC), Epiregulin, Heparinbinding EGF like growth factor (HB-EGF), Epigen are all ligands that bind to Epidermal growth factor receptor. Some ligands are more potent than other. In here, Epidermal growth factor (EGF), Transforming growth factor α (TGF α) will mainly discussed since they are most widespread ligands for EGFR (Roskoski, 2014).

1.15 Epidermal growth factor (EGF) and Transforming growth factor alpha (TGFα)

EGF is 6-kDa protein with 53 amino acid and three disulphide bonds. EGF was discovered as a contaminant when isolating nerve growth factor. EGF was originally isolated from submaxillary gland of mouse and human urine (Carpenter & Cohan, 1979). Precocious eyelid opening and incisor eruption were found when EGF was injected into newborn mice (Carpenter & Cohan, 1979).

EGF is heat stable, low molecular weight and accounted for 0.5% submaxillary gland protein (Carpenter & Cohan, 1979).

TGF α gene is known to be associated with cleft lip and palate (Ardinger *et al.*, 1989). Precocious eyelid opening was also found in newborn mice when TGF α was injected into the developing foetus (Smith *et al.*, 1985). TGF α was first isolated from retro virus transformed cells (De Larco & Todaro, 1980). TGF α is widely expressed in both normal epithelium and tumour cells, and it is considered as normal physiologic ligand for EGFR (Ebner & Derynck ,1991). TGF α is structurally similar with EGF and showed similar effects in a number of assays. TGF α is more potent than EGF which might be related with receptor recycling (Ceresa & McClintock 2010, Ebner & Derynck, 1991). Even though both EGF and TGF α induce DNA synthesis, wound healing (Schultz et al, 1991) and angiogenesis, the angiogenic effect of TGF α is more potent than EGF (Schreiber *et al.*, 1986). TGF α also induces more bone resorption than EGF does (Stern *et al.*, 1985).

EGF and TGFα display around 35% sequence homology with 6 cysteine residues in similar positions (Winkler *et al.,* 1987). The location of the 3 disulfide bridges in both EGF and TGFα allows them bind to same receptor, EGFR (Schreiber *et al.,* 1986).

Knock-out mice of each ligand showed mild defects, EGF knock-out mice had abnormal mammary gland development (Luetteke *et al.,* 1999). TGF α knock-out mice had hair follicle and eye abnormalities (Luetteke *et al.,* 1993). In contrast, knock-out of 3 of the

ligands for EGFR (amphiregulin, EGF and TGF-alpha) together lead to growth retardation (Luetteke *et al.,* 1993).

TGF α , EGFR mRNAs and protein levels are elevated in oral cancer patients compared with disease free control and its elevation might be related with poor prognosis (Grandis *et al.*, 1996, Grandis *et al.*, 1998). Another study reported that TGF α mRNA and EGFR mRNA are elevated in histologically normal mucosa of oral cancer patients compared with disease free patients. This suggests that TGF α /EGFR gene transcription is an early event during carcinogenesis and could be a precursor to a tumour (Grandis &Tweardy, 1993, Grandis *et al.*, 1996). This hypothesis could lead to an assay for early detection of oral cancer being developed in the future especially in a subset of the population who have strong history of smoking and alcohol use. A number of studies reported that tobacco smoke induces the production of amphiregulin which is ligand that binds to EGFR (Du *et al.*, 2005, Grandis *et al.*, 1998). It has also been reported that TGF- α and EGFR play an important role in the proliferation of oral cancer cells but not for normal oral epithelium cell growth (Grandis *et al.*, 1997).

There is also a changing pattern of expression of at least one of these factors during the different stages of cancer. For example, in early stages of prostate cancer, TGF α is produced as a paracrine signal while in late stage of the diseases it is believed to be a localised autocrine signal (Scher *et al.*, 1995).

Stability of ligand receptor complex is different between EGF and TGF-α. The iso-electric point (PI) of EGF is 4.6 while the PI value of TGFα is 5.9. The difference in PI value between EGF and TGFα suggests that TGFα dissociates from EGFR at higher pH than EGF (Ebner & Derynck, 1991). Half maximum dissociation value pH for TGFα is 6.9 while pH

value for EGF is 5.6 (Ebner & Derynck, 1991). After receptor internalization, intracellular TGF- α is more rapidly dissociated from EGFR and cleared than EGF. TGF- α induces receptor recycling whilst EGF induces receptor down regulation (Ebner & Derynck, 1991).

Studies also indicate a difference between TGF α ligand binding to EGFR is different from EGF binding to EGFR. The 13A9 monoclonal antibody raised against EGFR blocked binding of TGF α ligand but not EGF ligand to the receptor (Winkler *et al.*, 1987).

1.16 ErbB receptor family

The ErbB receptor are a group of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) involved in cellular function. ErbB receptor family has 4 receptors, EGFR (ErbB-1), HER2 (ErbB-2), (HER3/ErbB-3) and (HER4/ErbB-4). Several different ligands bind to each of ErbB receptors and overexpression of these receptor are found in cancers. In this section EGFR (ErbB-1) will be mainly discussed.

ErbB receptor and their corresponding ligands are represented in the Table below

Table 1.2 ErbB receptor and their corresponding ligands

| EGFR / ErbB1 | ErbB2 (HER2) | ErbB3(HER3) | ErbB4(HER4) |
|--------------------|--------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| (HER1) | | | |
| EGF | No ligands | Neuregulins 1 and | Neuregulins 1 |
| TGFα | | 2 | Neuregulins 2 |
| Amphiregulin | | (NRGs) | Neuregulin 3 |
| (AREG) | | | Neuregulin 4 |
| Betacellulin (BTC) | | | Heparin binding |
| Epiregulin (EREG) | | | EGF like growth |
| Heparin- binding | | | factor |
| EGF like growth | | | Betacellulin |
| factor (HB-EGF) | | | Epiregulin |
| Epigen(EPI) | | | |

(Roskoski, 2014).

Type of ErbB receptors and their relationship in different types of cancer are represented in the Table below:

| Name of receptor | Ligand | Type of alteration | Cancer types |
|------------------|--------------|--------------------|---------------------|
| EGFR/ErbB1 | EGF,TGFα and | Overexpression | Non small cell lung |
| | | | cancer, ovarian |
| | various | | cancer, head and |
| | | | neck cancer, renal, |
| | | | pancreatic |
| | | | colorectal, breast |
| | | | cancer, bladder |
| | | | cancer, stomach |
| | | | cancer, esophageal |
| | | | cancer, prostate |
| ErbB2/HER2 | No ligand | Overexpression | Breast |
| | | | Adenocarcinoma, |
| | | | oral HNSCC |
| ErbB3/HER3 | Various | Overexpression | Oral HNSCC |
| ErbB4/HER4 | Various | Overexpression | Oral HNSCC |

| Γable 1.3 Type of ErbB receptors and the | ir relationship in different type of cancer |
|--|---|
|--|---|

(Salomon et al., 1995, Grandis & Sok, 2004).

1.17 Epidermal growth factor receptor

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a member of ErbB family. EGFR is a transmembrane protein receptor which has tyrosine kinase activity. It has extra-cellular domain, which is important for ligand binding, a single hydrophobic transmembrane domain, and an intra cellular domain which has 3 portions: juxtamembrane region, tyrosine kinase domain and carboxy terminal tail (Ullrich *et al* 1984, Lemmon *et al* 2010). EGFR was the first receptor tyrosine kinase discovered by Carpenter and co-workers in 1978. It was also the first cloned transmembrane receptor and has since been shown to have a clear connection with cancer. Most breast cancer diagnostic screening in UK

involves investigation of EGFR expression (Milanezi *et al.,* 2008). EGFR is involved in various cellular process such as cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, cell death. It is expressed in both epithelial and mesenchymal cells. Cellular processes mediated by EGFR family and their ligands are very complex (Carpenter & Cohan, 1979).

Mice with mutated EGFR gene die at early age because of multi organ failure indicating a role for EGFR in development (Sibilia *et al.*, 2007).

In a normal cell, 40,000 to 100,000 EGFR protein molecules are seen while cancer cells have been shown to have up to 2x10⁶ receptor molecules per cell being expressed (Carpenter & Cohan, 1979, Herbst, 2004).

1.18 EGFR overexpression

Overexpression of EGFR is seen in a variety of cancers such as non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), central nervous system, head and neck, bladder, pancreas, and breast (Salomon *et al.*, 1995). EGFR overexpression has been reported in 80%- 90% of head and neck cancers (Kalyankrishna & Grandis, 2006) (Reuter *et al.*, 2007). Over-expression of EGFR can hypersensitize malignant cells to low concentrations of growth factors (Salomon *et al.*, 1995). EGFR over-expression is also related with drug resistance, poor prognosis and shorter survival rate (Ang KK *et al.*, 2002, Maurizi *et al.*, 1996). EGFR overexpression was found in both HPV+ and HPV- HNSCC (Romanitan *et al.*, 2013)

EGFR upregulation has been reported as a two steps process. Firstly, the intensity of EGFR level in histologically normal epithelium adjacent to tumour is higher than mucosa of disease-free controls (Shin *et al.,* 1994, Ang KK *et al.,* 2002). Secondly, the EGFR level increases dramatically from dysplasia to carcinoma in HNSCC patients (Shin *et al.,* 1994).

However, it has also been reported that EGFR level are different at different sites of head and neck cancer (Takes *et al.*, 1998).

1.19 Co-expression with other ErbB family members

Other ErbB family members are also overexpressed in cancer. For example, HER2 overexpression/amplification is common in breast cancer (Burstein HJ, 2005). In HNSCC, the individual expression of either ErbB2 or ErbB3 or ErbB4, was rarely observed while coexpression with EGFR is much more common (Bei *et al.*, 2001). *EGFR* is more important than the other ErbB members for head and neck cancer development (Sheu *et al.*, 2009). A study stated HER2/ ErbB2 expression is less common than HER3 and HER4 overexpression (Pannone *et al.*, 2013) while results from another study found that HER2/ErbB2 expression higher than ErbB3 and ErbB4 expression (Bei *et al.*, 2001). (Xia *et al.*, 1997) reported that HER2 overexpression is limited to oral SCC but not other head and neck cancers. They also reported that HER2 overexpression in oral SCC is related with high nodal metastasis and poor survival rate.

EGFR has been reported to crosstalk with other cell surface receptors such as G protein couple receptor, insulin like growth factor I receptor, c-Met/ hepatocyte growth factor receptor and reported to induce signalling pathways (Kalyankrishna & Grandis, 2006, Adams *et al.*, 2004, Jo *et al.*, 2000).

EGFR is 170 kDa protein containing 20% carbohydrate and being heavily N glycosylated. Glycosylation is important in ligand to receptor interaction and also determines the protein structure. Out of 11 possible sites for glycosylation, 8 sites are fully glycosylated while 1 site is glycosylated a fraction (Zhen *et al.,* 2003). When the ligand does not bind to EGFR, it stays as the inactive form. When the ligand binds to receptor it changes shape and leads to activation (Goodsell, 2003).

Some reports in the literature suggest that an increase in EGFR gene copy number is related with poor outcome in HNSCC patients (Chung *et al.,* 2006, Temam *et al.,* 2007). EGFR amplification occurs in about 30% of HNSCCs, and often overlaps with EGFR overexpression. Fifty percent of head and neck cancer specimens carried genetic alterations which promote the activation of EGFR signalling (Sheu *et al.,* 2009).

1.20 Architecture of EGFR

The extra-cellular region of EGFR has four sub-domains which are arranged in sequence of L1-CR1-L2-CR2. Domain I and III is important for ligand binding. However, the majority of energy which is important for ligand binding comes from domain III (about 400nM for EGF). Domain I and III are called L domain which represent leucine rich family and they are 37% similar in structure (Ward & Garrett 2001, Lax et al., 1991, Lemmon et al., 1997). Domain II and IV are called Cysteine rich domains and contain multiple disulfide bonds. Binding of ligands to domain I and III creates the whole EGFR shape change and domain II then participates in either homo-dimerization or hetero-dimerization with other receptors (mostly with ErbB2 / HER2). Hetero-dimerization is more potent signaling than homo-dimerization. When the ligand binds to EGFR, a dimerization loop (beta hairpin) is protruded from the receptor and interacts with other ErbB molecules. ErbB 2/HER 2 have no known ligands but its protrusion loop enhances hetero-dimerization with other ErbB receptors. Dimerization with HER2 is common in many cancer and has the worst prognosis than single receptor dimerization (Normanno et al., 2006). Dimerization leads to activation of intracellular tyrosine kinase domain and the receptor undergoes

phosphorylation of internal tyrosine residues. About 6 EGFR tyrosine residues from carboxyl terminal are phosphorylated during ligand mediated EGFR dimerization (Schulze *et al.*, 2005). These phosphorylation sites serve as docking site for intra-cellular proteins containing Src homology 2 (SH2) or Phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains to become activated which then leading to activation of multiple downstream pathways.



Figure 1.5 EGFR signalling pathway

1.21 Activation of specific tyrosine kinase residues

Once ligand induced dimerization has occurred activation of intracellular tyrosine kinase domains happens and the receptor undergoes phosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues. The phosphorylated tyrosine kinase residues act as docking site for adaptor proteins and enzymes and provide a crucial connection between the external stimuli and internal signalling pathways. There are 6 tyrosine residues phosphorylated by EGF and TGF α induce EGFR activation (Guo *et al.,* 2003). They are Y1068, Y1148, Y1173 (Downward *et al.,* 1984), Y1086 (Hsuan *et al.,* 1989, Margolis *et al.,* 1989), Y992 (Walton

et al., 1990) Y1045 (Levkowitz *et al.,* 1999). At low concentrations of EGF and TGF α ligands produce the highest phosphorylation of Y992 while other sites did not reach maximum phosphorylation even at highest concentration of ligands (Guo *et al.,* 2003). There is only a slight difference between EGF and TGF α induced phosphorylation (Guo *et al.,* 2003).

1.22 Inhibition of tyrosine kinase residues

Some phosphorylation sites are sensitive to inhibitors while others are not (Guo *et al.,* 2003). In human epidermoid cancer cell lines with high EGFR overexpression, tyrosine kinase inhibitors blocked all ligand phosphorylation sites except for Y992 and Y1068 (Guo *et al.,* 2003). Research conducted at the University of Dundee discovered phosphorylation of EGFR Tyr-residue 974 triggers EGFR endocytosis while phosphorylation of Tyr-residue 1045 causes Cbl dependent ubiquitination (Coachrane, master thesis). This indicates that different phosphorylation sites lead to different downstream pathways. Different ligand binding can cause activation of different tyrosine kinase activity. EGF and TGF α use different proteins that initiate signaling pathways. p70^{S6K} and CD44 are required for EGF to induce signaling while the integrin α Vβ3 is needed for TGF α ligand (Ellis *et al.,* 2007).

1.23 EGFR internalization

Prior to ligand binding, EGFR is located in caveolae (which is a specialized plasma membrane micro-domain). Ligand binding leads to induction of EGFR and the departure of EGFR from caveolae (Mineo *et al.,* 1999). Ligand induction followed by activation of the tyrosine kinase on the receptor leads to EGFR being internalized into an intracellular

endosomal compartment. From there, the receptors are either degraded via lysosomes or recycled back to the cell surface depending on which ligands are bound to the receptor (Henriksen *et al.*, 2013, Carpenter, 2000).

It has been reported that EGF induced binding induces the majority of receptor down a degradation pathway while TGF α induced receptor leads to recycling (Decker, 1990). This is likely to be caused by difference in pH sensitivity making TGF α to be able to rapidly dissociate from EGFR allowing recycling. Longer binding by EGF would send most of the receptor down the degradation pathway. Similarly, HB-EGF- and BTC stimulation leads to receptor internalization followed by degradation of large portion of internalized receptor. TGF- α and EPI ligands, lead to an intermediate internalization followed by the complete recycling of internalized receptor. AREG also induce receptor internalization, but the receptor did not readily return to the surface and it was not broken down. It was suggested that this was probably because of slow recycling (Henriksen *et al.*, 2013) (Roepstorff etal.2009).

Table 1.4 EGFR status after ligands binding on whether degraded or recycled.

| Receptor degradation | Receptor recycling |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Majority of EGF, HB-EGF- and BTC | Small amount of EGF, TGF- α , EPI ligands |
| | AREG |

1.23.1 EGFR endocytosis

Once the receptor has been internalized there are two pathways that endocytosis can follow. The Clathrin dependent pathway is the main route of EGFR endocytosis while the clathrin independent pathway is less common. One study reported that EGF-, TGF- α -, AR- and EPI-induced receptor internalization was almost completely inhibited by clathrin knockdown, whereas HB-EGF- and BTC-induced internalization was only partly inhibited (Henriksen *et al.*,2013). This could means EGF, TGF- α , AR and EPI use a clathrin dependent receptor endocytosis while HB-EGF and BTC use clathrin independent pathway. In contrast, one study reported that the dose of ligand is major factor deciding on whether cells use clathrin or non clathrin pathway. They stated that clathrin dependent endocytosis was reported to be induced by low dose EGF while high EGF induce clathrin independent endocytosis (Sigismund *et al.*, 2005). However, how this occurs is secondary to the effect this has on the cell. Receptor degradation leads to the temporary down regulation of EGFR on the cell surface and decrease EGFR signaling (Sorkin & Waters, 1993).

When talking about EGFR internalization, HER2 should not ignored since co-expression of EGFR-HER2 is common. HER2 also has an effect on EGFR endocytosis. Dimerization with ErbB2 increases the stability of EGFR by decreasing the rate of dissociation of the ligand receptor complex to prolong activation of signaling. EGF ligand induced heterodimerization with ErbB2 decreases receptor endocytosis and increases receptor recycling (Lenferink *et al.*, 1998). TGFα directs EGFR recycling regardless of presence or absence of any co-receptor (Lenferink *et al.*, 1998).

It should be noted that EGFR has the potential to be translocated to the nucleus. Nuclear internalization of EGFR has been reported to acts as a transcription factor (Lin *et al.,* 2001). It should be noted that the transcription factors Cyclin D1 and STAT 3 interact with nuclear EGFR (Lo *et al.,* 2005, Lin *et al.,* 2001). A recent study reported that EGFR could also be internalized into mitochondria but it was assumed that it was not related with receptor endocytosis (Yao *et al.,* 2010).

Patients with a high nuclear EGFR content were shown to have a high rate of disease recurrence and poor survival (Psyrri *et al.*, 2005). Cetuximab (see later) resistant cells also have high levels of nuclear EGFR expression and src family kinase which are known to mediate ligand induced translocation of EGFR (Li *et al.*, 2009).

1.24 EGFR variant III or ΔEGFR, or de2–7EGFR

EGFR variant III which is commonly found in glioblastoma has also been found in head and neck cancer. EGFR variant III mutant is 145kDa protein that is missing the extracellular domain I and domain II which are encoded by the segment in exon 2 to exon7. These missing two domains of EGFR mean that the receptor cannot bind any ligands. This leads to the weak constitutive activation of any ligand independent signalling pathway and as such might not be strongly oncogenic (Gan *et al.,* 2013, Sok *et al.,* 2006).

Sok *et al.,* (2006) stated that EGFR variant III expression was only detected in the presence of EGFR wild type. The truncated form of EGFR type III mutant is known to coexist with EGFR overexpression. This EGFR variant III mutant does not activate MAPK pathway and only activates the PI3Kpathway (Moscatello *et al.,* 1998, Chang *et al.,* 2013). The EGFR variant III expression is unique to cancer and not observed in normal tissues (Sok *et al.,* 2006). This could lead to its potential use as a diagnosis marker.

There is some controversy about the prevalence of EGFR variant III. One study found EGFR variant III mutation in 42% of HNSCC tumour samples conjunction with EGFR wildtype while in another study stated EGFR variant III mutation is less than 1%. (Sok *et al.,* 2006, Khattri *et al.,* 2015).

Even though there is limited information about the communication between EGFRvIII and other EGFR family members. There is some evidence that heterodimerization between EGFRvIII and either wildtype EGFR or HER2 is possible. Ligand independent signalling of EGFRvIII induce down-regulation and internalization of both wtEGFR and erbB2 (Zeineldin *et al.*, 2010)

EGFRvIII also interacts with other receptors such as c -Met receptor and enhances the production of HGF and in turn enhances HGF signalling (Garnett *et al.*, 2013, Gan *et al.*, 2013). EGFRvIII also activates STAT3 pathway. STAT3 was found to be important in c-Met-mediated HGF expression in EGFRvIII/ Δ EGFR expressing cells (Garnett *et al.*, 2013).

There is an evidence of a direct interaction between the EGFRvIII and OSMR (Oncostain M receptor) protein. Knock-down of OSMR in EGFRvIII-expressing mouse can reduce EGFRvIII expression with the loss of STAT3 activity (Greenall & Johns, 2016). Some studies concluded that EGFR vIII might be responsible for cetuximab resistance (Sok *et al.,* 2006) while it is not related with resistance to TKIs. EGFRvIII enhanced proliferation of head and neck cancer cells and induce resistance to chemotherapy induce apoptosis (Sok *et al.,* 2006).

1.25 EGFR mutation

EGFR mutation is more prevalent in non-small cell lung cancer than head and neck cancer, and a lot of research had been done in NSCLC patients. A number of mutations in EGFR have been reported. One of the most studied is known as the kinase domain

mutation of EGFR. It is known as an activating mutation since they are independent of ligands and signal even when no ligand is available. All somatic activating EGFR mutations involve an ATP binding pocket in the tyrosine kinase domain which is the binding site for the inhibitors gefitinib and erlotinib (Gazdar AF, 2009). The activating mutation of EGFR has been isolated to the first 4 exons (18 to 21) of the tyrosine kinase domain. This EGFR mutation has be studied extensively in a lung cancer model.

There are three classes of mutation of EGFR. Class I mutations are in-frame deletions in exon 19, class I in frame deletions include the amino acid leucine residue at 747 to glutamic acid at 749 and are located in N-terminal region of kinase domain C-helix. These class I mutations are responsible for about 44% of tyrosine kinase domain mutations (Kumar *et al.*, 2008).

Class II mutations are single nucleotide substitutions that cause alteration in the amino acid sequence. The most frequent single point mutation is in exon 21 in which there is an exchange of an arginine for a leucine at codon 858 (L858R) and this is responsible for about 41% of tyrosine kinase mutations. Glycine mutation to either serine, alanine or cysteine was responsible for 4% of TKs mutations while the result 6% responsible for other missense mutation (Kumar *et al.*, 2008).

Class III mutations are in-frame duplications and/or insertions in exon 20 and are responsible for the remaining 5% of TKs domain mutations (Kumar *et al.,* 2008).

In lung cancer, Exon 19 deletion mutations and the single-point substitution mutation L858R in exon 21 are the most frequent and termed classical mutation (Gazdar AF, 2009). There is difference between EGFR mutation of HNSCC and that of Non-small cell
lung carcinoma. In head and neck cancer, a large amount of the EGFR mutation are scattered throughout exons 18 to 21 (Perisanidis *et al.*, 2017). There is no report of EGFR mutation in HPV positive HNSCC patients (Na *et al.*, 2007).

Mutation in head and neck cancer appears to be less common than overexpression (Lee et al., 2005). However, EGFR tyrosine kinase domain mutation varies with geographic location. The EGFR mutation had not been studied world-wide. Limited data has been produced from Africa, the Middle East, Central Asia, and Australia. Reports suggest that the EGFR mutation is uncommon in the West (Loeffler-Ragga et al., 2006) whilst its mutation is found more frequently in South Korea and South East Asia region (Perisanidis, 2017, Vatte et al., 2017). The mechanisms behind the different rates of EGFR mutation in different ethnicities remains to be determined. The South East Asia region is densely population area of the world with a population of around 600 million people and it definitely needs attention in terms of more research. It is a worry since none of TKIs targeting EGFR mutations has received FDA approval for HNSCC. Although EGFR mutation is associated with sensitivity to gefitinib and erlotinib treatment, not all the tumours with an activating EGFR mutation respond to these drugs. It is believed that these tumours might have an additional genetic lesion (Wakeling et al., 2002, Massarelli et al., 2007).

1.26 Secondary EGFR mutation

Secondary mutations of EGFR or EGFR T790M mutation have been reported in lung cancer patients who at first responded to gefitinib and erlotinib treatment (Xu S *et al.,* 2017). The T790M mutation is the substitution of threonine 790 with methionine. T790M mutation is responsible for about half of all patients who develop resistance to

gefitinib and erlotinib (Kosaka *et al.,* 2006, Kobayashi *et al.,* 2005). The first time that the EGFR T790M mutation was reported in research conducted in HNSCC patients was in Saudi Arabia (Vatte *et al.,* 2017).

The secondary mutation of EGFR results in an alteration of the topology of the ATPbinding pocket or increasing ATP affinity. Since TKIs compete with ATP for binding to the kinase site an increase in ATP affinity is expected to decrease the potency of TKIs (Yun CH *et al.*, 2008). Since T790M reduces the efficacy of ATP-competitive inhibitors, it might be good idea to develop distinct, non-ATP competitive inhibitors or irreversibly binding inhibitors to the tyrosine kinase domain (Gazdar AF, 2009). A more recent study reported that EMT is a common mechanism underlying the resistance to different generations of EGFR TKIs (Weng *et al.*, 2019). It leads to question that T790M mutation is related with EMT in HNSCC patients.

1.27 Activation of signalling pathways

The activation of EGFR leads to a variety of signaling pathways such as ERK MAPK, PI3K AKT mTOR, PLC-γ1-PKC, JNK, and STAT pathways being activated. These signalling pathways are connected (by cross talk) with each other and lead to a wide variety of cellular responses such as proliferation, migration, differentiation, inhibition of apoptosis, invasion and metastasis, angiogenesis (Molinolo *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1.5 EGFR signalling pathway

1.28 RAS-RAF-MAPK pathway

MAPKs are serine/threonine protein kinases which are involved in cell proliferation, migration, differentiation, and apoptosis. Signals from ligands such as cytokines, growth factors, and mitogens all stimulate the activation of these MAPKs kinases. MAPK is one of the major pathways initiated by EGFR activation (Peng *et al.*, 2018). In mammals, there are more than a dozen MAPK genes. The best known MAPKs cascades are four sub-pathways: extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2(ERK1/2), c Jun N terminal kinase (JNK)/ stress-activated protein kinase SAPK, p38 isoforms (p38α, p38β, p38γ, p38δ) and ERK5 (Plotnikov *et al.*, 2011). Each cascade has three enzymes which activate in series: a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK), a MAPK kinase (MAPKK) and a MAP kinase (MAPK). MAPKKKs is the first phosphorylated which in turn activates downstream MAPK

kinase (MAPKK). Then MAPK kinase (MAPKK) in turn phosphorylates and activates MAPKs (Plotnikov *et al.,* 2011). MAPKs phosphorylation leads to a change in gene expression and protein function and results in specific biological responses such as EMT, increased cell proliferation, invasion, and resistance to apoptosis, and angiogenesis (Plotnikov *et al.,* 2011).

The Erk1/2 cascade has received most attention because of it has 3 important components Ras, Raf and MEK (Peng *et al.*, 2018). Phosphorylated tyrosine residues serve as binding sites for proteins which contain Src homology 2 (SH2) domain or phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domains, such as growth factor receptor bound protein 2 (Grb2). Grb2 is key factor in the activation of Ras. Following the auto-phosphorylation, the SH2 domain of Grb2 binds to EGFR directly via Y1068 and Y1086 or indirectly via Shc. Following ligand induce EGFR activation, Shc is phosphorylated and associated with EGFR via the SH2 domain. Shc binds in turn to the SH2 domain of Grb2 protein leading to relocation of Grb2 SOS complex from the cytosol to the plasma membrane (where SOS stimulates the exchange of GDP for GTP on Ras, converting to active stage; Walker, 1998).

Ras, is a proto oncogene and is a small, monomeric G protein with very low GTPase activity on its own. All three family genes (KRAS, NRAS, HRAS) have been reported to be mutated in cancer patients. The mutation of the Ras family is more common in Asia when compared with the West (Saranath *et al.*, 1991, Chang *et al.*, 1991, Xu J *et al.*, 1998, Das N *et al.*, 2000). Ras activates the MAPK and PI3K pathways. When Ras is bound to GDP it is in an inactive state. Upon binding to GTP, it is converted into the active form. GTP bound Ras directly binds and recruits Raf to the plasma membrane. Then Raf is phosphorylated and activates MEK which induces phosphorylation and activation of ERK. Activated ERK1/ERK2 induce expression of genes responsible for cell proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, and cell death (Plotnikov *et al.*, 2011, Peng *et al.*, 2018). According to a study conducted in Germany, the B raf mutation is rare seen in about 3% of HNSCC patients (Weber *et al.*, 2003). Unlike Ras, B-Raf mutation can only activate the PI3K pathway (Peng *et al.*, 2018). It has been reported that Ras mutation is related with resistance to Cetuximab (Rampias *et a.*, *l* 2014, Misale *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 1.6 MAPK pathway Reproduced and modified from (Plotnikov *et al.*, 2011) (Peng *et al.*, 2018).

1.29 PI3K - AKT-MTOR pathway

The PI3K/Akt pathway is important for cell growth, differentiation, development and survival (Philippon *et al.*, 2015). The PI3K/Akt pathway is the most commonly mutated pathway in head and neck cancer patients, with approximately 3 times higher levels than RAS/MAPK and JAK/STAT pathway The PI3K pathway appears to play an important role in HPV positive HNSCC as well (Lui *et al.*, 2013).

PI3K are classified into classes I, II, and III. Class I is sub divided into 1A and 1B and they consist of regulatory subunit (p85 for class IA and p101 and p87 for class IB) and P110 catalytic units (p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ). Class IA which will be described here is activated by receptor tyrosine kinases such as EGFR, Met receptor, PDGFR, VEGF, and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF-1R) while class IB is activated primarily by G protein couple receptor. Class IA consist of P85 regulatory subunit and P110 catalytic units (p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ). p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ are encoded by PIK3CA, PIK3CB, and PIK3CD genes, respectively (Cai et al., 2017). EGFR signalling activates PI3K by recruitment of the p85 regulatory sub-unit to the activated receptor. Ras activates the PI3K pathway via p110 α . Activated PI3K converts PIP2 to PIP3 by adding a phosphate group. PIP3 then act as a second messenger and subsequently activates AKT. Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), is a tumour suppressor protein and is a negative regulator of PI3K. Activation of the PI3K pathway is a potential mechanism of resistance to anti-EGFR therapy (Rebucci et al., 2011). Patients with a mutated PI3K pathway are sensitive to BEZ-235 which is dual inhibitor of PI3K and mTOR (Lui et al., 2013).

EGFR is overexpressed in cell lines with mutated PTEN are less sensitive to Gefitinib (Bianco *et al.,* 2003). Reduced PTEN expression was found in about 30% of HNSCC (Squarize *et al.,* 2013). Loss of *PTEN* expression is related with poor prognosis (Lee *et al.,* 2001).

AKT or protein kinase B is an important downstream effector of PI3K. Following PI3K activation, AKT is recruited into the membrane and activated by the phosphorylation of PDK1 at threonine 308 and the mTORC2 complex at serine 473(Alessi *et al.,* 1997, Vanhaesebroeck & Alessi, 2000, Sarbassov *et al.,* 2005). Akt-308 is important for cell

proliferation, cell shape and protein synthesis, whereas Akt-473 is important for the phosphorylation of pro-apoptotic protein Foxo3a and inhibits apoptosis (Liu and Dean, 2010).

AKT activation stimulates cell proliferation by controlling CyclinD1 and p27Kip1 which are cell cycle protein and cell cycle inhibitor respectively (El-Naggar et al., 2009). The phosphorylation of Akt on Thr308 is a more reliable biomarker than phosphorylation of Akt on Ser473 in non small cell lung carcinoma (Vincent et al., 2011). The mutation of retinoblastoma Rb1 leads to phosphorylation of AKT473 but not Akt-308 (Liu and Dean, 2010). And also to the overexpression of mTOR, constitutive phosphorylation of Akt at Serine 473, resistance to anoikis, a blocking in c-Raf activation, and the blocking of the phosphorylation of Erk1/2(El-Naggar et al., 2009). Activated Akt, in turn, phosphorylates a series of molecules including Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) which is an important downstream effector of the PI3K pathway (Amornphimoltham et al., 2017) (Molinolo et al., 2012). The mTOR pathway can be inhibited by Rapamycin (Amornphimoltham et al., 2005). As discussed above, PIK3CA mutation is more common in HPV positive HNSCC than HPV negative. Unlike traditional HNSCC, HPV positive HNSCC showed p16 activation which is regarded as having good prognosis. p16 positive HNSCC have activates the mTOR pathway. This could lead to potential use of mTOR inhibitors HPV (Molinolo in positive HNSCC et al., 2012).



Figure 1.4 PI3K pathway: Reproduced and modified from (Giudice, 2013).

The PI3K pathway activates CDK1 and can also cross talk with TGFβ pathways suggesting a potential role of CDK1 and TGFβ in Head and Neck cancer (Du *et al.*, 2016). A study reported that dual inhibition of PI3K and mTOR can overcome radio resistance in HNSCC patients (Yu CC *et al.*, 2017).

Activation of the PI3K pathway is a potential mechanism of resistance to anti EGFR therapy. Cetuximab resistance was found in tumour with PI3K pathway activation and inhibition of PI3K pathway restored cetuximab sensitivity in a cetuximab resistant cell line (Rebucci *et al.,* 2011, Keysar *et al.,* 2013, Simpson *et al.,* 2015).

1.30 STAT signal transducer and activator of transcription

STAT is another downstream effector of EGFR signalling. STAT can also be activated via EGFR independent mechanisms (Sriuranpong *et al.,* 2003). Activation of the STAT pathway occurs via one of two mechanisms; JAK dependent or independent. STATs are

downstream transcription factors of JAK and other kinases. Signal transducers and activators transcription (STAT) proteins family consists of STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5a, STAT5b, and STAT6. Out of these proteins, STAT1, STAT3, STAT5a, STAT5b have a role in certain cancers (Quesnelle *et al.*, 2007). In general, STAT3 and STAT5a/b promote carcinogenesis, in contrast STAT1 activation has an opposing effect (Thomas SJ *et al.*, 2015). EGF and TGF α activate STAT1 and STAT3 in EGFR overexpressed cells. Ras stimulated cells also see an activation of STAT3 and that stimulation is blocked by EGFR specific kinase inhibitors (Song &Grandis, 2000). Upregulation of STAT3 has been found in variety of cancers. STAT3 activation has been shown to be an early event of HNSCC (Song &Grandis, 2000).

EGF and TGF α induces EGFR dimerization leading to phosphorylation of tyrosine residue and through the JAK dependent pathway, activation of (STAT) occurs when tyrosine residues are phosphorylated by JAK which initiates formation of the dimer. This is transferred into the cell nucleus and activates c-myc and cyclin D (Reich &,Liu, 2006).

JAK dependent STAT pathway signalling could be abolished by using JAK inhibitors (Sen *et al.,* 2015). In JAK independent pathway, STAT was directly activated by EGFR kinase. Tyrosine residues Y1068 and Y1086 are critical for STAT activation (Coffer &Kruijer , 1995.) After activation, STAT dimerizes, and translocates into the nucleus and regulates the expression of genes involved in proliferation, differentiation, cell survival. Even through STAT is involved in carcinogenesis, there has been no drug specifically targeting of the STAT pathway (Quesnelle *et al.,* 2007). Co-localization of STAT3 and EGFR was found in the cell nucleus (Lo *et al.,* 2005). Intrinsic EGFR kinase activity is necessary for STAT activation while autophosphorylation of EGFR is not required for STAT activation (David *et al.,* 1996).

There are some controversial findings in related with nuclear STAT3 and prognosis. (Macha *et al.*, 2011) reported nuclear accumulation of STAT3 is found in premalignant stage and related with poor prognosis while (Masuda *et al.*, 2002) and (Pectasides *et al.*, 2010) stated that high nuclear level of STAT3 is predictor of better prognosis. Abolishing STAT3 function in oral carcinogenesis leads to an increase in apoptosis and downregulation of Bcl-x_L (Song &Grandis, 2000).

There is a strong association between high STAT3 and cyclin D1 overexpression in HNSCC (Masuda *et al.,* 2002). This study found that EGFR overexpression in oesophageal keratinocytes activates STAT in a JAK dependent manner leading to increase cell migration, which can be blocked by JAK inhibitor (Sen *et al.,* 2015, Andl *et al.,* 2004). JAK1 and JAK2 are needed for STAT 1 and STAT3 activation in response to EGFR overexpression which leads to cell migration which might be mediated by MMP1(Andl *et al.,* 2004). EGFR collaborates with STAT3 to induce EMT in cancer cells via upregulation of TWIST (Lo *et al.,* 2007). Erlotinib was found to inhibit oral cancer in mouse model via EGFR-STAT3 signaling pathway (Leeman *et al.,* 2011, Grandis *et al.,* 1998, Psyrri *et al.,* 2013).

1.31 JNK pathway or c-Jun N-terminal kinases

JNK is member of MAPK family. JNK pathway is associated with activation of MAPKKK. JNK pathway is commonly activated by cytokines, DNA damaging substances, UV radiation and less frequently activated by growth factors (Gkouveris & Nikitakis, 2017). The role of JNK in cancer is controversial. First, it was thought to be oncosuppressive but more recently was described as having a tumorigenic role (Gkouveris & Nikitakis, 2017). Now oncogenic or tumour suppressive effect of JNK signalling is believed to be tissue specific and cell type dependent (Gkouveris & Nikitakis, 2017). In head and neck cancer, it is believed that JNK is acting alone or may cross talk with other signalling molecules such as STAT pathway (Gkouveris *et al.,* 2016).

1.32 Phospholipase C gamma (PCLy) pathway

PCLγ is another downstream target of EGFR signalling. High levels of PCLγ 1 was reported in tumour samples when compared with adjacent normal mucosa. A study reported that inhibition of PCLγ blocked cell migration but not cell proliferation (Thomas SM *et al.,* 2003).

1.33 Cell proliferation

Cell proliferation is an essential component of carcinogenesis. Cell proliferation is tightly regulated in normal healthy person. In contrast, cancer is the over proliferation of cells leading to big mass or tumour which can either benign or malignant. One of the hallmarks of cancer is the overproduction of growth factors. The overproduction of growth factors or overexpression of receptors lead to the activation of signalling pathways and this may then lead to dysregulation of the cell cycle proteins such as cyclin D which are involved in cell proliferation (Poch B, 2001). The classic eukaryotic cell cycle has two major stages which are interphase and M phase. Interphase can be divided into three stages, Gap1 (G_1), Synthesis(S) and Gap2 (G_2). Cells grows and prepare for cell division in interphase. DNA replication occurs in S phase (Romar *et al.*, 2016).

Cell division occurs in M phase. M phase is the phase where mitosis and cytokinesis occurs. Mitosis is the division of nucleus with equal chromosomes separation. Mitosis has prophase, metaphase, anaphase and telophase. Division of cell membrane and cytoplasm occurs in cytokinesis (Romar *et al.*, 2016).

Progression through each of cell cycle phases and transition from one phase to the next is monitored by three checkpoints. They are G1/S check point, G2/M check point and M phase spindle checkpoint. Function of the check point is to detect the DNA damage and not letting the cells enter into next phase until repair has been done G₀ is called resting phase of cell cycle where cell has left the cell cycle and stopped growing.

Cell cycle proteins such as cyclin dependent kinases (CDK) and cyclin control the cell division and DNA replication. For example, Cyclin D is stimulated by growth factors (Poch B, 2001). Activity of CDK are dependent on specific cyclins and are regulated by CDK inhibitors, phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events (Malumbres & Barbacid, 2009).

Cyclins, CDKs, inhibitory enzymes, Rb protein, p21, p27 and p53 regulate cell cycle progression. Overexpression of Cyclin and CDKs and loss of CDK is related with cancer. Cyclin D drives the cell cycle from the G1 to the S phase by following mechanism. Cyclin D is the first cyclin increase in cell cycle. G1 is the first phase of the cell cycle. In G1 phase, cells are grows in size, synthesizes mRNA and protein and prepare for mitosis. G1 phase lasts about 18 hours in human somatic cells. The transition to G1 to S phase is controlled by Cyclin D-CDK4/6 and Cyclin E-CDK2. Cyclin D bind to CDK4/6 resulting Cyclin D-CDK4/6 complex. CyclinD/CDK4 and/or CDK6 complexs phosphorylates the retinoblastoma protein. Phosphorylation of pRb leading to dissociation of pRb/E2F complex, released E2F transcription factor which bind to DNA, regulate gene expression and cell enter into S phase (Sherr CJ, 1994).

Deregulated expression of cyclin D 1 is associated with resistance to EGFR inhibitors in head and neck cancer (Dhingra *et al.,* 2017, Kalish *et al.,* 2004). Cell proliferation marker Ki-67 and Cyclin B1 are also higher in HNSCC (Watanabe *et al.,* 2010).

In a healthy individual the P16^{INK4a}, tumour suppressor protein prevents phosphorylation of pRb by inhibiting cyclin D-CDK 4/6 to phosphorylate pRb (Serrano *et al.*, 1993). pRb is mainly hypophosphorylated and is found in complexes with E2F transcription factor, blocking cells enter into S phase (Pande et al., 1998). Down regulation of p16 is commonly found in classic head and neck cancer (Perez Sayans *et al.*, 2011). E2F1 transcriptionally up-regulates expression of p14ARF (Bates *et al.*, 1998). p14ARF promotes p53 by inhibiting MDM2 which binds and degrades p53. Loss of P14^{ARF} will lead to elevated level of MDM2 and then to loss of p53 function and cell cycle control (Bates *et al.*, 1998). p53 is called the 'guardian of the genome' and is responsible for determining whether the cell should enter S phase where DNA replication occurs.

INK4a/AFR is one of mechanism involved in cellular senescence (Collado *et al.,* 2007). Normal cells will divide between 50-70 times before cell death. Each time when a cell undergoes mitosis, the telomeres which is located at the ends of each chromosome shorten slightly. Once they reached certain length then apoptosis will be invoked in the cell. Cellular senescence is a phenomenon in which normal cells cease to divide and was first reported by Hayflick in 1961. However, cancer cells can overcome senescence by using an enzyme called telomerase which maintains the telomere length (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). One of the hallmarks of cancer includes resistance to apoptosis by producing excess telomerase and gaining limitless replicative potential (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Cellular senescence can be triggered by multiple mechanisms including telomere shortening, the epigenetic derepression of the INK4a/ARF locus, DNA damage and aging (Collado *et al.*, 2007).

It is expected that EGF and TGF α ligands might use two discontinuous pulses for cell proliferation like PDGF: initial pulse from resting cells into G₁ (after 8 hrs introduction with ligands) and is followed by a second pulse (7 to 9 h later) which drives the cells into S phase (Pennock & Wang , 2003).

1.34 Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in HNSCC

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an important process in cancer since it facilitates cells migration, invasion and metastasis. There are a lot of signalling pathways that initiate or regulate EMT. EMT can be triggered by different signalling molecules, such as by epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), transforming growth factor β (TGF β), hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), WNTs and Notch (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). EMT is the transdifferentiation of epithelial cells into mesenchymal cells. Epithelial cells are cuboidal in shape, have an apical basal polarity and are closely connected to each other by specialized membrane structures, such as tight junctions, gap junction, adherens junctions, and desmosomes (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). During the EMT process, epithelial cells lose their cuboidal shape, cell to cell adhesion, apical basal polarity and then undergo cytoskeleton remodelling, forming a mesenchymal or elongated shape, front-to-back leading edge polarity, motile and therapy resistance (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006).In vitro, mesenchymal cells have a spindle-shaped fibroblastlike morphology, whereas epithelial cells grow as cell clusters (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). Growth factors such as EGF, TGFα, FGF, HGF, bone morphogenesis proteins (BMPs), and extracellular matrix components such as collagen, hyaluronic acid, and cellular processes such as chronic inflammation and hypoxia are known to induce EMT. There are three types of EMT. Type I EMT is found in embryogenesis, type II EMT is found in wound healing, tissue regeneration, and organ fibrosis. Type III EMT is found in carcinogenesis (Kalluri &, Weinberg, 2009). EMT is a reversible process and conversion into MET is frequently seen in cancer (Neilson & Zeisberg, 2009, Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). In EMT, epithelial markers such as E cadherin are downregulated with upregulation of mesenchymal markers.

| Epithelial markers | Mesenchymal markers |
|--------------------|-----------------------------------|
| E cadherin | Vimentin |
| Z0-1 | N cadherin |
| Desmoplakin | integrin αvβ6 |
| cytokeratin | Fibronectin |
| occudin | FOXC2 |
| miR- 200 | Sox10 |
| | smooth muscle actin |
| | Fibroblast specific protein(FSP1) |
| | Snail1 |
| | Snail2(slug) |
| | Goosecoid |
| | Twist |
| | miR- 21 |
| | MMP2, MMP3, MMP9 |

Table 1.5 Epithelial and mesenchymal markers associated with EMT

From (Neilson & Zeisberg 2009, Lee JM 2006)

a) E-cadherin is a calcium dependent cell adhesion molecule (CAMs). It is the most famous epithelial marker. The cytoplasmic domain of E-cadherin is linked to the actin cytoskeleton through interactions with catenins, and cadherins-catenin complexes localized in cell to cell contact area known as the adherens junction (Pećina-Slaus, 2003). The loss of E-cadherin in cancer means loss of the epithelial morphology and the acquisition of mesenchymal phenotype. Reduced expression of E-cadherin is one of the main molecular events in EMT and cell migration. E-cadherin is regarded as tumour suppressor gene (Pećina-Slaus, 2003). Down regulation of E-cadherin and upregulation of N-cadherin which is called cadherin switching can be seen in EMT (Wheelock et al., 2008). In cancer, E cadherin is downregulated by a number of mechanisms, including mutation, and transcriptional repression. In cancer, transcription factors such as snail, slug, ZEB1 and FOXC2 bind to the E box of E-cadherin promoter and repress its transcription (Batlle et al., 2000). The relationship between E-cadherin and EGFR is guite controversial. One study reported that E-cadherin-mediated-cell-cell adhesion can trigger a ligand-independent activation of the EGFR, followed by activation of PI3-K and ERK while another study reported that E cadherin inhibits ligand dependent activation of EGFR (Reddy et al., 2005, Qian X 2004). Ecadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion promotes anoikis resistance via ligandindependent activation of EGFR and downstream MAPK pathway (Shen & Kramer, 2004). The methylation of E-cadherin and the degradation of membranous β -Catenin can also induce cell migration (Kudo, 2004).

- b) Vimentin is intermediate filament (IF) protein expressed in mesenchymal cells. Vimentin is important for maintaining the integrity of the cells in cytoskeleton, orienting microtubules for directional migration, morphological changes and the migration of cells (Liu *et al.*, 2015, Mendez *et al.*, 2010). Loss of E-cadherin and acquired vimentin is correlated with metastasis (Nijkamp *et al.*, 2011).
- c) Snail is transcription factor elevated in EMT cells (Summary: Figure 1.6). Signalling pathways such as PI3K, MAPK, TGFβ, Notch, BMP and Wnt pathway

activate snail. Snail downregulates epithelial markers, upregulates mesenchymal markers, participates in cell morphology changes, cell proliferation and cell survival (Barrallo & Nieto, 2005).



Figure 1.7: Role of snail in EMT (Barrallo & Nieto, 2005) (Yokoyama et al., 2003).

d) Micro RNA play an important role in controlling EMT. Some miRNA induce EMT while others supress EMT (Ding XM, 2014).

It has been suggested that EMT promotes the generation of cancer stem cells (Mani *et al.,* 2008). To corroborate this it was also shown that cells undergoing EMT have stem cells like characteristic such as self- renewal and resistance to cancer therapeutic drugs (Singh & Settleman, 2010).

As discussed in above, EGFR collaborates with STAT3 to induce EMT in cancer cells via an up-regulation of TWIST (Lo *et al.*, 2007). However, it has also been suggested that EMT is related to the resistance to TKIs which is going to discuss in next sections (Weng *et al.*, 2019).

1.35 Cell migration

One of the other important hallmarks of cancer is invasion and metastasis. Cancer cells degrade the ECM and basement membrane, pass through surrounding tissue, travel into blood or lymphatic stream, attach at new site and grow into secondary tumour mass. Cells that are closely attached to each other under normal condition (homeostasis) by cell to cell adhesion and cell to extracellular matrix adhesion have these adhesions broken down by the secretion of substances which degrade the ECM and basement membrane (Guan X, 2015). Loss of cell to cell adhesion allows cancer cells to dissociate from the primary tumour. Loss of cell to matrix adhesion allow cells to invade surrounding stroma (Manzanares & Horwitz, 2011).

Cell to cell adhesions are stabilized by catenins which link cadherins to the cytoskeleton. Down-regulation of E-cadherin breaks down this link, disassembly of the adherent junctions and translocation of membrane bound β -catenin into the cell nucleus where it acts as a transcription factor (Hajra & Fearon, 2002). It is known that cell surface receptors called integrin are responsible for cell to ECM adhesion (Guan X, 2015). They are members of a glycoprotein family which allow the cell surface to contact with ECM molecules such as fibronectin, laminin, and collagen (Manzanares & Horwitz, 2011).

Normal cells undergo anoikis (apoptosis caused by detachment from the ECM) once they detached from ECM. In contrast, cancer cells have ability to resist anoikis (Guan X, 2015). The loss of contact inhibition not only leads to cell migration but also uncontrolled cell growth allowing for the spread and survival of tumour cells (Roycroft & Mayor, 2016) (Buchheit *et al.*, 2014).

There are two types of cell migration in cancer. Individual/single cell migration and collective cell migration. In individual/single cell migration, cell to cell contacts are lost.

1.35.1 Single cell migration

Cells which used mechanism of single cell migration have different phenotype- ameboid or mesenchymal phenotype (Figure 1.7). In amoeboid-like migration, cells are rounded shape and come in different variants: 1) they change their shape very fast, have short thin protrusions, show no blebbing, are fast moving $0.4-5 \,\mu$ m/min. 2) Slow and disorganize migration with a blebbing morphology. 3) Cells with short protrusion which are slow moving ~0.1 μ m/min (Clark & Vignjevic, 2018, Friedl & Gilmour, 2009). In mesenchymal migration, cells are elongated spindle shape morphology with slow moving with cells pulling or pushing themselves across a surface.



Figure 1.8 Example of single cell migration (Yellow arrow indicate ameboid, Blue indicate mesenchymal).

1.35.2 Collective cell migration:

In collective cell migration, cell to cell adhesion is maintained. Cells that are migrating to

distant site do so as a group or sheets. This requires force generation of pulling cells a

large group of cells together. In collective cell migration, the free end of the cell group forms a dynamic cytoskeleton leading to multiple ruffled borders resulting in traction. Tensile stress created by these contractile forces is responsible for direction of the cell movement. Moving cells sheets modify the tissue along the route and secondary remodelling of ECM and rearrangement of basement membrane takes place (Friedl & Gilmour, 2009, Friedl & Illina, 2009).

There are two cell types involved in collective cell migration. First is the leader cells or the pioneer cells which lead. The second cell type is known either as the follower cells or rear cells. The phenotype may be different between the leader cells and the follower cells. Collective cell migration is slowest mode of migration in cancer $0.01-0.05 \mu$ m/min while it is faster during embryonic development $0.2-1 \mu$ m/min. In cancer, remodelling of the cellular junctions, reorganization of actin cytoskeleton and the formation of F-actin rich membrane protrusions are formed during collective cell migration (Ganjre *et al.,* 2017).



Figure 1.9 Example of collective cell migration (yellow indicate leader cells and green indicate follower cells).

The protrusion of the cell membrane is an initial step in cell migration. These dendritic and spiky protrusion are formed at the leading edge of the migratory cells and they are called; filopodia, lamellipodia, podosomes and invadopodia. Formation of these structures is controlled by actin polymerization. Lamellipodia are flat broad membranous protrusions. These are located at the leading edge of the migrating cells and control the direction of the cell movement. Filopodia are a thin finger like projection at the leading edge of the cells. It also controls the direction of the cell movement. Lamellipodia and filopodia are also present in normal epithelial cells (Guan X, 2015). Podosomes are found in normal highly motile cell. They have a shorter life span usually minutes while invadopodia (similar to lamellipodia) are mostly found in cancer and have a longer life span which vary from minutes to hours (Guan X, 2015). Both invadopodia and podosomes are rich in actin and able to degrade the ECM (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2005). WASP (Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome protein) and N-WASP (neutral WASP) protein play an important role in formation of cellular protrusion (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2005).

The tumour microenvironment plays an important role in carcinogenesis. Chemokines, growth factors, cancer associated fibroblast, tumour associate macrophage (TAMs), Rho, Rac, Cdc42 play an important role in cell migration (Alizadeh *et al.*, 2014).

The secretions of tumour associate macrophage from primary tumours increase metastasis (Pollard, 2004). Macrophages can express colony stimulating factor receptor 1 and secrete EGF whilst cancer cells have EGFR and secrete CSF-1. Therefore these two cell types reciprocally induce each other to migrate in the tumour microenvironment allowing tumour cells to be able to metastasize (Wyckoff *et al.*, 2004).

Matrix metalloproteinase (MMPs) are group of enzymes which cleave/degrade the extracellular matrix and enhance the migration process. Head and neck cancer is composed of multiple cell types each with different types of MMP expression. MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-9, and Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase MT-1 MMP are most commonly found in HNSCC and are associated with disease progression. MMP and tissue inhibitors of MMP (TIMPs) have been reported as being related with invasion and nodal metastasis (Kurahara *et al.*, 1999).

In general, HPV+ head and neck cancer patients have lower MMP expression than HPV negative head and neck cancer patients (Hauff *et al.*, 2014). Hepatocyte growth factors are also reported to upregulate MMP genes (Hanzawa *et al.*, 2000).

1.36 Drug target EGFR signalling

A number of drugs have been reported to affect EGFR signalling. They are summarised in the Figure 1.10.





Figure 1.10 Drugs targeting EGFR pathway

There are two types of drug specifically targeting EGFR. The first group are monoclonal antibodies which are for targeting EGFR overexpression. The second group are small molecules tyrosine kinase inhibitors which target EGFR mutations.

The monoclonal antibodies bind to the extra-cellular domain of EGFR and block ligand binding. FDA has approved only two MoAbs for clinical use, cetuximab (for HNSCC and colorectal cancer) and panitumumab (for colorectal cancer, Martinelli *et al.*, 2009).

1.36.1 Cetuximab

Cetuximab is the only EGFR target drug which has received FDA approval to treat head and neck cancer (NCI, 2019). Cetuximab is chimeric mouse/human monoclonal antibody which targets domain III of the extracellular region of EGFR. Once cetuximab binds to EGFR, ligands cannot bind to the receptor, the receptor is internalized and then degraded leading to downregulation of EGFR on the cell surface. Autophosphorylation and activation of the EGFR was inhibited using this therapy (Dutta & Maity, 2007). (Mandic, 2006) proposed that the cetuximab might transiently stimulate EGFR phosphorylation prior to downregulation. Cetuximab may also induce antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity mediated by the host immune cells (Bleeker, 2004). Cetuximab which got FDA approval in 2004 for use in EGFR expressing colorectal cancer resistant to irinotecan based chemotherapy (Wong, 2005).

In 2016, FDA approved Cetuximab in combinantion with radiotherapy to treat locally invasive head and neck cancer. Studies found that head and neck patients receiving radiation plus cetuximab show better overall survival than patients with radiation therapy alone (Bonner *et al.,* 2006, Bonner *et al.,* 2010).

Inhibition of EGFR can improve the efficacy of radiotherapy. There appears to be a connection between radiation-induced EGFR activation and DNA repair. Radiation induces translocation of EGFR into the nucleus while C225 (cetuximab) plus radiation prevents this EGFR translocation to the nucleus, and inhibits DNA damage repair by decreasing the nuclear level of the DNA repair enzyme DNA-PK (Bandyopadhyay *et al.,* 1998, Dittmann *et al.,* 2005, Huang & Harari, 2000). Cetuximab plus radiation also induced cells cycle arrest at G₁, G₂-M which are radiosensitive phases of cell cycle instead of the radioresistant S phase (Huang & Harari, 2000).

Vermorken *et al.,* (2008) reported that Cetuximab plus platinum fluorouracil-based chemotherapy improved overall survival compared with compared with platinum– fluorouracil chemotherapy alone in metastasis or recurrent HNSCC.

1.36.2 Resistance to Cetuximab/ monoclonal antibodies

Although, EGFR overexpression is observed in more than 90% of HNSCC only 10% of HNSCC patients respond to cetuximab and often only for a short period of time (Matta & Ralhan, 2009). There are conditions where cetuximab cannot be effective. First of all, NIH press released that Cetuximab with radiotherapy was inferior to standard treatment

in HPV positive HNSCC (NIH, 2018). (Mirghani *et al.*, 2015) also concluded that anti-EGFR is not effective in HPV positive HNSCC. Further research needs to be carried out to find out why cetuximab is not effective in HPV+ HNSCC. Mirghani *et al.*, (2015) suggested it is important to analyse the Patient HPV status before cetuximab treatment and that use alternative drugs should be prescribed in HPV positive patients.

Secondly, co-expression of EGFR with other members ErbB family receptors such as HER2, ErbB3, ErbB4 are common in head and neck cancer (Bei *et al.*, 2001). Therefore targeting of EGFR alone may not be effective in those cases. A series of papers has supported the suggestion that HER2 activation is related with cetuximab resistance (Yonesaka *et al.*, 2011, Wheeler *et al.*, 2008).

Currently, there are no available drugs targeting ErbB3 and ErbB4. However, drugs targeting EGFR-HER2 are on the way to the clinic. More research has been done for EGFR- HER2 overexpression or EGFR/HER2 heterodimerization. In the past, HER2 overexpression/ or dimerization was thought to be rare in head and neck cancer. However, these reports were focusing on tumour specimens from specific areas such as larynx and pharynx. HER2 overexpression is characteristic of oral SCC but not other forms of head and neck cancer (Xia *et al.*, 1997). They also found HER2 overexpression in oral cancer is related with high nodal metastasis and poor survival rate (Xia *et al.*, 1997). They hypothesised that failure to target HER2 might be the reason of poor survival in oral SCC cases.

In this case, dual inhibitors of EGFR-HER2 should be used to block both receptors. Lapatinib is dual inhibitor of EGFR-HER2 which is commonly used in breast cancer patients (Burstein HJ, 2005) .However, Lapatinib produced controversial results in clinical trial in HNSCC patients. One study reported that Lapatinib was only effective in HPV positive head and neck cell lines (Fumagalli *et al.,* 2014). Dual inhibitor targeting for HPV negative head and neck cancer should be developed in the future. One study reported that the dual kinase inhibitors of EGFR and HER2 could overcome cetuximab resistance (Quesnelle & Grandis, 2011).

Thirdly, in EGFR variant III mutation which was found in 42% of HNSCC to coexist with Wild type EGFR overexpression. This variant is missing extracellular domain I and II of EGFR meaning ligands could not bind to receptor, leading to constantly weak activating of tyrosine kinase. EGFR variant III mutation is related with cetuximab resistance (Tinhofer *et al.*, 2011).In this case, treatment with TKIs which inhibit the tyrosine kinase domain could overcome the problem (Sok JC *et al.*, 2006).

Fourthly, EGFR mutation is more common in south East Asia region compared with the West. Like EGFRvIII, EGFR activating mutation leads to the activation of the tyrosine kinase. This could also be overcome by using TKIs (Gazdar AF, 2009).

Fifthly, a secondary mutation of EGFR or EGFR T790M mutation. This secondary mutation of EGFR is found in patients who were initially responsive to TKIs. For the first time secondary mutation of EGFR was found in Saudi head and neck cancer patients (Vatte *et al.,* 2017). Treatment of patients with this secondary mutation of EGFR might be overcome by using non-ATP competitive inhibitors or irreversibly inhibitors or second or third generation TKIs (Gazdar AF, 2009, Li *et al.,* 2008, Engelman, 2007).

Sixthly, mutation or constitutive activation of downstream signalling pathways such as; mutation or constitutive activation of the Ras/Raf/MAPK, STAT3 and PI3-K/AKT/mTOR are not uncommon in head and neck cancer patients. As discussed above about 30% of areca nut related head and neck cancer patients in India have a Ras mutation (Saranath *et al.,* 1991, Das N *et al.,* 2000). PIK3CA mutation has also been found in both HPV-(12.6% to 17.5%) and HPV+ (30%) head and neck cancer patients (Lui *et al.,* 2013, Cai *et a.,l* 2017, Chiosea *et al.,* 2013). Mutation of these downstream pathways has been suggested to be related with resistance to anti-EGFR drugs (De Roock *et al.,* 2010).

1.36.3 Cross talking within signaling pathways

A number of studies have found that inhibition of one pathway can lead to the activation of another pathway (Turke *et al*, 2012, Serra *et al.*, 2011).Therefore multiple inhibitors have been used to good effect in the laboratory. The combination of therapy of PI3K and MEK pathway inhibitors enhanced the efficacy in both sensitive and resistant cell lines (Engelman *et al.*, 2008).

1.36.4 Other monoclonal antibodies

Fully humanized monoclonal antibodies might be less prone to stimulate neutralizing antibodies or hypersensitive reactions. Panitumumab is a fully humanized monoclonal antibody which might inhibit ligand binding leading to internalization of EGFR but not EGFR degradation (Yang *et al.,* 2001, Dutta & Maity, 2007). In 2006, Panitumumab got FDA approval to treat colorectal cancer with wildtype KRAS. In clinical trials of recurrent or metastatic HNSCC patient, Panitumumab did not increase overall survival while it increased progression free survival in p16 negative patients (Vermorken *et al.,* 2013).

Zalutumumab is a fully humanized monoclonal antibody which has had controversial results. One study showed encouraging result with zalutumumab (Schick *et al.*, 2012) while another study reported that zalutumumab plus the radiotherapy did not show any significant improvement in HNSCC patient compared with control(Eriksen *et al.*, 2014).

Nimotuzumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody has been granted approval for use in HNSCC in some countries such as India, Cuba, Argentina, Colombia, Ivory Coast, Gabon, Ukraine, Peru and Sri Lanka (Ramakrishnan *et al.*, 2009). Nimotuzumab has lesser affinity to the receptor and has a transient binding interaction, it spares healthy tissues, and has no toxic cutaneous effect and showed promising results in clinical trials (Ramakrishnan *et al.*, 2009, Subramanium *et al.*, 2015). The receptor binding mechanism is reportedly different from cetuximab (Talavera *et al.*, 2009).

1.36.5 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors bind to the cytoplasmic region of EGFR by competing with ATP and inhibit phosphorylation of the receptor. Example of tyrosine kinase inhibitors are Erlotinib, Gefitinib which both selectively and reversibly inhibit tyrosine kinase activity (Herbst, 2004). None of these TKIs has been approved to treat HNSCC. Some of them are currently under clinical trials (Chapman *et al.,* 2016).

The advantages of tyrosine kinase inhibitors is they can be orally administered, they can block EGFR overexpression, EGFRvIII and EGFR mutation. The main disadvantages of tyrosine kinase inhibitors is their lack of specificity or cross-inhibition of other receptor or non-receptor tyrosine kinase activity (Dutta & Maity, 2007).

Gefitinib got FDA approval in 2003 and is used to treat metastatic non-small cell lung carcinoma .Gefitinib is a reversible TKI which prevents EGFR auto-phosphorylation by competing with adenosine triphosphate for its binding site on the intracellular domain of EGFR. Gefitinib induces neither receptor internalization nor degradation and thus did not reduce EGFR protein level on the cell surface(Dutta & Maity, 2007).Gefitinib has undergone clinical trials in head and neck cancer patients and did not produce encouraging results(Chua *et al.,* 2008) .One side effect reported in the clinical trials was skin toxicity when the Gefitinib dose was escalated, while it failed to show significance improvement in patient outcome(Perez *et al., 2012*) .Patients with the *EGFRvIII* mutation did respond to gefitinib treatment (Argiris *et al.,* 2013).

Erlotinib got FDA approval to treat NSCLC in 2004. Erlotinib is also reversible TKI of EGFR wildtype and the EGFRvIII mutant. Like Gefitinib, Erlotinib did not downregulate EGFR protein level. In head and neck cancers Erlotinib has already undergone clinical trials for HNSCC and known to have some toxic effect such as skin toxicity (Li & Perez-Soler, 2009, Soulieres *et al.*, 2004). Patients receiving erlotinib with cisplatin and radiotherapy failed to show significant increase in complete response rate and progression free survival (Martin *et al.*, 2013). Erlotinib did however inhibit carcinogenesis via EGFR-STAT 3 pathway in a mouse model (Leeman-Neill *et al.*, 2011).

The reason of why these two TKIs are not producing encouraging results in those trials might be activation of downstream signalling pathways such as ERK (Wakeling *et al.,* 2002). Other research has shown that the K-ras mutation is related with resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer (Massarelli *et al.,* 2007).

Another possible reason of drug resistance to Tyrosine kinase inhibitors is EMT. EMT is believed to be underlying mechanism of drug resistance to TKIs (Weng *et al.*, 2019, Maseki *et al.*, 2012, Frederick BA *et al.*, 2007).

Second generation TKIs targeting EGFR secondary mutation are under clinical trials. Irreversible EGFR inhibitors such as Afatinib /BIBW 2992, HKI-272 and dacomitinib /PF00299804 inhibit EGFR secondary mutation or EGFRT790M mutation in preclinical models with Afatinib also targeting HER2 (Li DM *et al.,* 2008, Engelman *et al.,* 2007). Osimertinib (AZD9291) was found to be more effective than Afatinib in clinical trial

with EGFR T790M mutated lung cancer patients (Jänne PA et al., 2015).

1.36.6 Pathway inhibitors under clinical trials for head and neck cancer

| MAPK inhibitor | Binimetinib |
|--------------------------|--|
| PI3K inhibitor | Buparlisib (BKM120), Alpelisib (BYL719), |
| | PX-866, Copanlisib |
| AKT inhibitor | MK2206 |
| mTOR inhbitor | rapamycin (sirolimus), Temsirolimus |
| | (CCI-779), Everolimus (RAD001) |
| PI3K/mTOR dual inhibitor | SF1126, Gedatolisib, Dactolisib (BEZ235) |
| | |

From: (Cai et al., 2017) (Wang et al., 2017) (Jung et al., 2018).

1.37 The need for development of drugs targeting EGFR mutation and Ras mutation

As discussed detail in literature review, Cetuximab is targeting to EGFR overexpression and not effective in patients with EGFR variant III mutation,EGFR tyrosine kinase mutation and Ras mutation. So, it is important to develop target drugs for people with these kinds of mutation. Currently, Tyrosine kinase inhibitors Gefitinib and Erlotinib are used to treat EGFR mutated non small cell lung cancer patients. PD98059 have ability to target the down stream of Ras by inhibiting ERK phosphorylation. So, it is important to see the effect of Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and selective MAPK inhibitor (PD98059) in EGFR signalling pathway. Data we have produced during this study will backup/contradict the current and ongoing research with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059.



Cell proliferation, EMT, cell migration, angiogenesis, resistance to apoptosis

Chapter 2 Aim and Hypothesis

This chapter will set out the aims and a hypothesis for the project. It is easier to do this as a list as this give a greater scope for understanding of the project.

2.1 Aims of the project

- To investigate the effect of EGF and TGFα on proliferation of cancer and control cell lines.
- 2) To investigate effect on EGF and TGF α on cell morphology.
- 3) To investigate the status of EMT marker in response to EGF and TGF α .
- To investigate the effect of EGF and TGFα on migration of cancer and control cell lines.
- 5) To investigate the phosphorylation of MAPK 202/204 and AKT473 in response to EGF and TGF α .
- 6) If EGF and TGFα has an effect, to investigate whether Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and the selective ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) inhibit these effect of EGF and TGFα.

The specific studies carried out towards these objectives include:

- a) To observe the effect of EGF and TGF α on cell proliferation of HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell lines by using automated cell counter.
- b) To observe the EMT markers E cadherin and Vimentin on the HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell lines treated with EGF and TGF α by using immunofluorescence and Western blot.
- c) To observe the localization of total EGFR in response to EGF and TGFα treatment by using immunofluorescence.

- d) To observe the effect of EGF and TGFα on morphology of HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell line by using photograph as different time point. To investigate whether an hour pre-treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitor (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) inhibit the effect of EGF and TGFα.
- e) To observe the effect of EGF and TGFα on migration of HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell lines by using scratch assay. To investigate whether Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibit the effect of EGF and TGFα.
- f) To observe effect of EGF and TGFα on phosphorylation of EGFR1068, MAPK 202/204 and AKT473 on HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell lines. To investigate whether Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibit the effect of EGF and TGFα.
- g) To observe localization of MAPK202/204 and AKT473 on HSG, AZA1, TYS and HaCaT cell line by using immunofluorescence. To investigate whether Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibit the effect of EGF and TGFα.

2.2 Hypothesis of the study

The hypothesis is that EGF and TGF α would induce the cell proliferation, EMT like morphological change, migration, phosphorylation of tyrosine kinase residues, activation of MAPK and AKT pathway and EGFR internalization.

There was also a hypothesis that Tyrosine kinase inhibitor and downstream inhibitor inhibit the effect of EGF and TGF α .

Null hypothesis would be that growth factors have no effect on cell proliferation, EMT, migration, phosphorylation of tyrosine kinase residues, activation of MAPK and AKT pathway and EGFR internalization. Pilot experiments were performed by the author during her master thesis to test the suitability of assays.
Chapter 3 Materials and methods

This chapter will be mainly the general methods used in the project. More detailed and

specific experimental methods are found in the results chapters.

3.1 The cell lines used in the study and source

| Name | Cell type | Derived / | Secondary | Primary source |
|-------|---|---|--|-------------------------------|
| | | from | source | |
| НасаТ | Normal adult keratinocyte | skin | Prof.S.L. Schor(Late) DDS | (Boukamp et al., 1988) |
| TYS | Oral adeno squamous cell carcinoma | isolated from a well- differentiated squamous cell carcinoma Originated from floor of the mouth and derived from the minor salivary gland | Dr Koji Harada University of Tokushima, Japan | (Yanagawa et al., 1986) |
| HSG | Human salivary tumour cell line | Epithelial duct cell line derived from irradiated Human salivary gland | Prof- Mitsunobu Sato, University of Toushima, Japan | (Shirasuna K et al.,1981) |
| AZA1 | HSG cells treated with 5- Azacytidine | Epithelial duct cell line derived from irradiated Human salivary gland. | Prof- Mitsunobu Sato, University of Toushima, Japan | (Shirasuna K et al.,1981) |

Table3.1 The cell lines used in the study and source

Justification of the cell lines

The cell lines were chosen upon ethnicity of the patients(asian) rather than location of tumour. HaCaT cell was kind gift from Dr Norbett Fusenig. HaCaT cell line was selected as control cell line due to unavailabbility of normal oral cell line. The morphology and function is similar to oral squamous epithelial cells. TYS cell line was a kind gift from Prof. Mitsunobu Sato from University of Tokushima. The cells were obtained from biopsy of primary oral cancer from 81 years old japanese female. Despite isolating from well differentiated squamous cell carcinoma located from flooe of the mouth, it was histopathologically interpreted as acinic cell carcinoma with squamoid lesion.

HSG cell line was also a kind gift from Prof. Mitsunobu Sato from University of Tokushima. The cells were obtained from 54 years old japanese man who received therapeutic radiation for cancer at the floor of the mouth.

AZA1 cells are HSG cells treated with 5-Azacytidine. It is a potent growth inhibitor and cytotoxic gagent. It has ability to inhibits DNA methyltransferase causing DNA demethylation and allow transcription factors to bind DNA and reactivate tumour suppressor genes. In clinic, Azacytine is mainly used to treat myelodysplastic syndrome and some case of acute myeloid leukemia as hypomethylation agent. In vitro, it can be used to remove methyl group. In research 5-azacitidine is used to promote cardiomyocyte differentiation of stem cells. In contract, it promote transdifferentiation of cardiac cells into skeletal myocyte.5-Azacytidine inhibit T cell proliferation, block the cell cycle, inhibit the production of proinflammatory cytokines.(Sanchez-Abarca etal,2010).

3.2 List of equipment

Table 3.2 List of equipment

| Name | Make/Origin |
|---|---|
| Class II biological safety cabinet | Medical Air Technology, Manchester, Uk |
| Incubator | Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA |
| Water bath | Grant Instruments, Cambridge, UK |
| Centrifuge machine (Mistral 1000) | MSE,London,UK |
| Pipette | Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA |
| Pipette boy | Integra bioscience, Zizers, Switzerland |
| Nunclone cell culture dish | Thermo Fisher Scientific, Denmark |
| Light microscope, IX50 | Olympus, Tokyo, Japan |
| Automated cell counter TC10 | Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA,USA |
| Orbital shaker | Stuart scientific, Staffordshire, UK |
| Centrifuge (Sigma 1-13) | Sigma, Osterode am Hartz, Germany |
| Inverted fluorescence microscope (IX70) | Olympus, Tokyo, Japan |
| Plastic pipette | Alpha laboratotories Catalogue LW4061 |
| Cryovial | Fisher brand Catalogue 12-567-501 |

3.3 List of reagents and antibodies

Table 3.3 List of reagents and antibodies

| Cell culture reagents | Company | Catalogue no. |
|---|--------------------------------------|-------------------------|
| Foetal Calf Serum (FCS) | Sigma-Aldrich, | F-2442 |
| | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| Minimum essential Medium | Sigma-Aldrich, | M-0275 |
| Eagle (MEM) | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| DMEM – Dulbecco's Modified | Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, | 61965026 |
| Eagle Medium (GlutaMAX™ | USA | |
| Supplement) | | |
| EGTA | Sigma-Aldrich, | E-8145 |
| | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| Trypsin | Sigma-Aldrich, | T-4549 |
| | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| L-Glutamine | Sigma-Aldrich, | G-7513 |
| | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| PBS | Sigma-Aldrich, | P-4417 |
| | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| HBSS (HANK'S balanced salt | Sigma-Aldrich, | H-4641 |
| solution) | St.Louis,MO,USA | |
| Methanol | VWR BDH,PA, USA | 101586B |
| Epidermal growth factor | insight biotechnology | Cat No: 10-1033-B, |
| Transforming growth factor α | insight biotechnology | Cat No: 10-1033 |
| DMSO | Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA | Cat No:D-5859 |
| Gefitinib | Cell signalling technology | 4765 |
| Erlotinib | Cell signalling technology | 5083 |
| PD98059 | Cell signalling technology | 9900 |
| E cadherin | Cell signalling technology | 3195-135KDA |
| Vimentin | Cell signalling technology | 3932-57KDA |
| Anti EGFR Rabbit monoclonal | Abcam | Ab 52894 |
| antibody(EP38Y) | | |
| Phospho EGF receptor | Cell signalling technology | 9789 |
| pathway antibody sampler kit | | |
| (Phospho-EGF Receptor | | |
| (Tyr1068) (D7A5) XP [®] Rabbit | | |
| mAb #3777 | | |
| Phospho P44/42 | Cell signalling technology | 4370 (1:2000) WB (1:50) |
| MAPK(Erk1/2) | | immunoprecipitation |
| (Thr202/tyr204) | | (1:100) |
| | | Immunohistochemistry |
| AKT473 | Cell signalling technology | 4060 |
| Antirabbit IgG, HRP linked | Cell signalling technology | 7074 |
| antibody | | |

3.4 Measuring cell proliferation

Cell proliferation can be measured by a number of methods. These can include everything from the humble Haemocytometer to the labelling of cells with radioactive thymidine (Romar *et al.*, 2016). Work in our laboratory has in the past investigated these other methods and found that the most simple method for studying was to use an automated cell counter. In the last year a major workshop has concluded that for consistency in this area a logical system should be devised (Lin-Gibson *et al.*, 2018). Using our own system which is a fully automated system (TC10 from Biorad) allows us the investigated cell growth in this manner. Automated cell counter is also one of the easiest ways to measure the cell proliferation giving both accurate counting and quick and reproducible results. Comparison studies have shown that they are quicker and easier than Haemocytometer (Cadena- Herrera *et al.*, 2015). In this chapter, 4 different cell lines are used three from various Head and neck tumours being epithelial in character and one "normal" epithelial cell line.

3.5 Cell culture

All the cells were cultured at 37° Celsius (°C)and 5% CO₂ in MEM with 10% Foetal calf serum (FCS) and 200mM glutamine. All the tasks such as sub culturing, passaging, cryopreservation and resuscitation were done according to standard laboratory protocol set up by the Unit of Cellular and Molecular Biology, the Dental School, University of Dundee, UK.The cells were sub-cultured 1 to 2 times a week depend on confluency of the cells. Growth medium was changed every 3 to 4 days the spent medium was aspirated off and replaced with fresh medium. All the stock cells were

grown on 90mm dishes. Once the dish (35mm or 60mm) was decided upon would ascertain how the dishes were prepared. A 90mm stock dish was taken out of the incubator. Media was aspirated off washed twice with HBSS and replace with 2 ml of trypsin. Then the dish was placed into incubator for 5 mins. The cells need to be scrapped off if they are firmly attached to dish. 4mls of 10% FCS was added into dishes to neutralised the trypsin and suspension were then transferred into a universal tube using a plastic pastette and centrifuge for 5 mins at 900rpm. The trypsin/media mixture was aspirated off and then cell pellet was re- suspended in the appropriate volume of 10% FCS either 2mls for 60mm dishes or and 1ml for 35mm. Fresh dishes were prepared, the number and size would depend on the intention of the experiments, adding 2mls of 10% FCS to each of 60mm dish or 1ml to each of 35mm dishes. The cells suspension was then added into the prepared dishes and the cultures incubated at 37°C. This is described as day 0 and dishes were placed in the incubator overnight. The next day, the cells were checked for their confluency, healthiness and sign of any bacterial and fungal contamination.

3.6 General cell culture for maintenance of stock cells

For sub-culturing, 90mm culture dish was taken from incubator and check for confluency and heathiness and sign of bacteria and fungal contamination. Once they became confluence, spent medium was aspirated off. The dishes were washed twice with Hank balanced salt solution (4mls) and then 2mls Trypsin/EGTA was added. The dishes were transferred onto 37°C hot plate or in incubator for 5minutes. The cells were normally float off from the dish.The cells need to be scrapped off if they are firmly attached to dish. 4mls of 10% FCS was added into dishes to neutralised the trypsin and suspension were then transferred into a universal tube using a plastic pastette. The cells were counted using a cell counter and then centrifuged at 900rpm for 5 minutes. The trypsin/media mixture was aspirated off and then cell pellet was re- suspended in the appropriate volume of 10% FCS 2mls for each 90mm dish. Fresh dishes were prepared and 5mls of 10% FCS were added to each of 90mm dish. The cells suspension was then added into the prepared dishes and the cultures incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2. On the next day, cells were checked for confluency and heathiness. Media (10%FCS) was changed every 2 to 3 days.

3.7 Cryopreservation and resurrection

The dishes were washed twice with Hank balanced salt solution (4mls) and then 2mls Trypsin/EGTA was added. The dishes were transferred onto 37°C hot plate or in incubator for 5minutes. The cells were normally float off from the dish. The cells need to be scrapped off if they are firmly attached to dish. 4mls of 10% FCS was added into dishes to neutralised the trypsin and suspension were then transferred into a universal tube using a plastic pastette. The cells were then centrifuged at 900rpm for 5 minutes. The trysin/media mixture was aspirated off and then the pellets were re-suspended in 1ml freeze mix (10% DMSO/40% FCS/50% media) for each of cryovials. The vials were then stored in -80°C.

For resuscitation of cells, cryovials were put in 37°C water baths to defrost. At the same time 90mm dishes were prepared by adding 5mls of 10% FCS. Cryovial became warm within few mins in the water bath. Once the cells defrosted, the cells were poured into cluture dishes (1 dish for 1 vial) and then incubated overnight. Next day, when the cells

are fully attached, the medium was changed. All the procedure were written in cell culture log book.

3.8 Scatter assay

Scatter assay is a simple low-cost method used to investigate the cell morphology and individual migration of the cells. The cells were first passaged and plated at 1×10^5 per dish and allowed to attach until it reach to mid confluency. The cells were serum starve overnight. Next day, different concentration of growth factors and inhibitors were added into the dishes. The photographs were taken at appropriate time out to monitor the cell morphology and migration of the cells. Detail step by step procedure for each of the experiments were described in 4.3.2

3.9 Definition of epithelial characteristic characteristics



Figure 3.1 Epithelial shape cells- note the closely connected cells with cuboidal shape

3.10 Definition of mesenchymal characteristic characteristics

As seen in Figure 3.2:



Figure 3.2 Mesenchymal shape cells- note the green line indicates loosely connected cells with and elongated shape.

3.11 Scratch assay

Scratch assay is a simple low-cost method which is used to measure the differences in cell migration rates between treated and untreated cells. The cells were seeded at 1x10⁵per dish. Once the cells reached 90% to 100% confluence. They were put into serum free and left overnight. Next day, the scratch line was made by using white pipette tip. The dishes were washed with serum free for two times to remove the debris. Different concentration of growth factors and inhibitors were added into the dishes. Photographs were taken at appropriate time point. Detail step by step procedure for experiment was describes in 4.3.3.

3.12 Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence is a technique using specific antibodies and antigens conjugated to fluorescent dyes which allows visualization of the distribution of the target molecule inside the cell or tissue (Cell signal, 2019).

Cells are grown on plastic tissue culture dishes and incubated in test conditions. The first step is cell fixation. After the pre-requisite time the cells to be analysed need to undergo fixation. The dishes containing the test cells were washed with PBS and then fixed with ice-cold methanol for 20 minutes. After that, the dishes were washed with PBS 3 times for 5 minutes during which time each dish was placed on an orbital shaker. Then each dish was washed with 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 minutes (placing dish on orbital shaker). The dishes were washed a further 3 times with PBS for 5 minutes and each time placed on an orbital shaker. After that a number of circles were drawn onto an area of the dish using an immuno pen.

The second step is known as blocking. The circles had a few hundred µl of 5% Normal serum/PBS-T (TBS+ 0.1% Tween 20) placed onto them (enough to cover the circle and for it to not dry out) at room temperature for 60 minutes. After 60 minutes the blocking buffer was removed and circled area was incubated with primary antibody in a humidified chamber (in the fridge, 4°C) overnight. The best temperature was set 4°C. Note the primary and secondary antibody is diluent was 5% normal serum in PBS-T (PBS+0.1% Tween 20). The next morning, the dishes were equilibrated to room temperature for 60 minutes. The dishes were then rinsed with PBS gently and then washed with PBS. Secondary antibody was added to the circled areas and dishes were kept in a humidified chamber for 1 to 2 hours. After that dishes were then washed gently

with PBS. And then washed again with PBS. Dishes were mounted with DPX and coverslips before examination under microscope and stored in the dark cold room at 4°C.

3.13 Example of weak, moderate and strong staining (Figure **3.3**)

The three photomicrographs below are examples of the staining described in the results chapters. The upper picture is weak staining, the middle picture is moderate and the bottom picture is strong staining.

Figure 3.3: Example of staining patterns

Top is weak staining, Middle panel is medium staining and bottom panel is strong staining.



3.14 Cell lysis

In order to lyse the dishes, ice trays were prepared. One tablet of Protease and one tablet of phosphatase inhibitor were put into 10ml RIPA buffer and put it on the ice tray for few minutes until it dissolved. Placed the cell culture dishes on the ice. Dishes were washed with ice cold PBS. Then aspirate PBS and add ice cold lysis buffer (0.5ml per dish) for 10 minutes on ice tray. The cells were than scraped with cell scraper and transfer the cell lysate into label microcentrifuge tube. The tubes were stored in the fridge.

3.15 Protein assay -Pierce BCA protein Assay Kit (23225)

It is used to determine the concentration of protein in solution. Copper (Cu2⁺) salt was utilized in this method to cuprous state by proteins. The Cu2⁺ion form an intense coloured complex with bicinchninic acid reagent. Intensity of colour is proportionate with amount of protein in the sample. 96 well plate was used in this experiment with Standards were in triplicate and samples were either duplicate or triplicate. Lysate samples were defrosted and Needle and syringe were used to break down the gelation of lysate samples. Lysates samples were spun for 5minutes (1200rpm) in bench top microfuge and supernatants were used. Standards were made up as follows and Diluent was RIPA buffer.

Preparation of Diluted Albumin (BSA) Standards

Table3.4 Preparation of Diluted Albumin (BSA) Standards

| Vial | Volume of | Volume and | Final BSA |
|------|-----------|--------------------|----------------------|
| VIdi | volume of | volume and | |
| | Diluent | source of BSA(μL) | concentration(µg/ml) |
| А | 0 | 300 of stock | 2000 |
| В | 125 | 375 of stock | 1500 |
| С | 325 | 325 of stock | 1000 |
| D | 175 | 175 of vial B | 750 |
| | | dilution | |
| E | 325 | 325 of vial C | 500 |
| | | dilution | |
| F | 325 | 325 of viral E | 250 |
| | | dilution | |
| G | 325 | 325 of viral F | 125 |
| | | dilution | |
| Н | 400 | 100 of viral G | 25 |
| | | dilution | |
| 1 | 400 | 0 | 0= Blank |

Dilution scheme for Standard Test Tube Protocol and microplate procedure (working

range= 20-2,000µg/ml).

25µl of standards and samples were pipetted into appropriate wells according to plan. BCA working reagent was made by mixing 50 parts BCA reagent A with 1 part of reagent B.

Total volume WR required= (no of standard+ no of unknown) x (number of replicate) x (volume of WR sample).

200µl of working reagent were added into wells. The plate was put on the shaker for 30 seconds. The plate was wrapped in cellophane and then incubate for 2hrs at 37'C. The plate was cool to room temperature for 10-20 minutes before reading on OPTIMA plate reader.

3.16 SDS PAGE

SDS PAGE is a technique used to separate proteins present in cell lysates according to their sizes. Prior to SDS PAGE, the cell lysates and loading buffer which contain SDS and 2 Mercaptoethanol were denatured by heating at 95 degree Celsius water bath. Heating allows denaturing of the proteins and loss its 3D structures. SDS is anionic detergent which bind to denatured protein. The proteins are migrated according to the size. Magic marker XP from Invitrogen were run for reference to estimate the protein fraction. The separated proteins were transferred into nitrocellulose membrane or PVDF by western blot. Different antibodies were used to probe the specific proteins.

The procedures were described as follows:

Mini-Protean Precast Gel (TGX) set up overview

10 % gels which fractionate proteins between 30 and 150kDa Biorad TGX precast gels.

First is to remove the comb by pushing the ridges of the comb with two thumbs. Then the orientation is of the wells were checked and correct with disposable pipette if it has dis alignment. Then remove the Green tape at the bottom of cassette. The wells were then rinse with TGS running buffer. Cassette were then assembling into the running module of mini PROTEAN system. TGS running buffer were prepared by diluting 10x stock to 1x (100ml with 900 ml of distilled water). Then TGF running buffer was added to inner and outer chambers of the electrophoresis tank.

For SDS-PAGE, cell lysates were thawed and spun at 13,000 rpm for 5 minutes. Suitable amount of sample were aliquot into labelled 500µl Eppendorf tube. Samples were then mixed with appropriate volume of loading buffer including 5% (v/v) 2 – mercaptoethanol. Samples were then heated at 95'C in a water bath for 5 minutes then centrifuge briefly. Samples were loaded onto wells which fractionate proteins between 30 and 150kDa Biorad TGX precast gels. Gels were then connected to a power pack set at the voltage of 150V (which may be increase to 180-200V in the middle of running depend on the current) and run for approximately 40-45 minutes. The electrophoresis was continued until the blue line reach line reaches the black line at the bottom of the cassette. Then power was turn off, disconnect the gel rig, remove the cassettes and the running buffer was pour into the sink.

After removing the gels gently from the cassette they were placed into distilled water and viewed under the UV of gel doc machine to know whether it is transfer properly. Then gels were placed into transfer buffer.

3.17 Western blot

Western blot is a method used to transfer the proteins bands from SDS-PAGE onto a membrane using an electric current. After transfer, the non-specific binding sites on the blot were blocked by incubation in blocking buffer. The immobilised bands were then probed with specific antibodies against the target proteins (primary antibodies). The primary antibody was then added and labelled with the enzymes horse radish peroxide for visualisation. The substrate was added to the enzyme HRP generating chemiluminescene in in order to locate the antibody. Protocol for western blotting are described as follow.

After SDS-PAGE, the low fluorescence PVDF membrane was cut into appropriate size enough to cover the gel and marked with pencil for orientation. Then PVDF was soaked into methanol for 30 seconds then placed in transfer buffer. BioRad extra thick paper was cut into two pieces, slightly bigger than gel size. Then placed into transfer buffer. BioRad extra thick paper was placed on the centre of the electrode. Then PVDF was placed on top of think paper. Acrylamide gel was placed carefully on the top of PVDF. Then covered with remaining BioRad thick paper. Roller was used to eliminate air bubbles between layers. Then run at a constant voltage of 15V for 42 minutes. Blocking buffer (1% w/v dried milk or 5% BSA depend on primary antibody in 1x TBST) was prepared and incubated with the blots for 10 to 30 minutes. Blots were then incubated with primary antibody anti E-cadherin(1:1000), anti-Vimentin(1:1000), antiEGFR(1:1000), anti-P44/42MAPK(Erk1/2)Antibody(1:2000), anti-phospho p44/42 MAPK(Erk1/2)(Thr202/Tyr204)(1:2000), anti-phospho -akt(Ser473)(1:2000) for overnight. Maintained the temperature according to manufactures instructions. Antibody solutions were rinsed off with 1xTBST. Then blots were washed three times in 1x TBST, 20 minutes per wash. The blots were incubated with goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:2000) in blocking buffer on orbital shaker at room temperature for an hour. Blots were then washed 2 times in 1xTBST 20 minutes per wash. Rinsed the blot thoroughly with 1xTBST and then 1xTBS for 5 minutes and transferred into clean vessel. Developed the blot with 3.5ml of each reagent of the chemiluminescent substrate: BioRad Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Incubate for 5 minutes. Chemiluminescence was detect by using GelDoc system. Chapter 4: To study the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGFα on proliferation, morphology and the migration of head and neck cancer cell lines using changes in cell shape as a marker of Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we investigated cell proliferation, morphology changes (EMT), and cell migration. Each of these was measured by using an automated cell counter, a scatter assay, and scratch assay respectively in the presence and absence of treatment with EGF and TGF α .

4.1.1 Proliferation

One of the hallmarks of cancer is the overproduction of growth factors (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Cell proliferation is a normal process in which an increase in cell numbers is the result of cell growth and cell division. In a normal healthy individual cell proliferation is balanced. This means that as cells become worn out they are replaced and there is no overall increase in the total. In contrast, the cell proliferation rate can be increased in cancer leading to an overall increase in the number of cells that are present in tissues. This has implications on cell blood supply and the amount of nutrients within a tissue and also the removal of waste products. One of the major factors in any tumour growth is interaction of growth factors with cellular receptors. The EGFR family of receptors has been implicated in a large number of tumour situations (Salomon et al., 1995). In fact, in breast cancer EGFR status is part of the diagnosis of the cancer (Milanezi et al., 2008). It has been reported that EGFR could be used either as a prognostic factor in HNSCC (Bossi et al., 2016). Data in this paper also suggested that ligands of the receptor may also be factors that can be used as prognostic markers. TGF α and EGF are two of a family of ligands that bind to EGFR (Roskoski, 2014). Experimental data indicates that these growth factors have an effect on cellular proliferation. However, this data is cell and tissue dependent.

Cell proliferation is a major important part of cancer development and progression (Schafer, 1998). Assessing cell proliferation is one of the fundamental research areas in medicine. There are various ways to determine the cell proliferation such as measuring cell number, DNA synthesis (BrdU, EdU), cellular metabolism (MTT, WST01), proliferation proteins (Ki-67, PCNA, MCM-2).

4.1.2 EMT and migration

The majority of cancer deaths are caused by metastasis of tumour cells to secondary sites (Chaffer & Weinberg, 2011). Metastasis is defined as the spread of a cancer from the primary site to other parts of the body. Cell migration is a pivotal process in metastasis. Cancer cells degrade the extracellular matrix and basement membrane, break through surrounding tissue, enter blood or lymphatic stream, attach at a new site and grow into a secondary tumour mass(Guan X, 2015). Cancer cells have the ability to breakdown cell to cell adhesion and cell to extracellular matrix adhesion. These adhesions are broken down by secretion of substances collectively known as matrix degrading enzymes (usually ascribed to a family of proteins known as Matrix Metalloproteases MMP'S) which degrade both the ECM and the basement membrane. Loss of cell to cell adhesion allows the cancer cells to dissociate from the primary tumour. Therefore these cells become individual cells so they can change shape and migrate by the loss of cell to matrix adhesion the cells will be able to invade the surrounding stroma(Manzanares & Horwitz, 2011). For this to occur there is a downregulation of E-cadherin leading to a break down in cadherin- catenin link(Hajra& Fearon, 2002).

Epithelial cell shape plays an important role in a tissue. In the oral mucosa they form a barrier to keep important molecules in the body and invasive bacteria and other things

out. However, when it all goes wrong this barrier can break down and the cells can invade into the outlying area. To migrate away from this area the cells need to break down the tight cell-cell junctions and be able to move to distant sites. One theory is that this occurs by epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT). Normal epithelial cells grown in tissue culture grow as tight colonies but once the cells undergo EMT they have a more fibroblastic phenotype (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 EMT a) Epithelial cells- HaCaT are typical epithelial cells when grown in culture as tight colonies- blue arrow. They are a regular shape. b) Epithelial cell line (EMT6-picture provided by Dr I Ellis) a cell line that has undergone EMT- cells do not grow in tight colonies and have irregular shape (red arrow) and different projections (yellow arrows). 80X magnification

EMT is the process by which cells transform from closely connected cuboidal shaped epithelial colony to a more elongated motile mesenchymal shape (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). EMT is reversible process and can be found in both normal and disease conditions (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). EMT is the initial first step in cancer cell migration, invasion and metastasis. Invasion and metastasis is another hall mark of cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Growth factors such as EGF, TGF α , FGF, HGF, bone morphogenesis proteins (BMPs), and extracellular matrix such as, collagen, hyaluronic acid (HA), as well as chronic inflammation and hypoxia are known to induce EMT (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006). It has also been reported that cells undergoing EMT have stem cell like characteristics and are resistant to therapy. The restoration of E-cadherin can increase the sensitivity to EGFR-inhibitors (Mani *et al.*, 2008, Singh & Settleman, 2010).

One of the indications of EMT are the changes in the so-called markers of EMT. These markers are described in detail in the introduction (Chapter 1.34). EMT induces the down-regulation of epithelial markers such as E-Cadherin, Z0-1, Desmoplakin, cytokeratins, occudin and the upregulation of mesenchymal markers such as vimentin, N-cadherin, integrins $\alpha\nu\beta6$, Fibronectin, FOXC2 (Neilson & Zeisberg, 2009, Lee JM, 2006). One of the most studied areas is the down regulation of the epithelial marker E-cadherin and the subsequent up regulation of the mesenchymal marker vimentin which have been reported in both EMT and cancer metastasis (Neilson & Zeisberg, 2009, Nijkamp et al., 2011). E-cadherin is a calcium dependent adhesion molecule which links actin cytoskeleton through interaction with catenins. The cadherin-catenin complex plays an important role in the adherens junction which are essential for the homeostasis of epithelial tissues (Pećina-Slaus, 2003). In contrast, vimentin is an intermediate filament (IF) protein expressed primarily by mesenchymal cells. Vimentin is important for maintaining the cells integrity via the cytoskeleton, orienting microtubules, morphological changes and the migration of cells (Liu *et al.*, 2015, Mendez *et al.*, 2010). Dysregulation in EGFR signalling has been reviewed with cancer cell proliferation, migration, invasion and metastasis, resistance to apoptosis (Wee & Wang 2017, Ohnishi et al., 2017, Lu et al., 2001, Andl et al., 2004).

There are two types of cancer cell migration. Individual cell migration and collective cell migration. The contrast between collective cell migration where cells move as groups or sheets (Figure 4.2 a, b) and individual cell movement where cells need to break contacts and move individually is quite stark (Figure 4.3 a, b) (Friedl, 2009). Collective cells movement follows three principles in that cells remain: 1) attached both physically and functionally. 2) The polarity causes the actin filaments to generate traction. 3) The cells are able to modify the tissue in their path (Friedl, 2009).



Figure 4.2 collective cell migration: *HSG cells plated onto the surface of a plastic tissue culture dish were grown to confluency. They surface was scratched and the migration noted after 24 hours. Note the gap has narrowed No single cell are visible in the gap so we surmise that the cells have moved as a collective a) HSG cells in time 0, b) HSG cells after 24 hours (Magnification:200x)*

In individual cell migration, cells to cell contacts are lost with and there is the formation of ameboid or mesenchymal phenotype (Figure 4.3 a. and b). Cell produce different types of extensions when they migrate: Filopodia (finger like projection), lamellipodia (broad like protrusion), podosomes and invadopodia are cellular protrusion which forms at the edge of migrating cells (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 4.3 Cell scattering : HSG cells plated onto the surface of a plastic tissue culture dish were grown to 50% confluency. EGF 50ng/ml was added into the dish. After 48 hours, the cells became scattering with some projection appeared. a) HSG cells in serum free, b) HSG cells in EGF 50ng/ml (200X magnification)

Using the Scatter assay it should be important to reflect on the different types of cell movement. In this assay the cells start as a colony and appear to reduce the cell-cell contacts as they move. They move as individual cells moving away from the colony.

4.2 Aim and hypothesis

The study in this Chapter of the thesis will investigate the addition of the growth factors EGF and TGF α to head and neck cell lines and measure their response of cells in terms of proliferation, EMT like morphology changes, and migration.

Pilot experiments were done in author master thesis to test suitability of assays(Thwe A,2015).

Previous work in this laboratory using a limited number of concentrations of EGF and TGF α (1 and 10ng/ml) indicated that they had no effect on the proliferation of a cancer cell line (TYS) and a normal oral mucosa stromal cell line (MM1). The aim of this part of the study was to investigate the role of a wider range of concentrations of the growth factors on cell proliferation. The working hypothesis was that neither growth factor would stimulate the proliferation of these cell lines.

The literature has suggested that EGF can stimulate the morphological change in cell shape that is consistent with EMT. Our aim is investigate changes in morphology and migration in response to EGF and TGF α . Our hypothesis is that both growth factors will stimulate morphology changes and migration.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Experimental details using Automated cell counter

Cells were sub-cultured as described in chapter3 (3.5). Once the dish (35mm or 60mm) was decided upon would ascertain how the dishes were prepared. The trypsin/media mixture was aspirated off and then cell pellet was re- suspended in the appropriate volume of 10% FCS either 2mls for 60mm dishes or and 1ml for 35mm. Fresh dishes were prepared, the number and size would depend on the intention of the experiments, adding 2mls of 10% FCS to each of 60mm dish or 1ml to each of 35mm dishes. The cells suspension was then added into the prepared dishes and the cultures incubated at 37°C.

In the initial pilot experiment the cells were first passaged and then plated at an initial density of 5×10^4 density. However, due to wanting to investigate cell proliferation over a greater number of days an initial pilot study was performed using the AZA1 cell line. This involved plating cells at an initial density of 5×10^3 , 1×10^4 , 2×10^4 , 2.5×10^4 and 5×10^4 and counting the cells on Day 1-5. In later experiments, it was changed into 2.5×10^4 (Figure 4.4) indicates that this density was the best for cell proliferation assays due to normal growth phases (lag phase, log phase and saturation density). Cells were passaged and then plated onto 35 mm dishes and this is described as day 0 and dishes were placed in the incubator overnight. The next day, the cells were checked for their confluency, healthiness and sign of any bacterial and fungal contamination. Medium was prepared for each of the test condition (1ng/ml, 10ng/ml, and 50ng/ml) of both EGF and TGF α in serum free medium.



Figure 4.4 The AZA1 cell line was plated at different densities $(5x10^3, 1x10^4, 2x10^4, 2.5x 10^4)$ and $5x 10^4$ onto 35mm dishes in 10% FCS. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions (1% FCS) the following day. Cell number was determined by cell counting by using automated cell counter. The data shown is from a plating density of $2.5x10^4$ cells. This shows a typical growth curve to a saturation density of around $1.3x10^5$ cells. Separate experiments were performed for each plating density data not shown here.

The control was 1% FCS. Medium was changed into the test condition on day 1 and a base line count was performed on day 1. Overlay was changed day 3 or day 4. At first the experiment was set for 3 days. However, data from the pilot experiment enabled us to change to 5 days cell count. In order to count the cells, the cells were first trypsinized for 5 mins. Then pipette 10μ I of the cell suspension into chamber of cell counting slide. While loading the sample, the pipet tip was placed 45° angle at the bottom of loading area. And then simply inserting the slide into slide slot of instrument. Within 30 seconds cells number was be appear on screen. After recording the cells number, slides could be taken out.

4.3.2 Experimental details for scatter assay

Cells were sub-cultured as described in the General method Chapter 3 (3.5, 3.6)

Once the dish (35mm or 60mm) was decided upon would ascertain how the dishes were prepared. The trypsin/media mixture was aspirated off and then cell pellet was resuspended in the appropriate volume of 10% FCS either 1.5mls for 60mm dishes or and 1ml for 35mm. Fresh dishes were prepared, the number and size would depend on the intention of the experiments, adding 2mls of 10% FCS to each of 60mm dish or 1ml to each of 35mm dishes. The cells suspension was then added into the prepared dishes and the cultures incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂. On the next day, the cells were serum sterve for 24 hours before addition of (1ng/ml,10ng/ml,50ng/ml) of EGF and (1ng/ml,10ng/ml,50ng/ml) of TGF α . The cells were monitored for 48hours. The photomicrographs were taken at appropriate time. Results were summerized in section 4.5.2 (figure 4.13).

4.3.3 Experimental detail for scratch assay

The cells were seeded at 1×10^{-5} per dish. Once the cells reached 90% to 100% confluence, they were put into serum free and left overnight. After 24 hours, the scratch line was made by using white pipette tips (which is the smallest one). The dishes were washed with serum free for two times to remove the debris and then added test condition of EGF(1ng/ml,10ng/ml,50ng/ml) and TGF α (1ng/ml,10ng/ml,50ng/ml). Serum free is used as control. The cells were monitored for 48 hours. Photographs were taken at appropriate time points.

4.3.4 Experimental detail for Immunofluorescence

After the scatter assay, dished used in the scatter assay were fixed, washed and then blocked with Ecadherin and Vimentin antibodies with dilution 1:200 and 1:50 respectively as described in chapter3 (3.12). Once it finished photographs were captured the areas inside circled areas and recorded.

4.3.5 Experimental detail for Protein assay, SDS PAGE and Western blot

The four cell lines were grown to confluence, treated with the respective growth factors for 24 hours and then the cells lysed (as described in Chapter 3(3.14). Protein assay, SDS PAGE and Western blot were performed with Ecadherin and Vimentin antibodies as described in Chapter 3(3.15,3.16,3.17).

4.4 Results

The results part of the chapter are split into the effect of the growth factors EGF/TGFα on proliferation, scattering/morphology changes, migration/gap closure, localisation of markers/immunofluorescence/SDS-PAGE/Western blotting into a number of different sections:

4.4.1 Proliferation rates of the 4 cells lines as determined by automated cell counter

Cells proliferate at different rates depending on their origin, growth factor receptor expression and availability of resources within the cell. The cell lines used in this study were from a number of different sources. They all had characteristics of being epithelial in nature. However, they obtained from different sites of the oral cavity. The HaCaT cell line is from skin and so not directly from the oral cavity but they come from a stratified squamous phenotype origin and can grow this way in culture.

The experimental pilot indicated that the AZA1 cell line grew in such a way as to follow classic cell biological standard in that Figure 4.4 has an initial plating density, a lag phase, log phase and a saturation density. It is interesting to note that the 3 cancer cell lines used have a very standard saturation density whilst the HaCaT cell line was lower.

| Cell lines | Saturation density for |
|------------|------------------------|
| | 1%FCS |
| HSG | 2x10 ⁵ |
| AZA1 | 2x10 ⁵ |
| TYS | 1.8x10 ⁵ |
| НаСаТ | 1x10 ⁵ |

Table 4.1 saturation density for each cell line

Cell proliferation studies monitored the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGF α upon each. As described in the methods section we originally determined a plating density of 2.5 x10⁴ cells per dish was best for a 5 days growth curve. Cells were plated at this density and allowed to attach overnight. After an initial count the medium was changed into the test conditions. Cell number was determined over the next four days using an automated cell counter. For ease of understanding the data is presented in two different formats. The first Figure breaks down the graphs into each growth factor (*e.g.* Figure 4.5) across the days and the second Figure puts all the data on two graph so that we can compare the effect each factor has on that proliferation (*e.g.* Figure 4.6 A and B).

Data is presented in Figure 4.5 for the cancer cell line HSG. This cell was originally isolated from the collecting duct of an irradiated human salivary gland. The data shows each individual growth conditions and Figure 4.6 A and B then grouped on two graphs. The data indicates that for the HSG cell line the cells reach a saturation density at around

2x10⁵ cells for 1% FCS. However, addition of the growth factors indicates lower growth and a lower saturation density (Figure 4.6). This finding is inconsistent over a number of experiments.

Data is presented in Figure 4.7 for AZA1 cells. This cell was originally HSG cells treated with 5-Azacytidine. The data shows each individual growth condition and Figure 4.8 (A and B) then grouped on two graphs. The data indicates that for AZA1 cells, the cells also reach a saturation density at around $2x10^5$ cells for 1% FCS. In contrast, addition of growth factors reduce growth and a lower saturation density (Figure.4.8).

Data is presented in Figure 4.9 for TYS cells. This cell was derived from floor of the mouth. The data shows each individual growth condition and Figure 4.10 (A and B) then grouped on two graphs. The data indicates that for TYS cells, the cells also reach a saturation density at around 1.8x10⁵ cells for 1% FCS. However, addition of growth factors reduce growth and lower saturation density (Figure 4.10).

Data is presented in figure 4.11 for HaCaT cells. HaCaT cell was derived from skin. The data shows each individual growth condition and figure 4.12(A and B) then grouped on two graphs. The data indicates that for HaCaT cells, the cells reach a saturation density at around 1.5x 10^5 for 50ng/ml EGF and 50ng/ml TGF α . In contrast, 1%FCS, 1ng/ml EGF, 10ng/ml EGF, 1ng/ml TGF α , 10ng/ml TGF α reduce growth and a lower saturation density 1.3x 10^5 (Figure 4.12).







Figure 4.5 The HSG cell line was plated at an initial 2.5 x10⁴ cells onto 35mm dishes in 10%FCS. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars. (A= 1%FCS; B=1ng/ml EGF,C=10ng/ml EGF, D= 50ng/ml EGF,E=1ng/ml TGFα,F=10ng/ml TGFα, G=50ng/ml TGFα)



Figure 4.6 A HSG cell proliferation data group for EGF:



Figure 4.6 B HSG proliferation data grouped for TGFα:

The HSG cell line was plated at 2.5x10⁴ onto 35mm dishes in 10% FCS etc. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars.









Figure 4.7: The AZA1 cell line was plated at an initial 2.5×10^4 cells onto 35mm dishes in 10%FCS. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars. (A= 1%FCS; B=1ng/ml EGF,C=10ng/ml EGF,D=50ng/ml EGF,E=1ng/ml TGF α ,F=10ng/ml TGF α ,G=50ng/ml TGF α


Figure 4.8 A AZA1 proliferation data grouped for EGF:



Figure 4.8 B AZA1 proliferation data grouped for TGFα:

The AZA1 cell line was plated at 2.5×10^4 onto 35mm dishes in 10% FCS etc. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions (1%FCS, 1ng/ml EGF, 10ng/ml EGF, 50ng/ml EGF, 1ng/ml TGF α , 10ng/ml TGF α , 50ng/ml TGF α) the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars.





Figure 4.9: The TYS cell line was plated at an initial 2.5×10^4 cells onto 35mm dishes in 10%FCS. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as error bars. (A= 1%FCS; B=1ng/ml EGF,C=10ng/ml EGF,D=50ng/ml EGF,E=1ng/ml TGF\alpha,F=10ng/ml TGF\alpha,G=50ng/ml TGF\alpha



Figure 4.10 A TYS proliferation data grouped for EGF:



Figure 4.10 B TYS proliferation data grouped for TGFα:

The TYS cell line was plated at 2.5×10^4 onto 35mm dishes in 10% FCS etc. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions (1%FCS, 1ng/ml EGF, 10ng/ml EGF, 50ng/ml EGF, 1ng/ml TGF α , 10ng/ml TGF α , 50ng/ml TGF α) the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars.



Figure 4.11 HaCaT proliferation data:



Figure4.11: The HaCaT cell line was plated at an initial 2.5×10^4 cells onto 35mm dishes in 10%FCS. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of four separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars A= 1%FCS; B=1ng/ml EGF, C=10ng/ml EGF,D=50ng/ml EGF,E=1ng/ml TGF α ,F=10ng/ml TGF α ,G=50ng/ml TGF α



Figure 4.12 A HaCaT proliferation data grouped for EGF:



Figure 4.12 B HaCaT proliferation data grouped for TGFa:

The HaCaT cell line was plated at 2.5×10^4 onto 35mm dishes in 10% FCS etc. The cells were allowed to attach overnight and transferred to test conditions (1%FCS, 1ng/ml EGF, 10ng/ml EGF, 50ng/ml EGF, 1ng/ml TGF α , 10ng/ml TGF α , 50ng/ml TGF α) the following day. Cell number was determined by automated cell counter. The data shown is from one of fours separate experiments and the Standard error of the mean is displayed as the error bars.

4.4.2 Cell morphology changes

4.4.2.1 Pilot study to determine optimal plating density, optimal growth factor concentration and time

4.4.2.1.1 Plating density

An initial pilot study using three cell densities was performed (2.5 x10⁴, 1x 10⁵ and 5x 10⁵) the cells plated at low density 2.5 x10⁴ cell dishes (less than 20% confluency on 35mm dishes), required 4 to 6 days after the addition of EGF and TGF α to display a morphological change (Data not show). Cells plated at higher density 1x 10⁵ per dish (30%-50% confluency), only 24 hour to 48 hours were needed to acquire this morphological change. 1x10⁵ per dish was chosen as the best density to do the experiments since it took faster to see the cells change. Cells plated at 5x 10⁵ per dish (90% to 100 % confluence) there was no or very little changes in cell morphology after 48 hours when the growth factors were added (Figure 4.13).



Figure 4.13: The TYS cell line was plated at 5×10^5 per dish (90% confluence) and EGF was added. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of EGF 50ng/ml. The cells have little or no morphological change. In 100% confluence dishes, the cells float off after 48hours.

4.4.2.1.2 Growth factor concentration

A second pilot study using different concentrations of the growth factors was performed. Cells were passaged and plated onto dishes, the dishes were kept in incubator for 24 hours. After 24 hours the medium was aspirated off the dish and serum free-MEM was added for 24 hours. The following day different concentrations of the two growth factors was added (1ng/ml, 10ng/ml and 50ng/ml) with serum free media. 2 ml of media was added to each dish. Results from preliminary experiments found that 1ng/ml (EGF and TGF α) showed little or no changes in cell morphology. 10ng/ml (EGF and TGF α) showed some changes in cell morphology but results were not consistent across a number of dishes. However, 50ng/ml (EGF and TGF α) showed prominent and consistent changes in cell morphology. It was decided that 50ng/ml concentration of each factor was selected to use in the further experiments. Since it induces prominent morphological change in a consistent manner (Figure 4.14). Some of the cells have become rounded and others have projections indicating a possible shift to a mesenchymal phenotype.

| HSG cell line | Serum free | 1ngEGF/ml | 10ngEGF/ml | 50ngEGF/ml |
|---------------|------------|-----------|------------|------------|
| 24 hours | | B | C | D |
| 48 hours | | F C VC | G | H |

Figure 4.14 HSG cell line and effect of growth factor EGF with different dilutions (Serum free, 1ng/ml, 10ng/ml, and 50ng/ml) on two different incubation time (24hours and 48hours). On 24hours time point, 50ng/ml (picture D) cell scattering were observed while rest have similarity to control in term of scattering effect. On 48hours time point, 50ng/ml (picture H) groups showed prominent scattering compared with 24hours. In contrast, morphological changes in 1ng/ml and 10ng/ml were minimum. Pictures were taken at 40x magnification.

4.4.2.2 Study to investigate the effect of the growth factor EGF and TGF α on morphological change HaCaT cells

HaCaT cells are characterised and reported as a normal epithelial cell line, although they do have some peculiarities, in that they produce e-cadherin and no vimentin (Boukamp etal., 1988). In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at a time point of 48 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 4.15. The cells show loosely connected cells with cellular protrusion which is growth factor dependant.



Figure 4.15: HaCaT cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours

i) serum free

ii) 50ngEGF/ml

iii) 50ng TGFα/ml

Figure 4.15: The HaCaT cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) EGF and TGF α were added after colonies had started to form (usually 24 hours). The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hrs of addition of the different growth factors. The cells show loosely connected cells with cellular protrusion which is growth factor dependent.

4.4.2.3 Study to investigate the effect of EGF and TGF α on morphological change TYS cells

TYS cells are characterised and reported as an oral squamous cell carcinoma, although there is some ambiguity in the original report (Yanagawa *et al.,* 1986). In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at a time point of 48 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 4.16. The cells show cellular protrusion and cell scattering which are growth factor dependant.



Figure 4.16: TYS cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours

Figure 4.16: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) EGF and TGF α were added. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hrs of addition of the different growth factors. The cells show cellular protrusion and cell scattering which are growth factor dependent.

4.4.2.4 Study to investigate the effect of the growth factors EGF and TGF α on morphological change of AZA1 cells

AZA1 cells are HSG cells treated with 5-Azacytidine (Shirasuna K *et al.,* 1981).In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^{5} cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at a time point of 48 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 4.17. The cells show cell scattering which is growth factor dependant.



Figure 4.17: The AZA1 cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) EGF and TGF α were added. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hrs of addition of the different growth factors. The cells show cell scattering which is growth factor dependent.

Figure 4.17: AZA1 cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours

4.4.2.5 Study to investigate the effect of the growth factor EGF and TGF α on morphological change HSG cells

HSG cells are characterised and reported as an epithelial duct cell line derived from human salivary gland (Adenocarcinoma of submandibular gland) (Shirasuna K *et al.*, 1981) .In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at a time point of 48 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 4.18. The cells show cell scattering which is growth factor dependant.



Figure 4.18: HSG cells treated with different growth factors for 48 hours

Figure 4.18: The HSG cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) EGF and TGF α were added. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hrs of addition of the different growth factors. The cells show cell scattering which is growth factor dependent.

4.4.3 Scratch assay

4.4.3.1 Pilot experiment to investigate the best time point in the scratch migration assay

The scratch migration assay was used to investigate the difference in cell motility. Early experiments had indicated that the four cell lines had different methods of migrating, either as single cells or as sheets. The HSG cell line and the growth factor EGF were chosen to investigate the best time point for cell migration.

A pilot study using two concentrations of the growth factor (EGF- 1ng and 10ng/ml) was performed(Thwe A,2015). Cells were passaged and plated onto dishes, the dishes kept in the incubator and allowed to grow to confluence. After they were confluent the medium was aspirated off the dish and serum free-MEM was added for 24 hours. The following day the monolayer was scratched using a plastic white tip. After an hour the medium was changed to the test condition different concentrations of the growth factors was added.

Data shown in Figure 4.19 are for different time points of 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours. The results suggested that the best time point was 24 hours.

Scratch assay images showed variable migratory behaviour of different cell lines. Scratch assays of AZA1 cell line showed very little or no migratory response upon treatment with EGF and TGFα. Whereas HaCaT, TYS and HSG were stimulated to migrate in response to EGF and TGFα.

Figure 4.19 Investigation of different time points in the scratch migration assay



A) 2 hours

i)serum free

ii)1ngEGF/ml

B) 4 hours



i)serum free

ii)1ngEGF/ml

C) 6 hours



i) serum free

ii) 1ngEGF/ml

D) 24 hours



i) Serum free

ii)1ngEGF/ml

Figure 4.19: The HSG cell line was plated at 3x 10⁵ per dish (60% confluence) and grown until confluent changing the medium (10%FCS-MEM) every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition (SF-MEM, 1ng/ml EGF and 10ng/ml EGF). They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after the time points above a) is 2 hours, b) is 4 hours, c) is 6 hours and d) is 24 hours.



Figure 4.20: Scratch assay using HaCaT cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours

Figure 4.20: The HaCaT cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish (60% confluence) and grown until confluent changing the medium (10%FCS-MEM) every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition (SF-MEM, 50ng/ml EGF and 50ng/ml TGF α). They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. Photograph showed that HaCaT cell line was stimulated to migrate in response to EGF and TGF α

Figure 4.21: Scratch assay using TYS cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours



Figure 4.21: The TYS cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish (60% confluence) and grown until confluent changing the medium (10%FCS-MEM) every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition (SF-MEM, 50ng/ml EGF and 50ng/ml TGFa). They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. Photograph showed that TYS cell line was stimulated to migrate in response to EGF and TGFa.

Figure 4.22: Scratch assay using HSG cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours



Figure 4.22: The HSG cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish (60% confluence) and grown until confluent changing the medium (10%FCS-MEM) every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition (SF-MEM, 50ng/ml EGF and 50ng/ml TGF α). They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. Photograph showed that HSG cell line was stimulated to migrate in response to EGF and TGF α .



Figure 4.23: Scratch assay using AZA1 cells treated with different growth factors for 24 hours

Figure 4.23: The AZA1 cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish (60% confluence) and grown until confluent changing the medium (10%FCS-MEM) every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition (SF-MEM, 50ng/ml EGF and 50ng/ml TGF α). They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. Photograph showed that AZA1 cell

line was not stimulated to migrate in response to EGF and TGF α .

4.4.4 Changes in Protein expression by cancer cell lines in response to growth factors

The four cell lines were investigated in respect of the expression of being epitheliumlike (E-Cadherin) or mesenchyme-like (vimentin) and how the growth factors EGF and TGFα may change this in terms of EMT. The experiments undertaken to investigate this were immunoflourescence or SDS-PAGE/Western blotting. In the following experiments only changes in expression in response to the growth factors were investigated.

Data presented in Figure 4.24 for the HaCaT cell line indicated that all the cells expressed strong level (as described in chapter3)of E-cadherin and it was mainly visualised on the cell membrane. The response to the growth factors indicated that with EGF some cells appeared to stain less well for E-cadherin. However, less change was noted with TGF α . Vimentin staining did not appear to be present in the HaCaT cell line even when the growth factors were added.

Data presented in Figure 4.25 for the TYS cell line indicated that all the cells expressed both E-cadherin and vimentin at moderate level. E-cadherin was mainly visualised on the cell membrane while Vimentin was visualised in the whole cells. There was no obvious difference between serum free and growth factor treated conditions

Dat presented for Figure 4.26 for the AZA1 cell line indicated that little or no E-cadherin expression while Vimentin was highly expressed in certain area. For vimentin, both membranous expression and diffuse expression was found in photographs.

Data presented in Figure 4.27 for the HSG cells line also indicated that little or no Ecadherin expression while Vimentin was highly expressed in certain area. In compared with previous cell lines, only diffuse vimentin expression was found in HSG cells. Figure 4.24: HaCaT cell line: Expression of markers of EMT (E-cadherin and vimentin) and visualised with immunoflourescent secondary antibody. The cells response to growth factors.



ii) seum free:Vimentin



iii)50ngEGF/ml:E cadherin



- v) TGFα50ng/ml: E-Cadherin
- vi) TGFα50ng/ml:Vimentin



Figure 4.24: The HaCaT cell line was plated at $1x \ 10^5$ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added. After 48 hours in test conditions the cells were fixed and stained as described in the materials and Methods. Photomicrographs were taken at 200x magnification.

Figure 4.25: TYS cell line: Expression of markers of EMT (E-cadherin and vimentin) and visualised with immunoflourescent secondary antibody. The cells response to growth factors

i)serum free: Ecadherin

iii) 50ngEGF: Ecadherin



v)50ngTGFa:Ecadherin

ii)serum free:Vimentin

iv) 50ngEGF:Vimentin



vi)50ng TGFa:Vimentin



Figure 4.25: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added. After 48 hours in test conditions the cells were fixed and stained as described in the materials and Methods.

Photomicrographs were taken at 200x magnification.

Figure 4.26: AZA1 cell line: Expression of markers of EMT (E-cadherin and vimentin) and visualised with immunoflourescent secondary antibody. The cells response to growth factors.



iii)50ngEGF:Ecadherin



ii)serum free:Vimentin



iv)50ng EGF:Vimentin



v)50ng TGFa:Ecadherin



vi)50ngTGFa/ml





Figure 4.26: The AZA1 cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added. After 48 hours in test conditions the cells were fixed and stained as described in the materials and Methods.

Photomicrographs were taken at 200x magnification.

Figure 4.27 HSG cell line: Expression of markers of EMT (E-cadherin and vimentin) and visualised with immunoflourescent secondary antibody. The cells response to growth factors.



iii) 50ng EGF:Ecadherin

ii) serum free: Vimentin



iv)50ng EGF:vimentin



v) 50ng TGFα: Ecadherin

vi) 50ngTGFα: Vimentin



Figure 4.27: The HSG cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added. After 48 hours in test conditions the cells were fixed and stained as described in the materials and Methods. Photomicrographs were taken at 200x magnification.

Data presented in Figure 4.28 is for the expression of different proteins associated with EMT. Vimentin is a marker associated with mesenchymal cells. E cadherin is a marker associate with Epithelial cells. The four cell lines were grown to confluence, treated with the respective growth factors for 24 hours and then the cells lysed (as described in Chapter 3(3.14). Protein assay, SDS and Western blot were performed with Ecadherin and Vimentin antibodies as described in Chapter 3(3.15,3.16,3.17).

Figure 4 .28: SDS-Page and Western blotting of Head and Neck cancer samples

i) Vimentin

SF 1ng 10ng 50ng



Figure 4.28: Western blot experiments for Vimentin (a) and E-Cadherin (b) in the 4 different cell lines with a spectrum of EGF and TGF α concentrations. (a) Vimentin expression in HaCaT, TYS, HSG and AZA1 EGF and TGF α concentrations of 1 ng/ml, 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml. All the cells were treated with the growth factors for 24 hours. (b) E-Cadherin expression in the same cell lines with the same growth concentrations and time as (a).

4.5. Result Summary

4.5.1 Cell proliferation

Table 4.2 Summary for cell proliferation

| Cell lines | Serum | 1ng EGF | 10ng | 50ng | 1ng | 10ng | 50ng |
|------------|-------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| | free | | EGF | EGF | TGFα | TGFα | TGFα |
| HSG | | Little or |
| | | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| | | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect |
| AZA1 | | Little or |
| | | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| | | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect |
| TYS | | Little or |
| | | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| | | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect |
| HacaT | | Little or |
| | | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| | | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect | effect |

(Little or no effect can be defined as + or -10% of the serum free result. This leads to

our understanding that these growth factors have no proliferative effects.)

4.5.2 Cell morphology / single cell migration

Table 4.3 Summary for cell morphology / single cell migration

| Cell lines | Serum free | EGF50ng/ml | TGFα50ng/ml |
|------------|--|---|--|
| НасаТ | Tightly packed colonies, Complete epithelial characteristic. | loosely connected cells with dendritic or spiky projection in some area | loosely connected cells with dendritic or spiky projection in some area |
| TYS | partially transformed into mesenchymal shape. | More mesenchymal shape some with dendritic or spiky projection | More mesenchymal shape dendritic or spiky projection |
| HSG | Epithelial shape colonies | cell scattering, mixture of rounded cells and elongated cell, dendritic or spiky projection in some cells | cell scattering, smaller cells, mixture of rounded cell and elongated cells, dendritic or spiky projection in some cells |

| AZA1 | Epithelial shape colonies | cell scattering, mixture | cell scattering, mixture of |
|------|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | of rounded cells and | rounded cell and |
| | | elongated cells, | elongated |
| | | dendritic or spiky | dendritic or spiky |
| | | projection in some cells | projection in some cells |
| | | | |

4.5.3 Collective Cell migration

Table 4.4. Summary for collective cell migration

| Cell lines | Serum free | EGF50ng/ml | TGFα 50ng/ml |
|------------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| НаСаТ | Visible scratch line | Fully migration, gap | Fully migration, gap |
| | | closure in most area | closure in most |
| | | | area |
| TYS | Visible scratch line | Fully migration, gap | Fully migration, gap |
| | | closure in most area | closure in most |
| | | | area |
| HSG | Visible scratch line | Moderate | Moderate |
| | | migration, visible, | migration, visible, |
| | | gap still visible | gap still visible |
| AZA1 | Visible scratch line | Very little migration | Very little |
| | | | migration |

4.5.4 Immunofluorescence

Table 4.5 Summary for Immunofluorescence

| Cell | Condition | E-cadherin | Vimentin |
|-------|------------|-------------------|------------------------------|
| lines | treated | | |
| HaCaT | Serum free | Strong | Very little or no expression |
| | | expression | |
| | EGF50ng/ml | Strong | Very little or no expression |
| | | expression | |
| | TGFα | Strong | Very little or no expression |
| | 50ng/ml | expression | |
| TYS | Serum free | Moderate | Moderate expression |
| | | expression | |
| | EGF50ng/ml | Moderate | Moderate expression |
| | | expression | |
| | TGFα | Moderate | Moderate expression |
| | 50ng/ml | expression | |
| AZA1 | Serum free | Very little or no | Strong expression |
| | | expression | |
| | EGF50ng/ml | Very little or no | Strong expression |
| | | expression | |

| | TGFα | Very little or no | Strong expression |
|-----|------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| | 50ng/ml | expression | |
| HSG | Serum free | Very little or no | Strong expression |
| | | expression | |
| | EGF50ng/ml | Very little or no | Strong expression |
| | | expression | |
| | TGFα | Very little or no | Strong expression |
| | 50ng/ml | expression | |

4.6 Discussion

In this chapter, effects of EGF and TGF α on proliferation, morphology changes, migration were investigated by a variety of technique.

For proliferation, EGF and TGF α did not increase the cell proliferation.

In contrast, both EGF and TGF α induce EMT like morphological changes and cell migration. Expression of EMT markers E-cadherin and Vimentin were neither increased nor decreased followed by growth factors treatment.

4.6. 1 Proliferation

We have discussed in the introduction that some growth factors induce cellular proliferation. We wanted to investigate whether EGF or TGF α could have similar effect.

Growth curve data in response to both EGF and TGFα indicated that both growth factors had no effect or a negative effect on cell proliferation of epithelial cell lines from the Head and Neck region used in this study. This is an unusual finding. This is an unusual finding in that the established literature suggests that the growth factors both increase the proliferation of epithelial cells (Anchan RM, 1991). The data for the cell growth curve used were in the normal range, 1ng/ml, 10ng/ml, 50ng/ml concentration of both EGF
and TGF α were added into cells plated at 30mm dishes. Cells were counted by using automated cell counter. Data from these experiments found that the results are inconsistent and there is little or no effect of EGF and TGF α on proliferation of HSG, AZA1, HacaT, and TYS cell lines. Earlier work from our laboratory indicated that these growth factors stimulated the proliferation of fibroblast cell lines (Banyard, 1997 PhD thesis). However, very few papers are produced where either no effect or a negative effect of growth factors are reported. One of the few that was found by (Aladib *et al.*,1990) used two of the cell lines used in this Chapter (HSG and AZA1). Their reported findings are consistent with ours. Other projects in the laboratory have also indicated that these growth factors do not stimulate the proliferation of these 4 cell lines. However, these projects used a smaller range of concentrations (1 and 10ng/ml). Here we widened the range but found the same results. Literature also confirm that myoepithelial cells from pleomorphic adenoma (Navarini, 2015) reported that both 5 and 10ng/ml of EGF had no effect on proliferation.

In contrast, TGF α reported to upregulate proliferation of granulosa cell tumour (Cheng Wang, 2012). These results are different from my results. However, these cells are from a different area of the body and under hormonal control which may explain the difference in the findings. Other factors that may make the response to growth factors are the matrix cells are grown on. HSG cells respond differently to growth factors depending on their differentiation state. By growing cells on Matrigel they were found to respond to nerve Growth Factor (NGF) (Zheng *et al.,* 1998, Lam K *et al.,* 2005). It may be that the matrix cells are grown on will influence how they proliferate. Future experiments could investigate the effect of the ECM on the cells response to EGF and TGF α .

Other elements that could influence the effect of growth factors on the cells have been reported by (Johnson *et al.,* 1993). They noted that in certain cell lines the growth factors EGF and TGF α have an inhibitory effect on proliferation due to the presence of endogenous levels of growth factors and EGFR over expression (Johnson *et al.,* 1993). In this study we did not investigate this and it may be an area for future research

This leads to the question that do neither EGF nor TGFα stimulate cell proliferation in tested cell lines or could it be the wrong choice of assay. It was decide in the long run that proliferation of cells was not the long-term goal of the project and that we would concentrate efforts on the motility of the cells used. For proliferation it would be better to confirm using alternative techniques to measure cell proliferation such as MTT or BrDU assays as to whether the growth factors would affect it.

Although the data could be viewed as a negative in terms of proliferation data they provided some useful insight into both the plating and saturation densities of each cell type and the level of growth factor that could be added to the cells in culture.

4.6.2: EMT, single cell migration and collective cell migration

Experimental data from this project support hypothesis of the study. We discovered two types of cancer cell migration. Individual cell migration and collective cell migration. The contrast between collective cell migration where cells move as groups or sheets (Figure 4.29 a, b) and individual cell movement where cells need to break contacts and move individually is quite stark(Figure 4.30 a, b) (Friedl, 2009).Collective cells movement follows three principles in that cells remain: 1) attached both physically and functionally.

2) The polarity causes the actin filaments to generate traction. 3) The cells are able to modify the tissue in their path (Friedl, 2009).



Figure 4.29 collective cell migration: HSG cells plated onto the surface of a plastic tissue culture dish were grown to confluency. They surface was scratched and the migration noted after 24 hours. Note the gap has narrowed No single cell are visible in the gap so we surmise that the cells have moved as a collective a) HSG cells in time 0, b) HSG cells after 24 hours (Magnification:200x).

In individual cell migration, cells to cell contacts are lost with and there is the formation of ameboid or mesenchymal phenotype (Figure 4.30 a and b). Cell produce different types of extensions when they migrate: Filopodia (finger like projection), lamellipodia (broad like protrusion), podosomes and invadopodia are cellular protrusion which forms at the edge of migrating cells (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2005).



а

Figure 4.30 single cell migration: HSG cells plated onto the surface of a plastic tissue culture dish were grown to 50% confluency. EGF 50ng/ml was added into the dish. After 48 hours, the cells became scattering with some projection appeared. a) HSG cells in serum free, b) HSG cells in EGF 50ng/ml (200X magnification).

EGF and TGF α induce morphological changes in all the cell lines but intensity of changes were different with each cell line. In HaCaT cell line, that morphology changes induced by EGF and TGFα treatment is minimum compared with HSG and AZA1 cells line. Cell scattering was not found in HaCaT. There was no complete transformation of EMT in response to EGF and TGF α . In TYS cell line, Introduction of EGF and TGF α induced scattering of some cells, more mesenchymal shape and dendritic projection.

In HSG and AZA1 cell line, scattering of cells was observed after EGF and TGF α treatment.

Ameboid mesenchymal

Figure 4.31 ameboid shape and mesenchymal shape in cell scattering

Cell scattering is the process in which epithelial cells colonies are scatter into an individual cells with mesenchymal like morphology with dendritic or spiky projection. Cell scattering could also regarded as individual cell migration. Cell scatter can be used to detect EMT. Dendritic and spiky projection are also sign of migration

One study found out cell scattering in MCF-7 cells followed by introduction of EGF (KimJ, 2016). Another study also reported cell scattering induced by TGF α treatment (Hasina R, 1999). Results from this project was matched with their finding.

Migration of cells in scratch assay is believed to be collective cell migration. Full closure of scratch line was found in TYS and HacaT cells line. HSG cells migrate across the scratch line while there is no obvious migration of AZA1 cell lines. Combination of two techniques give an idea of cells might use both single cell migration and collective cell migration.

Data from this project support our hypothesis of EGF and TGF α induce EMT and cell migration.

This data also matched with other literatures which stated that EGF and TGF α induce EMT, cell scattering and migration (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006, KimJ, 2016, Hasina R, 1999 Ohnishi *et al.,l* 2017).

4.6.3 Discussion for EMT markers

Theoretically, EGF and TGF α induced EMT in both normal and cancer cell lines. E cadherin (most common epithelial marker) is supposed to be lower in EMT while vimentin (mesenchymal markers) is expected to high (Thiery & Sleeman 2006, Neilson & Zeisberg 2009, Lee JM 2006). Upregulation of E-cadherin expression in cancer is

associated with increase disease free survival (Ren X,2016). In contrast, EMT (down regulation of Ecadherin and upregulation of vimentin) is related with cancer progression (Myong H 2012, Nijkamp et al 2011, Schipper J et al 1991). In fact, EMT is reported to be related with resistance to TKIs (Weng et al., 2019). So, it is important to know E cadherin and Vimentin status of the cells in this project. All the cells lines used in this project were tested with E-cadherin and vimentin antibodies to understand whether the cells epithelial or mesenchymal characteristic by using western blot and are immunofluorescence. Western blot measured the total amount of protein while immunofluorescence localized protein in specific area of the cells. In western blot, we found out HacaT cells line has strong E-cadherin and no vimentin expression making complete epithelial characteristic. In contrast, TYS, HSG and AZA1 showed EMT(no Ecadherin and strong vimentin). This is quite surprising since HSG and AZA1 look morphologically similar to epithelial cells. However, this might be because of these cells were grown in 2D condition. (Royce et al., 1993) reported differentiation of HSG cells on Matrigel. In western blot, there was no change in intensity of E-cadherin and vimentin expression between growth factor treated dishes and control dishes even though EMT like phenotypic changes appeared in growth factor treated dishes. Experimental data like that did not appear to support hypothesis of the study. However, one thing to consider is that cells in this writer's project were lysed after 48 hours when they changed their morphology. Results from other study observed E cadherin level is decreased after 73 hours followed in EGF treated dishes (Kim J, 2016). So, it might be good idea to wait at least 72hrs to measure E-cadherin and vimentin expression in future experiments. In immunofluorescence, we also found out transformed cell lines are low Ecadherin and high vimentin while epithelial cell line has stong Ecadherin with low vimentin expression.

This data is supported by a series of literatures (Thiery & Sleeman 2006, Neilson & Zeisberg 2009, Lee JM 2006). In addition, we also found out, some HaCaT cells in EGF treated dish appeared to stain less well for E-cadherin. There was also Ecadherin internalization in some of the HaCaT cells followed by EGF treatment. These data also matched with other literatures (Kim J 2016, Lu *et al* 2003).

Chapter 5 To investigate the effects of inhibitors on cell scattering, migration and the localisation and expression of signalling molecules in growth factor stimulated head and neck cell lines.

5.1 Introduction

Results in the previous Chapter established that both growth factors stimulate the migration of the tumour cells and appear to work via an EMT-like mechanism. However, it is may not be the only mechanism that the cells use. How that mechanism is initiated and controlled is the essence of the work in this following chapter. It is known that the inhibition of certain pathways can be used in cancer therapies. Work in this Chapter will focus around the receptor for both growth factors EGFR and will investigate using "off the shelf" inhibitors.

5.1.1 Background

The receptor EGFR is a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor which belongs to EGFR/ErbB family (Roskoski 2014, Salomon *et al.*, 1995). It has been reported that EGFR is overexpressed in 80% to 90% of head and neck cancer (Kalyankrishna & Grandis, 2006) (Reuter *et al.*, 2007). The growth factors EGF and TGF α are ligands that bind to EGFR. Ligand binding results in the dimerization of EGFR, the phosphorylation and activation of a number of downstream signaling pathways. About 6 tyrosine residues are phosphorylated at the COOH-terminal tail of EGFR: they are Y1068, Y1148, Y1173(Downward *et al.*, 1984), Y1086 (Hsuan *et al.*, 1989, Margolis *et al.*, 1989), Y992(Walton *et al.*, 1990) Y1045 (Levkowitz *et al.*, 1999).

Phosphorylation of EGFR at Y1068 and Y1086 creates binding sites for Grb2 adaptor protein, leading to activation of the MAPK pathway and a binding site for Gab1, which recruits the p85 subunit of PI3-kinase, which in turn can and activate the AKT pathway(Rodrigues *et al.*, 2000).Phosphorylation of tyrosine residue Y1068 has been

suggested to be a predictive biomarker for tyrosine kinase inhibitors treatment for patient with wildtype EGFR in lung cancer patients (Wang *et al.,* 2012, Sette *et al.,* 2015). In this chapter, phosphorylation of Y1068 EGFR was analysed by Western blot while localization of total EGFR was examined by immunofluorescence.

MAPKs is a family of serine/threonine kinase proteins which play an important role in a variety of cellular process such as cell proliferation, migration and apoptosis. One of the constituents of the MAPK pathway (p44/42 ERK1/2) is activated by growth factors and cytokines (Peng *et al.,* 2018). Targeting Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK pathway is important in treatment of cancer. MEK1 and MEK2 activate P44 and P42 through phosphorylation at Thr202/Tyr204 and Thr185/Tyr187, respectively. In this chapter, phosphorylation of MAPK202/204 was measured by Western blot and localisation of MAPK202/204 was examined by immunofluorescence. PD98059 which is a selective inhibitor of MAPK extracellular signaling-regulated kinase (ERK) kinase (MEK), was used in the experiment.

PI3K- AKT pathway is another pathway that plays an important role in carcinogenesis and activation of PI3K is induced by introduction of growth factors. In this chapter, phosphorylation of Akt-473 is measured by Western blot and localization of Akt-473 is observed by immunofluorescence. As described in introduction. Phosphorylation of Akt-473 is related with inhibition of apoptosis (Hemmings, 1997, Itoh *et al.*, 2002) and mutation of Rb1 is causative factor of Akt-473 phosphorylation (El-Naggar *et al.*, 2009).

There are two types of drug specifically targeting EGFR. The first type of drugs are Monoclonal antibodies used to target EGFR overexpression. Monoclonal antibodies compete with ligands to bind EGFR. (Martinelli *et al.,* 2009). The second type are the small molecules tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting EGFR mutation (Ciardiello & Tortora, 2008, Modjtahedi & Essapen, 2009). Tyrosine kinase inhibitors bind to the cytoplasmic region of EGFR by competing with ATP and inhibit the phosphorylation of the receptor. Gefitinib and Erlotinib are example of TKIs which have been used to treat Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. None of TKIs has yet received FDA approval to treat head and neck cancer, they are undergoing clinical trials but early reports are not encouraging (Chua *et al.*, 2008, Li & Perez-Soler, 2009, Soulieres *et al.*, 2004). One of the possible reason for this is the activation of downstream signalling pathways such as ERK (Wakeling *et al.*, 2002). K-ras mutation has also been reported to be related with resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer (Massarelli *et al.*, 2007). Previous studies reported that EMT is believed to be the underlying mechanism of drug resistance to TKIs in both NSCLC and HNSCC (Weng *et al.*, 2019, Maseki *et al.*, 2012, Frederick *et al.*, 2007). Uramoto *et al.*, 2010).

In this study, we are going to investigate whether EGF and TGF α induce EMT or not and whether EMT is reversed with drugs which are TKIs.



Figure 5.1 Example of cellular projection: *TYS cells plated onto the surface of a plastic tissue culture dish grown in colonies. However, in response to serum or individual growth factors TYS cells start by forming projections (blue arrow) and then migrate across the dish (40x magnification) (Red arrow).*

5.2 Aim and hypothesis

Studies in this chapter of thesis will explore the effect of Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) by pre-treatment of these inhibitors on migration and morphological changes before addition of EGF and TGF α and investigate whether these inhibitors inhibit the effect of EGF and TGF α .

It has also been reported in the literature that EGFR TKIs can reverse these changes *in vitro* for other cancers (La Monica *et al* 2013, Fichter *et al* 2014). In the previous chapter, we reported that EGF and TGF α have an effect on cell morphology and migration. This chapter will involve the investigation of whether the tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib, Erlotinib) and ERK1/2 inhibitor (PD98059) inhibit these changes. Experiments will aim to observe the localization and the expression and distribution of EGFR and the phosphorylation of one of its tyrosine residues (P-Tyr 1068). The aim is also to observe the expression of signalling molecules MAPK202/204 and AKT473 as markers of change in response to both the growth factors and inhibitors.

The working hypothesis is changes caused in previous chapter can be inhibited by blocking the receptor signalling pathways.

The null- hypothesis of this Chapter is that the inhibitors of EGFR and MAPK have no effect on EGF and TGF α stimulation of the migration of the different cell types.

5.3 Experimental Methods

The methods used in this Chapter are found in Chapter 3. The following parts are the specific experiments which deal with the role of the inhibitors.

5.3.1 General Tissue Culture for Scratch assay

Cells were sub-cultured as described in 3.5. Once the experiment outlines were decided either 35mm or 60mm would determine how the dishes were prepared. The trypsin/media mixture was aspirated off and then cell pellet was re- suspended in the appropriate volume of 10% FCS 1ml for 35mm or 2ml for 60mm. Fresh dishes were prepared, the number and size would depend on the intention of the experiments, adding 1mls of 10% FCS to each of 35mm dishes (or 2ml for 60mm). The cells suspension of 1x10⁵ (or 3 x10⁵ for 60mm) was then added into the prepared dishes and the cultures incubated at 37°C. Once the cell reach the desired confluency, the cells were changed into serum free media for 24 hours. On the next day, the medium were refreshed with Gefitinib, Erlotinib, and PD98059 before addition of growth factors an hour later.

5.3.2 Scratch assay

The cells were seeded at 1×10^{5} per dish. Once the cells reached 90% to 100% confluence. They were put into serum free and left overnight. After 24 hours, a uniform scratch line was made by using white pipette tips. The dishes were washed with serum free two times to remove the debris and then 5µM Gefitinib, 5µM Erlotinib and 25µM PD98059 were added into the dishes one-hour prior addition of EGF and TGF α . Photographs were taken at appropriated times.

5.3.3 Immunofluorescence

As described in detail in Chapter 3 section 11, immunofluorescence technique were performed with Anti EGFR antibody with 1:300 dilution, Phospho P44/42 MAPKErk1/2)(Thr202/tyr204) and Phospho-473 Akt with 1:200 dilution respectively.

5.3.4 SDS and Western blot

As described in Chapter 3, SDS and Western blot were performed with phosphor- EGFR (Tyr1068) antibody with 1:1000 dilution, Phospho- P44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/tyr204) and Phospho-473 Akt antibodies with 1:2000 respectively. Cells treated with serum free control and tested conditions for 5 minutes and 24 hours were put into the lane as table below.

Table 5.1 Western blot lanes and test condition

| Lane 1 | Serum free |
|--------|----------------------------|
| Lane 2 | EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 3 | TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 4 | 5μM Gefitinib+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 5 | 5μM Gefitinib+TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 6 | 5µM Erlotinib+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 7 | 5μM Erlotinib+TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 8 | 25μM PD98059+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 9 | 25μM PD98059+TGFα 50ng/ml |

5.4 Results

The results part of the chapter are split into the effect of the inhibitors on scattering/morphology changes, migration/gap closure, localisation of markers/immunofluorescence/SDS-PAGE/Western blotting into a number of different sections:

5.4.1: Inhibitor concentrations of EMT and scattering assay

Inhibitors were incubated on the cells for an hour before the addition of EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml). Photomicrographs were taken at two time points 24 and 48 hours. In growth factor treated dishes, there was no significant change in cell morphology at the 24hours time point in most of the experiments (Discussed in chapter 4).

For the inhibitor treated dishes, the recommended dosage for Gefitinib and Erlotinib are $1-10 \mu$ M for 0.5-2hr prior to treating with EGF and TGF α . It has been reported that it can be used up to 24 hr. The recommended dose for PD98059 is 5 - 50 μ M for one hour prior to treating with a stimulator. There was no suggested time limit for PD98059.

In this pilot project, 3μ M, 5μ M and 10μ M of (Gefitinib and Erlotinib) and 5μ M, 25μ M and 50μ M of PD98059 were used as preliminary experiments. Later, 5μ M of (Gefitinib and Erlotinib) and 25μ M of PD98059 was chosen to do experiments because these are the concentrations which fully block the effect of EGF and TGF α without being toxic to the cells. In this project inhibitors were used up to 48 hour for monitoring of the morphology changes which is beyond the recommend time point from the manufacturer. Usually, the cells became unhealthy (full of debris-data not shown) by the end of experiment. We deduce from the photographic evidence that this is caused

by the effect of inhibitors since serum free (negative control) and growth factors (positive effects) treated dishes have no unhealthy cells. Photographs were also taken at 48 hour time point. Changes in cell morphology usually occurred around 48 hours' time point. Once the photomicrographs were taken, cells were fixed for immunofluorescence.

An example of preliminary experiment is shown in Figure 5.2: The HSG cell line was plated at $1x \ 10^5$ per dish (30% confluence) and TGF α (50ng/ml) and the inhibitor Erlotinib was added at different concentrations (3 μ M, 5 μ M and 10 μ M). The photomicrographs show tight colonies in the serum free conditions and that the cells round and migrate apart in the presence of TGF α (Figure 5.2.i and ii). With the addition of the different concentrations of the inhibitor Erlotinib the cells morphology was restored to similar to serum free with all concentrations. The data indicates that the cells morphology was restored to being similar to cells in Serum free conditions at all concentrations of Erlotinib but was decided to use 5μ M of Erlotinib in the following experiments (similar results were seen with Gefitinib and cells required 25 μ M of PD98059 data not shown). It should also be noted that different magnifications were used here to emphasise the change in shape. The serum free being at a lower power to show that small tight colonies.

Figure 5.2: Different doses of the inhibitor Erlotinib of HSG cell line.i) Serum freeii)TGFα 50ng/ml



iii) Erlotinib 3μM+ TGFα50ng



iv) Erlotinib 5μM +TGFα50ng





v) Erlotinib 10µM + TGFa 50ng/ml



Figure 5.2: The HSG cell line was plated at 1x 10⁵ per dish (30% confluence) and TGFα and the inhibitor Erlotinib was added. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of 50ng/ml TGFα different and concentrations of Erlotinib (3μM, 5μM and 10μM) at 40x magnification.

5.4.2 HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors

HaCaT cells are characterised and reported as a normal epithelial cell line, although they do have some peculiarities, in that they produce e-cadherin and no vimentin. In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at various time-points (not all data shown). The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 5.3 are the same- they are shown like this for comparison to the inhibitors.

Figure 5.3a shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.3a.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib inhibits these changes (Figure 5.3a.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.3b shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (5 μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photomicrographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.5.5.1b.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor

Erlotinib inhibits these changes (Figure 5.5.5.1b.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.3.c shows the effect of the MAPKinase inhibitor PD98059 (25μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.5.5.1c.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the MAPkinase inhibitor inhibits these changes (Figure 5.5.5.1c.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.3a:HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib:

i)Serumfree



iii)EGF 50ng/ml



v)TGFα 50ng/ml





iv)Gefitinib5µM+ EGF 50ng/ml



vi)Gefitinib5µM+TGFα50ng/ml





Figure 5.3a: The HaCaT cell line was plated at $1x \ 10^5$ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib.(yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype)

Figure 5.3.b: HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib:



v)TGFa50ng/ml

vi)Erlotinib5µM+TGFa50ng/ml



Figure5.3b The HaCaT cell line was plated at $1x10^5$ per dish(30% confluence) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i)SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF / 5 μ M Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α / 5 μ M Erlotinib(yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype.



Figure 5.3c: HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059:

Figure 5.3c: The HaCaT cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /25 μ M PD98059. (yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype)

5.4.3 TYS cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors

TYS cells are characterised and reported as an oral squamous cell carcinoma, although there is some ambiguity in the original report (see Material and Methods). In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at various time-points (not all data shown). The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 5.4 are the same- they are shown like this for comparison to the inhibitors.

Figure 5.4a shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.4a.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib inhibits these changes (Figure 5.4a.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.4b shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.4.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib

inhibits these changes (Figure 5.4b.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.4c shows the effect of the MAPKinase inhibitor PD98059 (25μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.4c.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the MAPkinase inhibitor inhibits these changes (Figure 5.4c.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.4a: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib:

i)Serum free



iii)EGF50ng/ml



v)TGFa 50ng/ml

ii)Gefitinib5µM



iv)Gefitinib 5µM+EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM+ TGFα 50ng/ml





Figure 5.4a: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitnib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitnib (yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype)

Figure 5.4b: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib:

i)Serum free

ii)ErlotinibµM



iii)EGF50ng/ml



iv)Erlotinib5µM+EGF50ng/ml



v)TGFa50ng/ml



vi)Erlotinib 5μM+ TGFα50ng/ml



Figure5.4b The TYS cell line was plated at $1x10^5$ per dish(30% confluence) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF / 5 μ M Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α / 5 μ M Erlotinib(yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype.



Figure 5.4c: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059:

Figure5.4c: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish(30% confluence) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF / 25 μ M PD98059 v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α / 25 μ M PD98059 (yellow arrow indicates epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicates mesenchymal phenotype.

5.4.4 AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors

AZA1 cells are characterised and reported HSG cell line treated with 5 Azacytidine (see Materials ad Methods for description). In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at various time-points (not all data shown). The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 5.5 are the same- they are shown like this for comparison to the inhibitors.

Figure 5.5a shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.5a.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib inhibits these changes (Figure 5.5a.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.5b shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced no cell-cell contact and produced a rounded shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.5b.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). It should also be noted that a small number of the cells had a fibroblast morphology. Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib

inhibits these changes (Figure 5.5b.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.5c shows the effect of the MAPKinase inhibitor PD98059 (25μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.5c.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the MAPkinase inhibitor inhibits these changes (Figure 5.5c.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.



iii) EGF 50ng/ml

v) TGFa50ng/ml



Gefitinib5µM



iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM +TGFα50ng/ml





Figure 5.5a: The AZA1 cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib. (yellow arrow indicate epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicate mesenchymal phenotype)

Figure 5.5a: AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib:

ii)

Figure 5.5b: AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFa50ng/ml





Figure 5.5b: AZA1 cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFa (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib,v) 50ng/ml TGFa, vi) 50ng/ml TGFa/5 μ M Erlotinib. (yellow arrow indicate epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicate mesenchymal phenotype)

185

Figure 5.5c: AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059:

i) Serum free



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFα50ng/ml



ii) PD98059 25µM



iv) PD98059 25µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) PD98059 25μM +TGFα50ng/ml



Figure 5.5c: AZA1 cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /25 μ M PD98059. (yellow arrow indicate epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicate mesenchymal phenotype).

5.4.5 HSG cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors

HSG cells are characterised and reported as an epithelial duct cell line derived from human salivary gland (Adenocarcinoma of submandibular gland). In the following experiments the cells were plated onto dishes at 1×10^5 cells per dish and allowed to attach. The medium was changed to SF-MEM and the cells left overnight. The following day the medium was changed into test conditions and photomicrographs taken at various time-points (not all data shown). The test conditions are described in the Figure legend and it should be noted that the photomicrographs of the serum free, EGF treated and TGF α treated cells in all parts of Figure 5.6 are the same- they are shown like this for comparison to the inhibitors.

Figure 5.6a shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.6a.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib inhibits these changes (Figure 5.6a.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.6b shows the effect of the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib (5μM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a rounded morphology in the cells Figure 5.6b.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). It is interesting to note that these changes are different between the two growth factors. Treatment with the EGFR inhibitor Erlotinib

inhibits these changes (Figure 5.6b.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status. However, the inhibitor treated cells do appear different in morphology from the serum free cells plus inhibitor suggesting that some aspects are inhibited but others are not.

Figure 5.6c shows the effect of the MAPKinase inhibitor PD98059 (25µM) on EGF and TGFα stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGFα induced reduced cell-cell contact and a spindle shaped morphology in the cells Figure 5.6c.iii and v (Coloured arrows- yellow arrows indicate normal epithelial cell morphology and red arrows indicate mesenchymal morphology). Treatment with the MAP-kinase inhibitor inhibits these changes (Figure 5.6c.iv and vi). Note that the cell-cell contacts are intact and the cells retain their tightly formed colony status.

Figure 5.6a: HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitinib:

i) Serum free

ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib5µM +TGFa50ng/ml





Figure 5.6a: HSG cell line was plated at $1x \ 10^5$ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitnib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitnib. (yellow arrow indicate epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicate mesenchymal phenotype)
Figure 5.6b: HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free Erlotinib5µM ii)



iii) EGF 50ng/ml















iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



Figure 5.6c: HSG cell line in response to growth factors and





iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml

ii) PD98059 25μM



iv) PD98059 25µM +



vi) PD98059 25µM



Figure 5.5c: HSG cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /25 μ M PD98059. (yellow arrow indicate epithelial phenotype and red arrow indicate mesenchymal phenotype)

5.4.6 Results of Cell migration assay

The cells lines that were described in the previous chapter were studied here in this chapter. The idea behind this was to investigate a more deliberate migration of the cells. The Scratch assay has a much more obvious migration point and is measured by gap closure. Cells were grown to confluence and then scratched and the dishes photographed. The cells were then placed in the test medium and photomicrographs taken every 2 hours for 8 hours and then again when the gap closed.

5.4.7 Pilot experiment to investigate the best time point in the scratch assay

The HSG cell line was chosen to investigate the best time point for investigating cell migration by gap closure or scratch assay. An example of preliminary experiment is shown in figure 5.7 in the following experiment the cells were plated onto dishes at $3x10^5$ cells per dish and grown until confluent changing medium 10% FCS every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test conditions (1ng/ml and 10ng/ml of EGF). Photographs were taken at 2 hours, 4 hours, 6 hours and 24 hours. Data in Figure 5.7 indicates that 24 hours was the best time point to take photographs.

5.4.8 Experimental data for TYS cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors using the gap closure/scratch assay

In the following experiments TYS were plated onto dishes at $3x10^5$ cells per dish and grown until confluent changing medium 10% FCS every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition. They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend.

Figure 5.8a, b andc shows the effect of Gefitinib (5 μ M), Erlotinib (5 μ M) and PD98059 (25 μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced migration in the cells of TYS cells (Figure 5.9 iii and 5.9v). One hour pretreatment with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibits these migration (figure 5.9 iv,vi,viii,ix,xi,xii).

i) Serum Free



iii) EGF (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + Gefitinib



iv) EGF+ Gefitinib



v) TGFa (50ng/ml)



vi) TGFα + Gefitinib





Figure 5.8 The TYS cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib.

Figure 5.8b The TYS cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in Scratch assay.

i) Serum Free



iii) EGF (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + Erlotinib



iv) EGF+ Erlotinib



v) TGFa (50ng/ml)



vi) TGFα + Erlotinib





Figure 5.8 The TYS cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib.

Figure 5.8c The TYS cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in Scratch assay.

i) Serum Free



iii) EGF (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + PD98059



iv) EGF+ PD98059



v) TGFa (50ng/ml)



vi) TGFα + PD98059



Figure 5.8c The TYS cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M PD98059 iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M PD98059 v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M PD98059.

5.4.9 Experimental data for HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and inhibitors

In the following experiments HaCaT were plated onto dishes at $3x10^5$ cells per dish and grown until confluent changing medium 10% FCS every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition. They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend.

Figure 5.9a, b and c shows the effect of Gefitinib (5 μ M), Erlotinib (5 μ M) and PD98059 (25 μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced migration in the cells of HaCaT cells (Figure 5.9 a, b and c). One hour pretreatment with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibits this migration (figure 5.9 a, b and c).

i) Serum Free



iii) EGF (50ng/ml)



v) TGFa (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + Gefitinib



iv) EGF+ Gefitinib



vi) TGFa + Gefitinib



Figure 5.9a The HacaT cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib.

i) Serum Free



iii) EGF (50ng/ml)



v) TGFa (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + Erlotinib



iv) EGF+ Erlotinib



vi) TGFα + Erlotinib





Figure 5.9b The HacaT cell line was plated at 3x 10⁵ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM erlotinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGFα vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Erlotinib.





Figure 5.9b The HacaT cell line was plated at $3x 10^{\circ}$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059 iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059 v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /25 μ M PD98059.

5.4.10 Experimental data for HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Inhibitors

In the following experiments HSG were plated onto dishes at $3x10^5$ cells per dish and grown until confluent changing medium 10% FCS every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition. They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend.

Figure 5.10a, b and c shows the effect of Gefitinib (5 μ M), Erlotinib (5 μ M) and PD98059 (25 μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced migration in the cells of HSG cells (Figure 5.9 a, b and c). One hour pretreatment with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibits these migration (Figure 5.9 a, b and c). It should be noted that single cell migration is visible in the gaps.

Figure 5.10 The HSG cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in Scratch assay.

```
i) Serum Free
```

ii) Serum Free + Gefitinib



Figure 5.10a The HSG cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib.

Figure 5.10b The HSG cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor Erlotinib and growth factors in Scratch assay.

```
i) Serum Free
```

ii) Serum Free + Erlotinib



Figure 5.10b The HSG cell line was plated at $3x \ 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib.



Figure 5.10c The HSG cell line was plated at $3x 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059 iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059 v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /25 μ M PD98059.

5.4.11 Experimental data for AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Inhibitors

In the following experiments HSG were plated onto dishes at $3x10^5$ cells per dish and grown until confluent changing medium 10% FCS every 48 hours. Once confluent the medium was changed to SF-MEM overnight. A scratch was made from one side of the dish to the other. The medium was changed into test condition. They were then incubated and the photomicrographs were taken after 24 hours. The test conditions are described in the Figure legend.

Figure 5.11 a, b and c shows the effect of Gefitinib (5 μ M), Erlotinib (5 μ M) and PD98059 (25 μ M) on EGF and TGF α stimulated cells. The photographs indicate that both EGF and TGF α induced migration in the cells of HSG cells (Figure 5.11 a, b and c). One hour pretreatment with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibits these migration (Figure 5.11 a, b and c).

Figure 5.11a The AZA1 cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor Gefitinib and growth factors in Scratch assay.



Figure 5.11a The AZA1 cell line was plated at 3x 10⁵ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Gefitinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Gefitinib v) 50ng/ml TGFα vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Gefitinib.





iii) EGF (50ng/ml)

v) TGFa (50ng/ml)

ii) Serum Free + Erlotinib



iv) EGF+ Erlotinib





Figure 5.11b The AZA1 cell line was plated at 3x 10⁵ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Erlotinib iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5μM Erlotinib v) 50ng/ml TGFα vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5μM Erlotinib.



Figure 5.11c The AZA1 cell line plated in presence of the inhibitor PD98059 and growth factors in Scratch assay.

Figure 5.11c The AZA1 cell line was plated at $3x 10^5$ per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrograph was taken after 24 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 10x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 25 μ M PD98059 iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/25 μ M PD98059 v) 50ng/ml TGF α vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M PD98059.

5.4.12 Changes in protein expression by cancer cell lines in response to growth factors and inhibitors

The the previous chapter the four cell lines were investigated in respect of the expression of being epithelium-like (E-Cadherin) or mesenchyme-like (vimentin) and how the growth factors EGF and TGF α may change this in terms of EMT. However, how the growth ractors worked in terms of binding to cell surface receptors and signalling pathways was not inviestigated. However, initial data indicated that the inhibitors worked by blocking EMT. It was decided to invetigate the repcetor expression and signalling pathways involved in this. The experiments undertaken to investigate this were immunoflourescence or SDS-PAGE/Western blotting. In the following experiments only changes in expression in response to the growth factors were investigated.

5.4.13 Localization of EGFR and phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr1068) residue

In order to determine the expression of total EGFR on the cell membrane localisation of the receptor was determined by immunofluorescence. The photomicrographs are shown in Figure 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15. EGFR expression was found in serum free and growth factors treated dishes of all cell lines. EGFR internalization was captured in some of the dishes. In AZA1 cell line (Figure 5.14), receptor internalization was seen in both the EGF and TGF α treated dishes after 48 hours. The HSG cell lines also showed receptor internalization in both serum free and growth factors treated dishes (Figure 5.15). There is no clear information about receptor internalization in TYS and HaCaT cell lines due to low level of staining (Figure 5.12 and 5.13).



Figure 5.12 The TYS cell line expression of total EGFR

i) Serum Free



ii) EGF (50ng/ml)

iii) TGFα (50ng/ml)



Figure 5.12 The TYS cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml). Staining for total EGFR. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 50ng/ml EGF, iii) 50ng/ml TGF α .



Figure 5.13 The HaCaT cell line expression of total EGFR

i) Serum Free

ii) EGF (50ng/ml)



iii) TGFα (50ng/ml)

Figure 5.13 The HaCaT cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFa (50ng/ml). Staining for total EGFR. All micrographs were taken at 40x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 50ng/ml EGF, iii) 50ng/ml TGFa.



Figure 5.14 The AZA1 cell line expression of total EGFR

Figure 5.14 The AZA1 cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml). Staining for total EGFR. All micrographs were taken at 40 \times magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 50ng/ml EGF, iii) 50ng/ml TGF α



Figure 5.15 The HSG cell line expression of total EGFR

Figure 5.15 The HSG cell line was plated at 3×10^5 per dish and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml). Staining for total EGFR. All micrographs were taken at 40 \times magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 50ng/ml EGF, iii) 50ng/ml TGF α

5.4.14 Phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr1068) residue

In the previous section it was noted that the expression of phosphorylated EGFR (Tyr1068) could not be determined in two of the cells lines by localisation studies. It was decided to investigate whether the residue was phosphorylated in the HaCaT and also the Tys cell line. Using Western blotting techniques we could determine the total level of phosphorylation in the cell lines but not where the expression occurred.

Figure 5.16 indicates that EGFR tyrosine residue 1068 was phosphorylated in all conditions even in tyrosine kinase inhibitor treated dishes. Therefore it is safe to assume that the lack of reduction on this residue means that this pathway is not the most important in treatment with the inhibitors.



Figure 5.16: Western blot experiments for EGFR phosphorylation at Tyr 1068 with the 4 cell lines.

Phospho- EGF Receptor (Tyr1068)

Figure 5.16: EGFR phosphorylation in the 4 cell lines was determined at the concentrations below of growth factor and inhibitor.

The timings are detailed on the blot.

The blots are cropped from the original images.

| Lane 1 | Serum free |
|--------|----------------------------|
| Lane 2 | EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 3 | TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 4 | 5µM Gefitinib+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 5 | 5μM Gefitinib+TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 6 | 5μM Erlotinib+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 7 | 5μM Erlotinib+TGFα 50ng/ml |
| Lane 8 | 25μM PD98059+EGF 50ng/ml |
| Lane 9 | 25μM PD98059+TGFα 50ng/ml |

5.4.15 Localization and phosphorylation of MAPK (Thr202/Tyr204) residue

In all four cell lines, MAPK202/204 was expressed in EGF and TGF treated dishes in both 5 mins and 24 hours' time point. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib and Erlotinib) fully blocked MAPK202/204 expression in TYS and HaCaT cell line while in HSG and AZA1 cell lines, MAPK 202/204 expression was reduced from 5 mins to 24hours time point. In contrast, ERK1/2 inhibitorPD98059 was partially expressed in all the cell lines. There might be a reason why MAPK202/204 was phosphorylated in PD98059 treated dishes. Dose of PD98059 might not be high enough to fully inhibit the phosphorylation. According to manufacturer data sheet, 20µM did not fully inhibit phosphorylation while 50µM completely inhibit the phosphorylation. This could be overcome by increasing concentration.

In immunofluorescence, SF treated dishes have very light expression of MAPK202/204. Addition of 50ng/ml EGF and TGFα50ng/ml for 48 hours caused increase expression of MAPK202/204. In contrast, dishes with (one hour pre-treated with Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 before addition of EGF and TGFα) blocked MAPK202/204 expression fully. In immunofluorescence, addition of 50ng/ml EGF and TGFα50ng/ml for 48 hours caused increase expression of phospho MAPK202/204 in 3 cell lines(HSG,AZA1,TYS). In contrast, tyrosine kinase inhibitors blocked its expression fully. ERK1/2 inhibitors(PD98059) inhibit its expression in HSG and AZA1 cell line, not in TYS cell lines. HACAT cell line do not express phospho MAPK202/204 in all conditions. Figure 5.17: Western blot experiments for MAPK phosphorylation with the 4 cell lines.



Expression of phosphor-p44/p42 MAPK(Erk1/2) Thr202/Tyr204

Figure 5.17: the cells lines were plated at $3x10^5$ per dish and each of the dishes were added with EGF (50ng/ml), TGF α (50ng/ml), 1hr pre-treated with 5 μ M Gefitinib+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with5 μ M Gefitinib+TGF α 50ng/ml, 1 hr pretreated with5 μ M Erlotinib+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with5 μ M Erlotinib+TGF α 50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with25 μ M PD98059+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with 25 μ M PD98059+TGF α 50ng/ml for 2 time point(5 minutes and 24 hrs) and then lysis was done and continue SDS page. Cell lysis with serum was put into lane 1, EGF50ng/ml into lane2. TGF α 50ng/ml into lane3, 5 μ M Gefitinib+EGF 50ng/ml was into lane 4, 5 μ M Gefitinib+TGF α 50ng/ml into lane 5, 5 μ M Erlotinib+ EGF 50ng/ml into lane 6, 5 μ M Erlotinib+ TGF α 50ng/ml into lane 7, 25 μ M PD98059+EGF 50ng/ml into lane 8, 25 μ M PD98059+TGF α 50ng/ml respectively and MAPK antibody was used as primary antibody.

Figure 5.18a: HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitiinib: i) Serum free ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM +TGFα50ng/ml





Figure 5.18a: The HSG cell line was plated at 1x 10⁵ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGFα, vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Erlotinib. Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.18b: HSG cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFa50ng/ml





Figure 5.18b: The HSG cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib. Staining with phospho MAPK



Figure 5.18c HSG cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059

Figure 1.8c HSG cells line was plated at 1x10⁵ per dish(30% confluency) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGFα(50ng/ml)were added with 25µMPD98059. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hour addition of the tested conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100xmagnification. Treatment:1)SF-MEM2,2) ii)PD98059 25µM, iii)EGF 50ng/ml, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/ 25µMPD98059, v)TGFα 50ng/ml,vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/ 25µMPD98059 *Staining with phospho MAPK*

Figure 5.19a: AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitiinib: i) Serum free ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml





iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM +TGFα50ng/ml



Figure 5.19a: The AZA1 cell line was plated at 1x 10⁵ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGFα, vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Gefitinib. Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.19b: AZA1cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml





vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFa50ng/ml

Figure 5.19b: The AZA1 cell line was plated at $1x 10^5$ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib. Staining with phospho MAPK



iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



Figure 5.19c AZA1 cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059



Figure 5.19c AZA1 cells line was plated at 1x10⁵ per dish(30% confluency) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGFα(50ng/ml) were added with 25µMPD98059. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hour addition of the tested conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100xmagnification. Treatment:1)SF-MEM2,2) ii)PD98059 25µM, iii)EGF 50ng/ml, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/ 25µMPD98059, v)TGFα 50ng/ml,vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/ 25µMPD98059 Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.20a: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitiinib: i) Serum free ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml





iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM +TGFα50ng/ml



Figure 5.20a: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib. Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.20b: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml





iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFα50ng/ml



Figure 5.20b: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib. Staining with phospho MAPK


Figure 5.20c TYS cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059

Figure 5.20c TYS cells line was plated at 1x10⁵ per dish(30% confluency) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGFα(50ng/ml) were added with 25µMPD98059. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hour addition of the tested conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100xmagnification. Treatment:1)SF-MEM2,2) ii)PD98059 25µM, iii)EGF 50ng/ml, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/ 25µMPD98059, v)TGFα 50ng/ml.vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/ 25µMPD98059 Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.21a: HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitiinib: i) Serum free ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml







iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5µM +TGFa50ng/ml





Figure 5.21a: The HaCaT cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Gefitinib. Staining with phospho MAPK

Figure 5.21b: HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml





iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFα50ng/ml



Figure 5.21b: The HaCaT cell line was plated at 1x 10⁵ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGFα, vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Erlotinib. Staining with phospho MAPK



Figure 5.21c HaCaT cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059

Figure 5.21c HaCaT cells line was plated at 1x10⁵ per dish(30% confluency) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGFα(50ng/ml) were added with 25µMPD98059. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hour addition of the tested conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100xmagnification. Treatment:1)SF-MEM2,2) ii)PD98059 25µM, iii)EGF 50ng/ml, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/ 25µMPD98059, v)TGFα 50ng/ml,vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/ 25µMPD98059 *Staining with phospho MAPK*

5.4.16 Localization and phosphorylation of Akt (Ser 473) residue

The Akt pathway is the one most studied in our laboratory. The response to both growth factors and all three inhibitors was studied in all 4 cell lines. Studies of immune localization of the phosphorylated protein were inconclusive in 3 of the cell lines (data not shown).

SDS-Page/Western blotting experiments were also interesting in terms of the phosphorylated Akt. Data presented in Figure 22, AZA1 cell line has no AKT phosphorylation in all the test conditions. The HaCaT cell line (normal) has AKT phosphorylation in EGF, TGF α and PD98059 treated dishes while tyrosine kinase inhibitors fully block AKT 473 phosphorylation. TYS and HSG cell lines, AKT was expressed in 5 mins time point in all conditions. However, expression was reduced in tyrosine kinase inhibitor treated dishes at the 24 hours' time point.

Data presented in Figure 23a, b and c shows that the localisation of p473Akt is low in the TYS cell type (and not really seen in the other cell lines). The expression of pAKT-473 was faintly distributed through in EGF and TGF α treated dishes while did not express in serum free and inhibitors treated dishes.

Figure 5.22: Western blot experiments for Akt phosphorylation with the 4 cell lines.



Expression of Akt (Ser 473) Thr202/Tyr204

Figure 5.22: the cells lines were plated at $3x10^5$ per dish and each of the dishes were added with EGF (50ng/ml), TGF α (50ng/ml), 1hr pre-treated with 5 μ M Gefitinib+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with5 μ M Gefitinib+TGF α 50ng/ml, 1 hr pretreated with5 μ M Erlotinib+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with5 μ M Erlotinib+TGF α 50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with25 μ M PD98059+EGF50ng/ml, 1 hr pre-treated with 25 μ M PD98059+TGF α 50ng/ml for 2 time point(5 minutes and 24 hrs) and then lysis was done and continue SDS page. Cell lysis with serum was put into lane 1, EGF50ng/ml into lane2. TGF α 50ng/ml into lane3, 5 μ M Gefitinib+EGF 50ng/ml was into lane 4, 5 μ M Gefitinib+TGF α 50ng/ml into lane 5, 5 μ M Erlotinib+ EGF 50ng/ml into lane 6, 5 μ M Erlotinib+ TGF α 50ng/ml into lane 7, 25 μ M PD98059+EGF 50ng/ml into lane 8, 25 μ M PD98059+TGF α 50ng/ml respectively and p473 Akt antibody was used as primary antibody.

Figure 5.23a: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Gefitiinib: i) Serum free ii) Gefitinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



iv) Gefitinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



vi) Gefitinib 5μM +TGFα50ng/ml





Figure 5.23a: The TYS cell line was plated at 1x 10⁵ per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGFα (50ng/ml) were added with 5µM Gefitinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5µM Gefitinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5µM Gefitinib, v) 50ng/ml TGFα, vi) 50ng/ml TGFα/5µM Gefitinib. Staining with phospho Akt

Figure 5.23b: TYS cell line in response to growth factors and Erlotinib: i) Serum free ii) Erlotinib5µM



iii) EGF 50ng/ml



v) TGFa50ng/ml



iv) Erlotinib 5µM + EGF50ng/ml



vi) Erlotinib 5µM +TGFα50ng/ml





Figure 5.23b: The TYS cell line was plated at 1×10^5 per dish (30% confluence) and EGF (50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 5 μ M Erlotinib. The photomicrograph was taken after 48 hrs of addition of the test conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100x magnification. Treatments: i) SF-MEM, ii) 5 μ M Erlotinib, iii) 50ng/ml EGF, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/5 μ M Erlotinib, v) 50ng/ml TGF α , vi) 50ng/ml TGF α /5 μ M Erlotinib. Staining with phospho Akt



Figure 5.23c TYS cell line in response to growth factors and PD98059

Figure 5.23c TYS cells line was plated at $1x10^5$ per dish(30% confluency) and EGF(50ng/ml) and TGF α (50ng/ml) were added with 25 μ M PD98059. The photomicrographs were taken after 48 hour of addition of the tested conditions. All micrographs were taken at 100xmagnification. Treatment:1)SF-MEM2,2) ii)PD98059 25 μ M, iii)EGF 50ng/ml, iv) 50ng/ml EGF/ 25 μ MPD98059, v)TGF α 50ng/ml,vi) 50ng/ml TGF α / 25 μ MPD98059 *Staining with phospho AKT*

5.5 Result Summary

The following tables summarise the results for this Chapter and will lead into the Discussion 5.6.

5.5.1 EMT or single cell migration

Table 5.2a EMT or single cell migration

| Cell | Serum | EGF | TGFα | Gefitinib | Gefitinib+ | Gefitinib+T |
|------|-------------|-------------|-------------|------------|------------|--------------|
| line | free | | | | EGF | GFα |
| HaC | Tightly | loosely | loosely | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| aT | packed | connected | connected | serum | serum | serum free |
| | colonies, | cells with | cells with | free | free | |
| | Epithelial | dendritic | dendritic | | | |
| | characteris | or spiky | or spiky | | | |
| | tic | projection | projection | | | |
| | | in some | in some | | | |
| | | area | area | | | |
| TYS | Partially | More | More | Epithelial | Epithelial | Epithelial |
| | Mesenchy | mesenchy | mesenchy | characteri | characteri | characterist |
| | mal | mal | mal | stic | stic | ic |
| | Shape cells | With | With | | | |
| | | dendritic | dendritic | | | |
| | | projection | projection | | | |
| AZA | Epithelial | cell | cell | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| 1 | shape | scattering, | scattering, | serum | serum | serum free |
| | colonies | mixture of | mixture of | free | free | |
| | | rounded | rounded | | | |
| | | cells and | cells and | | | |
| | | elongated | elongated | | | |
| | | cell, | cell, | | | |
| | | dendritic | dendritic | | | |
| | | or spiky | or spiky | | | |
| | | projection | projection | | | |
| | | in some | in some | | | |
| | | cells | cells | | | |
| HSG | Epithelial | cell | cell | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| | shape | scattering, | scattering, | serum | serum | serum free |
| | colonies | mixture of | mixture of | free | free | |
| | | rounded | rounded | | | |
| | | cells and | cells and | | | |
| | | elongated | elongated | | | |
| | | cell, | cell, | | | |
| | | dendritic | dendritic | | | |
| | | or spiky | or spiky | | | |

| | projection | projection | | |
|--|------------|------------|--|--|
| | in some | in some | | |
| | cells | cells | | |

Table 5.2b EMT or single cell migration

| Cell | Erlotinib | Erlotinib+ | Erlotinib+T | PD98059 | PD98059+ | PD98059+ |
|-------|------------|------------|--------------|------------|-------------|------------|
| line | | EGF | GFα | | EGF | TGFα |
| HaCaT | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| | serum | serum | serum free | serum | serum free | serum |
| | free | free | | free | | free |
| TYS | Epithelial | Epithelial | Epithelial | Epithelial | Epithelial | Epithelial |
| | charact- | character- | characteris- | character- | characteri- | character- |
| | ristic | istic | tic | istic | stic | istic |
| AZA1 | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| | serum | serum | serum free | serum | serum free | serum |
| | free | free | | free | | free |
| HSG | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as | Same as |
| | serum | serum | serum free | serum | serum free | serum |
| | free | free | | free | | free |

5.5.2 Scratch assay or collective migration

Table Summary 5.3a Scratch assay or collective migration

| Cell | Serum | EGF50ng/ml | TGFα50ng/ml | Gefitinib5µl+ | Gefitinib5µl + | Erlotinik | o5μl |
|-------|---------|----------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|-----------|----------|
| lines | free | | | EGF50ng/ml | TGFα50ng/ml | +EGF50 | ng/ml |
| TYS | Visible | full | Fully | same as | same as | Same | as Serum |
| | scratch | migration, | migration, | Serum free | Serum free | free | |
| | line | Gap | Gap almost | | | | |
| | | almost | closure | | | | |
| | | closure | | | | | |
| HaCaT | Visible | fully | fully | same as | same as | same | as Serum |
| | scratch | migration | migration | Serum free | Serum free | free | |
| | line | | | | | | |
| HSG | Visible | Moderate | Moderate | same as | same as | same | as Serum |
| | | migration | migration | Serum free | Serum free | free | |
| | scratch | | | | | | |
| | line | | | | | | |
| AZA1 | Visible | VervLittle | Verv Little | same as | same as | same | as Serum |
| | | , migration | , migration | Serum free | Serum free | free | |
| | scratch | Ũ | U | | | | |
| | line | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

| Cell lines | Erlotinib5µl | Erlotinib5µl + | PD25µl | PD25µl |
|------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|-----------------------|
| | +EGF50ng/ml | TGFα50ng/ml | +EGF50ng/ml | +TGFα50ng/ml |
| TYS | Same as Serum | same as Serum | Little | Little migration with |
| | free | free | migration, | intact scratch line |
| | | | still intact | |
| | | | scratch line | |
| HaCaT | same as Serum | same as Serum | Partially | Partially migration |
| | free | free | migration | |
| HSG | same as Serum | same as Serum | same as Serum | same as Serum free |
| | free | free | free | |
| AZA1 | same as Serum | same as Serum | same as Serum | same as Serum free |
| | free | free | free | |

Table 5.3b Scratch assay or collective migration

5.5.3 Expression and Localisation of EGFR and its phosphorylated sub-type (Tyr1068)

Table 5.4 Expression and Localisation of total EGFR

| Total EGFR | HSG | AZA1 | TYS | HACAT |
|------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Serum free | membrane | membrane | Membrane | Membrane |
| EGF | Nucleus ,diffuse cytoplasm | Diffuse cytoplasm | Diffuse Cytoplasm | Diffuse cytoplasm |
| TGFα | Nucleus ,diffuse cytoplasm | Diffuse cytoplasm | Diffuse Cytoplasm | Diffuse cytoplasm |

Table 5.5 Expression of phosphorylated EGFR sub-type (Tyr1068)

| Phospho EGFR (1068) | HSG | AZA1 | TYS | HACAT |
|---------------------|-----|------|-----|-------|
| Serum free | + | + | + | + |
| EGF | + | + | + | + |
| TGFα | + | + | + | + |
| Gefitinib+EGF | + | + | + | + |
| Gefitinib+TGFα | + | + | + | + |
| Erlotinib+EGF | + | + | + | + |
| Erlotinib+TGFα | + | + | + | + |
| PD98059+EGF | + | + | + | + |
| PD98059+TGFα | + | + | + | + |

5.5.4 Expression and localisation of phospho-p44/p42 MAPK(Erk1/2) Thr202/Tyr204

| МАРК202/204 | /204 HSG | | AZA1 | | TYS | | HACAT | |
|----------------|--------------|-----|--------------|-----|--------------|-----|--------------|----|
| | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF |
| Serum free | + | + | + | ++ | + | +++ | + | - |
| EGF | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | + ++ | - |
| TGFα | + ++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | - |
| Gefitinib only | | - | | - | | - | | - |
| Gefitinib+EGF | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Gefitinib+TGFα | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Erlotinib only | | - | | - | | - | | - |
| Erlotinib+EGF | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Erlotinib+TGFα | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| PD98059 only | | - | | - | | + | | - |
| PD98059+EGF | + | - | + | - | + | ++ | + | - |
| PD98059+TGFα | + | - | + | - | + | ++ | + | - |

| Table 5.6.: Expression and localisation of | phospho- | p44/p42 MAPK(| Erk1/2 |) Thr202/Ty | r204 |
|--|----------|---------------|--------|-------------|------|
| | | | | | - |

5.5.5 Expression and localisation of phospho-Akt 473

 Table 5.7: Expression and localisation of phospho-Akt 473

| Akt473 | HSG | | AZA1 | | TYS | | HACAT | |
|----------------|--------------|----|--------------|----|--------------|----|--------------|----|
| | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF | WB (24hr) | IF |
| Serum free | | - | - | - | + | - | - | - |
| EGF | + | - | - | - | + | - | +++ | - |
| TGFα | + | - | - | - | + | - | +++ | - |
| Gefitinib only | | - | | - | | - | - | - |

| Gefitinib+EGF | + | - | - | - | + | - | - | - |
|----------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|-----|---|
| Gefitinib+TGFα | + | - | - | - | + | - | - | - |
| Erlotinib only | | - | | - | | - | - | - |
| Erlotinib+EGF | + | - | - | - | + | - | - | - |
| Erlotinib+TGFα | + | - | - | - | + | - | - | - |
| PD98059 only | | - | | - | | - | - | - |
| PD98059+EGF | + | - | - | - | + | - | +++ | - |
| PD98059+TGFα | + | - | - | - | + | - | +++ | - |

5.6 Discussion

Experimental data supported the hypothesis of the study. Results in this Chapter have focussed on the effect of the inhibitors on migration, EMT and which signalling pathways are likely to be involved. The results are summarised in Table format above (Table 5.6.1, 5.6.2, 5.6.3, 5.6.4 and 5.6.5). The discussion will focus on relating the results with previous studies and clinical situations which these inhibitors may one day be used in.

5.6.1 EMT or Single cell migration

In epithelial characteristic cell lines such as HaCaT, HSG and AZA1, gefitinib, erlotinib and PD98059 fully inhibit the cell morphology and migration induced by EGF and TGFα treatment. In transformed cell line TYS, these inhibitors not only inhibit the EMT and single cell migration but also induce epithelial characteristic or MET transformation. Results from this experiments proved that Inhibiting MAPK pathway alone is enough for EMT or single cell migration. Only MAPK pathway is responsible for single cell migration in these cell lines (Table 5.6.1).

5.6.2 Collective cell migration or scratch assay

Result from scratch assay suggested that intensity of cell migration between each cell line was different. AZA1 is the least migrate cell line while HSG had moderate cell migration. TYS and HaCaT are migrate full intensity in response to EGF and TGF α . (Table 5.6.2)

We also found out tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Gefitinib and Erlotinib) inhibit the collective cell migration in all the cell line. Data from this study support the hypothesis of the study. Since all the cell line response to tyrosine kinase inhibitors, we can expect our cell lines did not harbour Ras mutation.

In HSG and AZA1 cell lines, PD98059 (ERK1/2 inhibitor) treated dishes did not show any sign of migration which lead to question that only be responsible for cell migration.

In contrast, TYS and HaCaT cells were shows sign of migration in PD98059 treated cell line showing that ERK1/2 might not be only signalling pathway which control the collective cell migration in these cell lines. There might be additional pathway involving the cell migration. Effect of PD98059 in collective cell mgration might be cell line dependent.

By comparing the two techniques, we found out single cell migration and collective cell migration use different signalling mechanism. Similar idea has found in an article (Lintz M, 2017).

5.6.3 EMT and drug resistant to Tyrosine kinase inhibitor

Established literatures stated that EMT believed to be related with drug resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitor(Weng *et al.*,2019)(Maseki *et al.*,2012)(Frederick *et al.*,2007). One study

found that vimentin was expressed in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines insensitive to erlotinib while little or no vimentin was found in erlotinib sensitive lung cancer cell lines In contrast, E-cadherin was lost in majority of Erlotinib insensitive NSCLC cell lines while it is expressed in erlotinib sensitive cell lines (Thomson *et al.*, 2005).

However, cells line used in this project were well response to TKIs. TYS which is partially mesenchymal shape cells were well response to TKIs. Some TYS cells were even transformed into MET. This leads to question that EMT is not the cause of drug resistance but the signs of drug resistance. Theoretically, TKIs could not be able to block down stream mutation such as Ras or PI3K. Without testing those mutation in those research paper, it is illogical to say EMT are related with drug resistant to TKIs.

5.6.4 Phosphorylation of EGFR (Tyr-1068)

In western blot, EGFR tyrosine residue 1068 was phosphorylated in all condition even in tyrosine kinase inhibitor treated dishes. So, it is best to see whether other tyrosine residues are phosphorylated. In human epidermoid cancer cell lines with high EGFR overexpression, tyrosine kinase inhibitors blocked all ligand phosphorylation sites except Y992 and Y1068 (Guo *et al.*, 2003)

Phosphorylation of tyrosine residue Y1068 has been suggested to be a predictive biomarker for tyrosine kinase inhibitors treatment for patient with wildtype EGFR in lung cancer patients (Wang *et al.*, 2012, Sette *et al.*, 2015) .Phosphorylation of tyrosine residue 1068 might be act as predictive biomarker for tyrosine kinase inhibitors in this experiments.

5.6.5 EGFR localization

In serum free condition, total EGFR was found in cell membrane. EGFR internalization was found after growth factor treatment. Diffuse cytoplasmic staining and membranous were found in TYS, AZA1 and HaCaT cell lines.

Report from other study found diffuse cytoplasmic staining of EGFRvIII in addition to strong membranous staining (Sok *et al.,* 2006). Another study stated that majority of EGFR vIII was expressed in cytoplasm while wild type EGFR was expressed in both membrane and cytoplasm (Chang *et al.,* 2013)

In HSG cell line, EGFR was stained in nucleus in addition to diffuse cytoplasmic and membranous staining.

It should be noted that EGFR has the potential to be translocated to the nucleus. Nuclear internalization of EGFR has been reported to acts as transcription factor (Lin *et al.,* 2001).

It might be possible, EGFR might acts as transcription factor in HSG cell lines. It lead to question why EGFR was internalized differently followed by growth factor treatment. In the future, it would be the best to look at the EGFR to get more detail information since current data are not enough to make a conclusion.

5.6.6 Phosphorylation of phosphor-p44/p42 MAPK (Erk1/2) Thr202/Tyr204

In all the cell line, MAPK 202/204 was expressed in EGF and TGF α treated cells. An hour pretreated with Tyrosine kinase inhibitor inhibit its expression while PD98059 (selective ERK1/2 inhibitor) could not inhibit the expression of phosphorylated MAPK202/206 was still expressed in serum free condtion which was likely to be the same level of expression as PD98059 treated dishes. The cells might need to express a certain intensity of phospho MAPK202/204 to see cell changes such as EMT and cell migration.

Another possible reason why MAPK202/204 was expressed in experiment is the amount used in experiment (25µM PD98059) is not enough for fully block it phosphorylation despite it fully blocked cell morphology change. Following picture from data sheet showed that MAPK 202/204 was expressed in 20µM PD98059 treated lane (yellow arrow) and its expression was completely blocked in 50µM PD98059 (blue arrow). It might be good idea to increase the concentration of PD98059 in future experiments.



5.6.7 Phosphorylation of Akt 473

Western blot results showed that. AKT 473 was not phosphorylated in AZA1 cell line. AKT 473 expression was found in HSG, TYS and HaCaT cell line. In HaCaT, tyrosine kinase inhibitor were able to block AKT473 expression completely. PD98059 did not block AKT473 expression since PD98059 only target to MAPK pathway. There was certain degree of AKT473 expression in tyrosine kinase inhibitors dishes of TYS and HSG cell line. However, morphological changes and migration of these cells were blocked with tyrosine kinase inhibitors which might mean that AKT473 phosphorylation is not related with these changes. This leads to a new hypothesis for future projects.

In immunofluorescence, Akt 473 was faintly expressed in EGF and TGFα treated dishes of all cell lines and can consider negative. There was no expression of AKT473 in in Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 treated dishes. Data from these experiments are not enough to draw conclusion about involvement of AKT473 in EGFR signalling pathway. In the future it might be of interested to widen the concentration range of antibodies to overcome the poor image problems.

Chapter 6: General Discussion

This Chapter will bring together all my results for a final overarching discussion. Chapter 4 (4.5), and Chapter 5 (5.5) give a full summary of the results while Chapter 4 (4.6) and Chapter 5 (5.6) give a detailed discussion. The aim of this Chapter is to discuss this work in the context of past and current developments in the field, elaborate on the advances that this work brings to the field and give a focus for future work following on from my studies.

The main highlights of my results and discussion are (the facts are shown in normal font and the interpretation is in italics):

- EGF and TGF α does not have an effect on cell proliferation.
- EGF and TGFα induce EMT-like morphological change and single cell migration.
- The plating density of the cells play an important role in morphological change and single cell migration.
- Four cell lines (one control and three cancer cell lines) have own unique characteristics in both morphological change and migration
- Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 inhibit both morphological change and single cell migration.
- MAPK pathway might be only pathway responsible for morphological change and single cell migration in cell lines used in this project.
- EGF and TGFα induce collective cell migration
- Gefitinib, Erlotinib inhibit collective cell migration.
- PD98059 partially inhibit collective cell migration in TYS and HaCaT cell line while it fully inhibit collective cell migration in AZA1 and HaCaT.
- Role of the MAPK signalling pathway in collective cell migration is cell line dependent.
- MAPK alone might not responsible for collective cell migration.

- Single cell migration and collective might not be use the same signalling pathway in cell migration
- These result match with my view and one that is widely held that the idea of personalized therapy might be the best to cure cancer.
- Addition of EGF and TGFα to the cell culture conditions takes time for changes in expression to occur (Both growth factors added to the cells for 48 hours did not change intensity of E-cadherin and Vimentin expression).
- It might be better to look at EMT markers after 72 hours growth factor treatment.
- HSG and AZA1 cell lines are morphologically similar to epithelial cells while expressing mesenchymal marker.
- For the future, it might be better to passage the cells onto Matrigel or 3D collagen to have a more in vivo like culture conditions.
- All the cell lines used in this project were responsive to TKIs including the TYS cells which is a cell line that morphologically undergoes EMT.
- This is at odds with others who have reported that EMT is believed to be related with resistance to TKIs.
- This leads to question: is it that EMT is not the cause of drug resistance but the signs of drug resistance?
- Theoretically, TKIs could not be able to block downstream pathways due to a mutation in proteins such as Ras or PI3K.
- In the Western blot, EGF and TGFα were found to induce phosphorylation of MAPK202/204 in all the cell lines and Tyrosine kinase inhibitors were able to block it. The tested concentration of PD98059 was not able to block phosphorylation. It might be good idea to increase the concentration.

Limitations of research

One of the Limitations of research include inaccessibility of pure squamous cell line because the cell lines used in this project were chosen on the basis of ethnicity (Asian) rather than site of cancer.

Lack of ideal positive control in Chapter 5 for Gefitinib, Erlotinib and PD98059 could also be regarded as limitation of the study.

There are also technological limitation based on the methods.

Automated cell counter TC10: it is unable to differentiate between dead cells and live cells. Dead cells therefore may be counted as live cells. It could also recognised a big clump of cells as single cell.

Scatter assay: While taking pictures, shot between time 0 and time 48 hours may not be same area of the dishes.

Scratch assay: Scratch line may not be uniform therefore a machine made scrach system is now available rather than the man made scratch used here. As above scatter assay, while taking picture, the shot between time 0 and time 24 hours may not be same area.

Immunofluorescence: technique does not have a uniform scoring system and interpretation is highly subjective.

Because of these limitations, Data are not strictly quantitive. In the future, it would be the better to use techniques (BrdU, time lapse imaging)which can provide strictly quantitave data.

Recommendation for future research

One of my developing views is that personalised therapy could be a way forward. Some trials or studies already exist where PI3K inhibitor such as Buparlisib (BKM120), Alpelisib (BYL719), PX-866, Copanlisib and mTOR inhibitor such as rapamycin (sirolimus), Temsirolimus (CCI-779), Everolimus (RAD001) and PI3K/mTOR dual inhibitor such as SF1126, Gedatolisib, Dactolisib (BEZ235) are used either alone or in combination with chemotherapy or in HNSCC clinical trials (Cai *et al.*, 2017, Wang *et al.*, 2017, Jung *et al.*, 2018).

It may be that epigenetic and environmental factors are important and that studies of cells that have had phenotypic change are a good future model in developing therapies. AZA1 cells are HSG cells treated with 5-Azacytidine. It is a potent growth inhibitor and cytotoxic agent. It has ability to inhibits DNA methyltransferase causing DNA demethylation and allows transcription factors to bind DNA and reactivate tumour suppressor genes. In the clinic, Azacytine is mainly used to treat myelodysplastic syndrome and some cases of acute myeloid leukemia as a hypomethylation agent. In vitro, it can be used to remove methyl group. In research 5-azacitidine is used to promote the cardiomyocyte differentiation of stem cells. In contrast, it promotes transdifferentiation of cardiac cells into skeletal myocyte. 5-Azacytidine inhibit T cell proliferation, blocks the cell cycle, inhibit the production of proinflammatory cytokines (Sánchez-Abarca *et al.*, 2010).

In South East Asia low dose of arecoline, which is the major alkaloid of areca nut was found to induce cell proliferation, cell cycle progression at G2/M phase and upregulation of c-myc while high dose of arecoline induced a cytotoxic response (Chuerduangphui *et al.*, 2018).

Since starting this study I have become increasing interested in geographic mutations as part of the future of drug design and therapy. EGFR TKD mutation varies with geographic location. The EGFR mutation had not been studied world-wide. Limited data has been produced from Africa, the Middle East, Central Asia, and Australia. Reports suggest that EGFR mutation is uncommon in the West (Loeffler-Ragg *et al.,* 2006) whilst its mutation is found more frequently in South Korea and South East Asia region (Perisanidis, 2017, Vatte *et al.,* 2017).The mechanisms behind the different rates of *EGFR* mutation in different ethnicities remains to be determined. The South East Asia region is a densely populated area of the world with a population of around 600 million and it definitely needs attention in terms of more research. It is a worry since none of TKIs targeting EGFR mutations has got FDA approval for HNSCC.

The mutation of the Ras family is more common in Asia when compared with the West (Saranath *et al.,* 1991, Chang *et al.,* 1991, Xu J *et al.,* 1998, Das *et al.,* 2000). Mutation of Ras is low in the west (Europe and North America). In fact, only 5% of head and neck cancer patients in UK harboured the H-Ras mutation (Chang *et al.,* 1991). Another study conducted in USA also found low occurrence of H-Ras mutation (Xu J *et al.,* 1998). In contrast, 35% of betel quid chewing related oral SCC in western India has H-ras mutation (Saranath, *et al.,* 1991). Further studies conducted in Eastern India, reported that H- and K-ras genes mutations in head and neck cancer patients at a frequency of 28 % and 33%, respectively (Das N *et al.,* 2000). A study conducted in Taiwan (which is another betel quid chewing region) found that 18% tumour specimens contained K-*ras* mutation (Kuo *et al.,* 1994).

This leads to question of whether Ras mutation is caused by specific carcinogen in areca nuts or related with ethnicity. This is an area where funding for these studies in countries such as Myanmar will be the future. Future research coming from my studies will involve the study of EGFR in Asian Head and Neck Cancer patient. As discussed in the above, EGFR mutation and Ras mutation are more common in Asia than the West. Currently the only FDA approved EGFR target for head and neck cancer is Cetuximab (which only works on extra cellular ligand binding domain of EGFR). Cetuximab will not be effective on downstream EGFR mutated and Ras mutated patients. Further work needs to analyse whether EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors and Ras inhibitors would be an appropriate therapy for subsets of populations such as from South East Asia. In order to hopefully save the life of millions of Asian head and neck cancer patients, clinical research need to be done not just on a Western group of people, but on all the ethnic groups. Asian people should receive equal chances to get the benefit from Anti-cancer drugs. The cell lines and tissue samples from SEA patients are needed to allow us to continue to develop/discover new and improved drugs. Funding would be required for this from NGO's, governments and pharmaceutical companies. My work will be to coordinate a team of scientists and clinicians working together for the benefit of people from South East Asia. **Chapter 7: References**

Adams TE, McKern N M, Ward C W.(2004) Signalling by the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor: Interplay with the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Growth Factors*, Volume 22(2)pp 89-95

Agrawal N, F., Frederick Mitchell J, Pickering Curtis R, Bettegowda Chetan, Chang Kyle. (2011). Exome Sequencing of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Reveals Inactivating Mutations in NOTCH1. *Science*. Volume 333, (6046) pp 1154-1157

Aladib W, Yoshida H, Sato M, (1990). Effect of epidermal growth factor on the cellular proliferation and phenotype of a neoplastic human salivary intercalated duct cell line or its derivatives. *Cancer research*, Volume 50(23)pp7650-61

Alberts Bruce, Johnson Alexander, Lewis Julian, Morgan David, Raff Martin, Roberts Keith, Walter Peter.(1983) Molecular biology of the cell, Garland Science. New york, sixth edition.pp 721

Alessi, D. R. James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, Cohen P. (1997) 'Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha.', *Current biology*, Volume7(4), pp. 261–9. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9094314.

Alizadeh AM, Shiri Sadaf, Farsinejad Sadaf (2014). Metastasis review: from bench to bedside. *tumour biology* Volume 35(9)pp 8483-523. doi: 10.1007/s13277-014-2421-z.

Al Moustafa AE, Chen D, Ghabreau L, Akil N. (2009). Association between human papillomavirus and Epstein-Barr virus infections in human oral carcinogenesis. *Med Hypotheses*, Volume 73(2)pp 184-6..

Altieri A., Bosetti C, Talamini R, Gallus S, FranceschiS,Levi F, La Vecchia C. (2002). Cessation of smoking and drinking and the risk of laryngeal cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, Volume 87(11), 1227–1229. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6600638

American cancer society. (2018). Available at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/oral-cavityand-oropharyngeal-cancer/treating/by-stage.html[Accessed 16 02 2019]. Amornphimoltham P, Patel V, Sodhi A, Nikitakis NG, Sauk JJ, Sausville EA, Molinolo AA, Gutkind JS(2005). Mammalian target of rapamycin, a molecular target in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck.*cancer research*. Volume 65(21)pp 9953-61.

Amornphimoltham P, Roth S.J., Ideker T., Silvio Gutkind J. (2017)Targeting the mTOR Signaling Circuitry in Head and Neck Cancer. In: Warnakulasuriya S., Khan Z. (eds) Squamous cell Carcinoma. Springer, Dordrecht pp 163-181 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1084-6_7

Anchan RM, Reh TA, Angello J, Balliet A, Walker M.(1991).EGF and TGFα stimulate retinal neuroepithelial cell proliferation in vitro. *Neuron* Volume 6, Issue 6, Pages 923-936

Andl CD, Mizushima T, Oyama K, Bowser M, Nakagawa H, Rustgi AK.(2004). EGFR-induced cell migration is mediated predominantly by the JAK-STAT pathway in primary esophageal keratinocytes. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, Volume 287(6)pp. 1227-37.

Ang KK, Berkey BA, Tu X, Zhang HZ, Katz R, Hammond EH, Fu KK, Milas L.,(2002). Impact of epidermal growth factor receptor expression on survival and pattern of relapse in patients with advanced head and neck carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* Volume 62(24)pp 7350-6

Ang KK, Harris J, Wheeler R, Weber R, Rosenthal D Nguyen-Tân PF, Westra WH, Chung CH, Jordan RC, Lu C, Kim H, Axelrod R, Silverman CC, Redmond KP, Gillison ML.(2010). Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*. Volume 363(1)pp 24-35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0912217. Epub 2010 Jun 7.

Ankathil R, Mathew A, Joseph F, Nair MK. (1996). Is oral cancer susceptibility inherited? Report of five oral cancer families. *Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol.*, Volume 32B(1) pp. 63-7.

Aoyama K, Ota Y, Kajiwara K, Hirayama N, Kimura M.(2014). Frequent mutations in NOTCH1 ligand-binding regions in Japanese oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Volume 452(4), pp. 980-985.

Ardinger HH,., Buetow KH, Bell GI, Bardach J, VanDemark DR, Murray JC.(1989) . Association of genetic variation of the transforming growth factor-alpha gene with cleft lip and palate. *Am J Hum Genet,* Volume 45(3) pp. 348-53. Ardito, Giuliani, Donatella Perrone, Giuseppe Troiano. (2017) The crucial role of protein phosphorylation in cell signaling and its use as targeted therapy (Review). *Int J Mol Med.* Volume 40(2):271-280. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2017.3036. Epub 2017 Jun 22.

Argiris A, Ghebremichael M, Gilbert J, Lee JW, Sachidanandam K, Kolesar JM, Burtness B, Forastiere AA. (2013). Phase III Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Docetaxel With or Without Gefitinib in Recurrent or Metastatic Head and Neck Cancer: An Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Trial. *J Clin Oncol.* Volume31(11):1405-14. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.45.4272

Bagan J, Sarrion G, Jimenez Y.(2010). Oral cancer: Clinical features. *Oral Oncology*, Volume 46(6), pp. 414-417.

Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, Tramacere I, Islami F, Fedirko V, Scotti L, Jenab M, Turati F, Pasquali E, Pelucchi C, Galeone C, Bellocco R, Negri E, Corrao G, Boffetta P, La Vecchia C. 2015. Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: a comprehensive dose-response meta-analysis. *British journal of cancer*, Volume112(3) p. 580–593.

Bandyopadhyay D, Mandal M, Adam L, Mendelsohn J, Kumar R.(1998). Physical interaction between epidermal growth factor receptor and DNA-dependent protein kinase in mammalian cells. *journal of biological chemistry*. Volume 273,pp 1568-1573. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.3.1568

Barrallo- Gimeno A, Nieto MA. (2005). The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer.*Development*. Volume 132(14)pp 3151-61.

Bates S, Phillips AC, Clark PA, Stott F, Peters G, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH.(1998). p14ARF links the tumour suppressors RB and p53. *Nature Internationl journal of science*. Volume 395(6698)pp 124-5.

Batlle E, Sancho E, Francí C, Domínguez D, Monfar M, Baulida J, García De Herreros A. (2000) . The transcription factor snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* Volume 2(2)pp 84-9.

Bei R, Pompa G, Vitolo D, Moriconi E, Ciocci L, Quaranta M, Frati L, Kraus MH, Muraro R.,(2001) . Co-localization of multiple ErbB receptors in stratified epithelium of oral squamous cell carcinoma.. *J Pathol,* Volume 195(3)pp 343-8.

Bianco R, Shin I, Ritter CA, Yakes FM, Basso A, Rosen N, Tsurutani J, Dennis PA, Mills GB, Arteaga CL . (2003). Loss of PTEN/MMAC1/TEP in EGF receptor-expressing tumor cells counteracts the antitumor action of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Oncogene*. Volume;22(18)pp 2812-22

Bleeker WK, , Lammerts van Bueren JJ, van Ojik HH, Gerritsen AF, Pluyter M, Houtkamp M, Halk E, Goldstein J, Schuurman J, van Dijk MA, van de Winkel JG, Parren PW.(2004). Dual mode of action of a human anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody for cancer therapy. *Journal of immunology*. Volume 173(7)pp 4699-707.

Bonner JA, . Harari PM, Giralt J, Azarnia N, Shin DM, Cohen RB, Jones CU, Sur R, Raben D, Jassem J, Ove R, Kies MS, Baselga J, Youssoufian H, Amellal N, Rowinsky EK, Ang KK.(2006). Radiotherapy plus Cetuximab for Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *The new england journal of medicine,* Volume 354(6)pp 567-78.

Bonner JA, Harari PM, Giralt J, Cohen RB, Jones CU, Sur RK, Raben D, Baselga J, Spencer SA, Zhu J, Youssoufian H, Rowinsky EK, Ang KK. (2010). Radiotherapy plus cetuximab for locoregionally advanced head and neck cancer: 5-year survival data from a phase 3 randomised trial, and relation between cetuximab-induced rash and survival. *Lancet Oncology.* Volume 11(1)pp 21-8. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70311-0. Epub 2009 Nov 10

Bossi P, Resteghini C, Paielli N, Licitra L, Pilotti S, Perrone F.(2016). Prognosis and predictive value of EGFR in head and neck cancer squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget.Volume 7(45)pp 74362-74379.

Boukamp PPetrussevska RT, Breitkreutz D, Hornung J, Markham A, Fusenig NE(1988) Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. *J Cell Biol*. Volume 106(3):761-71

Boyle JO,Hakim J, Koch W,Riet PVD, Hruban RH, Roa RA,Correa R,Eby YJ, Ruppert JM,Sidransky D,. (1993). The Incidence of p53 Mutations Increases with Progression of Head and Neck Cancer. *Cancer research.* Volume (53) (19)pp 4477-4480;

Brady CA, Attardi LD.(2010) . p53 at a glance. *J Cell Sci*. Volume 123(Pt 15):2527-32. doi: 10.1242/jcs.064501.

Brennan JA Boyle JO, Koch WM, Goodman SN, Hruban RH, Eby YJ, Couch MJ, Forastiere AA, Sidransky D.(1995). Association between cigarette smoking and mutation of the p53 gene in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med.* Volume332(11)pp 712-7.

Brennan P, Lewis S, Hashibe M, Bell DA, Boffetta P, Bouchardy C, Caporaso N, Chen C, Coutelle C, Diehl SR, Hayes RB, Olshan AF, Schwartz SM, Sturgis EM, Wei Q, Zavras AI, Benhamou S. (2004). Pooled analysis of alcohol dehydrogenase genotypes and head and neck cancer a HuGE review. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. Volume 159(1)pp:1-16.

Buchheit CL, Weigel KJ, Schafer ZT. (2014). Cancer cell survival during detachment from the ECM: multiple barriers to tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Volume 14(9):632-41.

Burstein Harold J ., 2005. The Distinctive Nature of HER2-Positive Breast Cancers. *New England Journal of Medicine*. Volume 353(16):1652-4

Cadena-Herrera, D., Esparza-De Lara, J. E., Ramírez-Ibañez, N. D., López-Morales, C. A., Pérez, N. O., Flores-Ortiz, L. F., & Medina-Rivero, E. (2015). Validation of three viable-cell counting methods: Manual, semi-automated, and automated. *Biotechnology reports (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 7, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2015.04.004

Cai Y, Dodhia S, Su GH(2017). Dysregulations in the PI3K pathway and targeted therapies for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, Volume 8(13)pp 22203-22217.

Callender T, el-Naggar AK, Lee MS, Frankenthaler R, Luna MA, Batsakis JG. (1994). PRAD-1 (CCND1)/cyclin D1 oncogene amplification in primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer*, Volume 74(1)pp 152-8.

Cancer research UK (2014) . [Online] Available at:

https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/mouth-

cancer/treatment/chemotherapy/about[Accessed 16 02 2019].

Cancer Research UK (2014) . [Online] Available at:

https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/mouth-cancer/stages-typesgrades/TNM[Accessed 16 02 2019].

Cancer-NHS. (2016). [Online] Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/cancer/ [Accessed 13 02 2019]. Cancer research UK. (2016). [Online] Available at: https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/whatis-cancer/how-cancer-starts/types-of-cancer [Accessed 13 02 2019].

Cancer Research UK. (2017). [Online] Available at: https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/what-is-cancer/how-cancers-grow [Accessed 19 02 2019].

Cancer Research UK. (2017). [Online] Available at:

https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/what-is-cancer/how-cancer-starts/types-of-cancer

Cancer Research UK (2018). [Online] Available at:

https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-

cancer-type/head-and-neck-cancers/risk-factors#ref-7

[Accessed 15 02 2019].

Cancer .Net. (2017). [Online] Available at: https://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/head-and-neck-cancer/treatment-options_[Accessed 16 02 2019].

Carpenter G, Cohen S.(1979). Epidermal growth factor. *Ann. Rev. Biochem,* Volume 48 pp 193-216.

Carpenter G.(2000). The EGF receptor: a nexus for trafficking and signalling. *Bioessays.* Volume 22(8)pp 697-707

Cell signal (2019) Overview of Immunofluorescence (IF) Techniques. https://www.cellsignal.co.uk/contents/_/overview-of-immunofluorescence-(if)techniques/overview-if-techniques [Accessed 10 02 2019].

Ceresa BP , McClintock JL . (2010). Transforming Growth Factor-α Enhances Corneal Epithelial Cell Migration by Promoting EGFR Recycling. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* , Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.; 51(7)pp 3455–3461.

Chaffer C L , Weinberg R A., (2011). perspective on cancer cell metastasis. *Science*, Vol. 331(6024),pp 1559-1564.

Chang KY, Tsai SY, Chen SH, Tsou HH, Yen CJ, Liu KJ, Fang HL, Wu HC, Chuang BF, Chou SW, Tang CK, Liu SY, Lu PJ, Yen CY, Chang JY. S. (2013). Dissecting the EGFR-PI3K-AKT pathway in

oral cancer highlights the role of the EGFR variant III and its clinical relevance. *J Biomed Sci,* Volume 20(1) 43.

Chang SE, Bhatia P, Johnson NW, Morgan PR, McCormick F, Young B, Hiorns L.(1991). Ras mutations in united kingdom examples of oral malignancies are infrequent. *internal journal of cancer*. Volume 48(3)pp 409-12.

Chapman CH, Saba NF, Yom SS (2016). Targeting epidermal growth factor receptor for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: still lost in translation?. *Ann Transl Med*. Volume 4(4):80.

Cheng T (2014) Chemical evaluation of electronic cigarettes. Tobacco Control 23: ii11–ii17.

Cheng Wang, Lv X, Jiang C, Cordes CM, Fu L, Lele SM, Davis JS. (2012). Transforming Growth Factor Alpha (TGFα) Regulates Granulosa Cell Tumor (GCT) Cell Proliferation and Migration through Activation of Multiple Pathway PLoS One. Volume 7(11):e48299. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048299.

Cheong, S. C., Vatanasapt, P., Yi-Hsin, Y., Zain, R. B., Kerr, A. R., & Johnson, N. W. (2017). Oral cancer in South East Asia: Current status and future directions. *Translational Research in Oral Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2057178X17702921

Chidzonga MM.(2003). HIV/AIDS orofacial lesions in 156 Zimbabwean patients at referral oral and maxillofacial surgical clinics. *oral disease*. Volum 9(6):317-22.

Chiosea SI, Grandis JR, Lui VW, Diergaarde B, Maxwell JH, Ferris RL, Kim SW, Luvison A, Miller M, Nikiforova MN.(2013). PIK3CA, HRAS and PTEN in human papillomavirus positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma.*BMC Cancer.* 17;13:602. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-602.

Chua DT, Wei WI, Wong MP, Sham JS, Nicholls J, Au GK. (2008) . Phase II study of gefitinib for the treatment of recurrent and Cellular responses to EGFR inhibitors and their relevance to cancer therapy. metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinom. *Head Neck.* Volume 30(7):863-7. doi: 10.1002/hed.20792.

Chuang SC, Scelo G, Tonita JM, Tamaro S, Jonasson JG, Kliewer EV, Hemminki K, Weiderpass E, Pukkala E, Tracey E, Friis S, Pompe-Kirn V, Brewster DH, Martos C, Chia KS, Boffetta P,
Brennan P, Hashibe M.(2008). Risk of second primary cancer among patients with head and neck cancers: A pool analysis of 13 cancer registries. *Int J cancer.* Volume 123(10):2390-6. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23798.

Chuerduangphui J, Ekalaksananan T, Chaiyarit P, Patarapadungkit N, Chotiyano A, Kongyingyoes B, Promthet S, Pientong C (2018). Effects of arecoline on proliferation of oral squamous cell carcinoma cells by dysregulating c-Myc and miR-22, directly targeting oncostatin M. *PloS One.* 13(1):e0192009. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192009. eCollection 2018.

Chung CH, Ely K, McGavran L, Varella-Garcia M, Parker J, Parker N, Jarrett C, Carter J, Murphy BA, Netterville J, Burkey BB, Sinard R, Cmelak A, Levy S, Yarbrough WG, Slebos RJ, Hirsch FR.(2006). Increased epidermal growth factor receptor gene copy number is associated with poor prognosis in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *J Clin Oncol*. Volume 24(25)pp 4170-6.

Clark AG, Vignjevic DM.(2018). Modes of cancer cell invasion and the role of the microenvironment. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.*, Volume 36:13-22

Coachrane H, EGF and TGFa motogenic activities are mediated by EGF receptor thesis. s.l.:s.n.

Coffer PJ, Kruijer W., (1995). EGF receptor deletions define a region specifically mediating STAT transcription factor activatio. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, Volume 210(1)pp74-81

Collado M, Blasco MA, Serrano M. (2007) . Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. *cell*. Volume 130(2)pp 223-33.

Dahiya K, Dhankhar R. (2016) . Updated overview of current biomarkers in head and neck carcinoma. *World J Methodol,* Volume 6(1)pp 77-86

Das N, Majumder J, U. Das Gupta. (2000). ras Gene mutations in oral cancer in eastern India. *Oral oncology*. 36. 76-80. 10.1016/S1368-8375(99)00058-5.

David M, Wong L, Flavell R, Thompson SA, Wells A, Larner AC, Johnson GR.(1996) . STAT activation by epidermal growth factor (EGF) and amphiregulin. Requirement for the EGF

receptor kinase but not for tyrosine phosphorylation sites or JAK1. *J Biol Chem,* Volume 271(16):9185-8.

Dayyani F, Etzel CJ, Liu M, Ho CH, Lippman SM, Tsao AS. (2010). Meta-analysis of the impact of human papillomavirus (HPV) on cancer risk and overall survival in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC). *Head and neck Oncology*. 2:15. doi: 10.1186/1758-3284-2-15.

Decker S.(1990). Epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha induce differential processing of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.,* Volume 166(2):615-21.

De Larco JE, Todaro GJ. (1980). Sarcoma growth factor (SGF): specific binding to epidermal growth factor (EGF) membrane receptors. *journal of cell physiology*. Volume 102(2):267-77.

De Roock W, Claes B, Bernasconi D, De Schutter J, Biesmans B, Fountzilas G, Kalogeras KT, Kotoula V, Papamichael D, Laurent-Puig P, Penault-Llorca F, Rougier P, Vincenzi B, Santini D, Tonini G, Cappuzzo F, Frattini M, Molinari F, Saletti P, De Dosso S, Martini M, Bardelli A, Siena S, Sartore-Bianchi A, Tabernero J, Macarulla T, Di Fiore F, Gangloff AO, Ciardiello F, Pfeiffer P, Qvortrup C, Hansen TP, Van Cutsem E, Piessevaux H, Lambrechts D, Delorenzi M, Tejpar S. (2010). Effects of KRAS, BRAF, NRAS, and PIK3CA mutations on the efficacy of cetuximab plus chemotherapy in chemotherapy-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective consortium analysis. *Lancet Oncology*. Volume 11(8):753-62

Dhingra V, VermaJ, MisraV, Srivastav S, Hasan F. (2017). Evaluation of Cyclin D1 expression in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR*, *11*(2), EC01–EC04. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2017/21760.9329

Ding XM, (2014). MicroRNAs: regulators of cancer metastasis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). *chinese journal of cancer*, Volume 33(3)pp140-7.

Dittmann K, Mayer C, Fehrenbacher B, Schaller M, Raju U, Milas L, Chen DJ, Kehlbach R, Rodemann HP.(2005). Radiation-induced epidermal growth factor receptor nuclear import is linked to activation of DNA-dependent protein kinase. *J Biol Chem.* Volume 280(35)pp 31182-9 Downward J, Parker P, Waterfield MD. (1984). Autophosphorylation sites on the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Nature*, Volume 311(5985)pp 483-5.

Drewett Zoe(2018) E-cigarettes 'could give you mouth cancer by damaging your DNA'oral Cancer news accessed 14 june 2020, https://oralcancernews.org/wp/e-cigarettes-could-giveyou-mouth-cancer-by-damaging-your

dna/#:~:text=E%2Dcigarettes%20'could%20give%20you%20mouth,cancer%20by%20damagi ng%20your%20DNA'&text=Researchers%20say%20vaping%20could%20lead,damaging%20c ompounds%20in%20the%20mouth.

Druesne-Pecollo N, (2009). Alcohol and genetic polymorphisms: effect on risk of alcoholrelated cancer.. *Lancet Oncol*, Volume 10(2)pp 173-80.

Du B., Altorki NK, Kopelovich L, Subbaramaiah K, Dannenberg AJ. (2005). Tobacco smoke stimulates the transcription of amphiregulin in human oral epithelial cells: evidence of a cyclic AMP-responsive element binding protein-dependent mechanism. *Cancer Res* Volume 65(13)pp 5982-8.

Du L, Chen X, Cao Y, Lu L, Zhang F, Bornstein S, Li Y, Owens P, Malkoski S, Said S, Jin F, Kulesz-Martin M, Gross N, Wang XJ, Lu SL .(2016) . Overexpression of PIK3CA in murine head and neck epithelium drives tumor invasion and metastasis through PDK1 and enhanced TGFβ signaling. *Oncogene*, Volume 35(35)pp 4641-52.

Dutta PR, Maity A. (2007). Cellular responses to EGFR inhibitors and their relevance to cancer therapy. *cancer letter* .254(2):165-77.

Ebner R, Derynck R. (1991). Epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha: differential intracellular routing and processing of ligand-receptor complexes. *Cell Regulation*. Volume 2(8)pp 599-612.

Edge SB, Compton C.(2010). The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. *Ann Surg Oncol*, Volume 17(6)pp 1471-4. doi: 10.1245/s10434-010-0985-4.

Ellis IR, Schor AM, Schor SL.(2007). EGF AND TGF-alpha motogenic activities are mediated by the EGF receptor via distinct matrix-dependent mechanisms. *Exp Cell Res.* Volume313(4)pp732-41.

El-Naggar S, Liu Y, Dean DC.(2009) Mutation of the Rb1 Pathway Leads to Overexpression of mTor, Constitutive Phosphorylation of Akt on Serine 473, Resistance to Anoikis, and a Block in c-Raf Activation. *Mol Cell Biol*. Volume 29(21):5710-7. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00197-09. Epub 2009 Aug 24.

Engelman JA, Zejnullahu K, Gale CM, Lifshits E, Gonzales AJ, Shimamura T, Zhao F, Vincent PW, Naumov GN, Bradner JE, Althaus IW, Gandhi L, Shapiro GI, Nelson JM, Heymach JV, Meyerson M, Wong KK, Jänne PA. (2007). PF00299804, an irreversible pan-ERBB inhibitor, is effective in lung cancer models with EGFR and ERBB2 mutations that are resistant to gefitinib. *Cancer Res* Volume 67(24)pp 11924-32

Engelman JA, Chen L, Tan X, Crosby K, Guimaraes AR, Upadhyay R, Maira M, McNamara K, Perera SA, Song Y, Chirieac LR, Kaur R, Lightbown A, Simendinger J, Li T, Padera RF, García-Echeverría C, Weissleder R, Mahmood U, Cantley LC, Wong KK. (2008). Effective use of PI3K and MEK inhibitors to treat mutant Kras G12D and PIK3CA H1047R murine lung cancers. *Nature medicine.* Volume 14(12):1351-6. doi: 10.1038/nm.1890. Epub 2008 Nov 30.

Eriksen JG, Maare C, Johansen J, Primdahl H, Eyensen J, Kristensen CA, Andersen LJ, Overgaard J (2014). OC-0372: DAHANCA19: A randomized phase III study of primary (chemo-) radiotherapy and zalutumumab in head and neck carcinoma. *European society of radiotherapy and oncology (ESTRO)*. Volume 111(1) pp S143–S144

Ettinger Kyle S, Ganry Laurent, Fernades Rui P(2019). Oral Cavity Cancer. Oral and maxillofacial surgery clinics of North America. Volume31, Issue 1, pp 13-29

Fakhry C, Westra WH, Li S, Cmelak A, Ridge JA, Pinto H, Forastiere A, Gillison ML. (2008). Improved survival of patients with human papillomavirus-positive head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in a prospective clinical trial.. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. Volume 100(4)pp261-9

Fichter, C.D., Gudernatsch, V., Przypadlo, C.M. (2014). ErbB targeting inhibitors repress cell migration of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma cells by distinct

signaling path ., Journal of Molecular Medicine 92: 1209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-014-1187-5

Frederick BA, Helfrich BA, Coldren C D., Zheng D, Chan D, Bunn Paul A Jr. and Raben D.(2007). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition predicts gefitinib resistance in cell lines of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Mol Cancer Ther*. Volume 6(6)pp 1683-91. Epub 2007 May 31.

Freedman ND, Schatzkin A, Leitzmann MF, Hollenbeck AR, Abnet CC. (2007). Alcohol and head and neck cancer risk in a prospective study. *British journal of cancer*, Volume 96(9)pp1469–1474.

Friedl P, Gilmour D.(2009). Collective cell migration in morphogenesis, regeneration and cancer. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* Volume 10(7)pp445-57.

Friedl P, Illina O.(2009). Mechanisms of collective cell migration at a glance. *Journal of Cell science* 122,pp 3203-3208; doi: 10.1242/jcs.036525.

Fukusumi T, Califano JA (2018) . The NOTCH Pathway in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *J Dent Res.* Volume 97(6)pp 645-653. doi: 10.1177/0022034518760297. Epub 2018 Feb 28.

Fumagalli I,Dugue D, Bibault JE, Clémenson C, Vozenin MC, Mondini M, Deutsch E. (2014). Cytotoxic effect of lapatinib is restricted to human papillomavirus-positive head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines. *OncoTargets and Therapy*.8,pp 335–345.

Gan HK, Cvrljevic AN, Johns TG.(2013) . the epidermal growth factor receptor variant III (EGFRvIII): where wild things are altered. *The FEBS Journel.* Volume 280(21)pp 5350-70. doi: 10.1111/febs.12393. Epub 2013 Jul 8.

Ganjre AP, Kunjir G, Inamdar H, Pande S.(2017). Molecular characterization of collective cell migration at invasive front in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Int Oral Health*;9,pp 97-104

Garavello W, Foschi R, Talamini R, La Vecchia C, Rossi M, Dal Maso L, Tavani A, Levi F, Barzan L, Ramazzotti V, Franceschi S, Negri E. (2008). Family history and the risk of oral and pharyngeal cancer. *International journal of cancer*. Volume 122(8):1827-31

Garnett J, Chumbalkar V, Vaillant B, Gururaj AE, Hill KS, Latha K, Yao J, Priebe W, Colman H, Elferink LA, Bogler O. (2013). Regulation of HGF expression by ΔEGFR-mediated c-Met activation in glioblastoma cells. *Neoplasia*. Volume 15(1)pp73-84

Gasparini, G., Longobardi, G., Boniello, R., Di Petrillo, A., & Pelo, S. (2006). Fanconi anemia manifesting as a squamous cell carcinoma of the hard palate: a case report. *Head & face medicine*, *2*, 1. doi:10.1186/1746-160X-2-1

Gazdar, AF. (2009). Activating and resistance mutations of EGFR in non-small-cell lung cancer: role in clinical response to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor. *Oncogene. Suppl* 1(Suppl 1), S24–S31 https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.198

Giudice FS, Squarize CH, (2013). The determinants of head and neck cancer: Unmasking the PI3K pathway mutations.. *J Carcinog* Mutagen Suppl 5. pii: 00

Gkouveris, I., Nikitakis, N., Karanikou, M., Rassidakis, G., & Sklavounou, A. (2016). JNK1/2 expression and modulation of STAT3 signaling in oral cancer. *Oncology letters*, Volume *12*(1), 699–706.

Gkouveris I, Nikitakis NG.(2017) . Role of JNK signaling in oral cancer: A mini review. *Tumour Biol.* ; Volume 39(6):1010428317711659. doi: 10.1177/1010428317711659.

Goodsell D. S.(2003). The Molecular Perspective: Epidermal Growth Factor. *the oncologist*. Volume 21(6):702-3

Grana R, Benowitz N, Glantz SA(2014) E-cigarettes: a scientific review. *Circulation*. 129(19):1972-1986. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.007667

Grandis JR, Tweardy DJ. (1993). Elevated levels of transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor messenger RNA are early markers of carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res.* Volume 53(15)pp3579-84.

Grandis JR, Chakraborty A, Melhem MF, Zeng Q, Tweardy DJ.(1997). Inhibition of epidermal growth factor receptor gene expression and function decreases proliferation of head and neck squamous carcinoma but not normal mucosal epithelial cells. *Oncogene*. Volume 15(4):409-16. Grandis JR, Melhem MF, Barnes EL, Tweardy DJ.(1996) . Quantitative immunohistochemical analysis of transforming growth factor-alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Cancer.* Volume 78(6):1284-92

Grandis JR, Melhem MF, Gooding WE, Day R, Holst VA, Wagener MM, Drenning SD,

Tweardy DJ. (1998). Levels of TGF-alpha and EGFR protein in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and patient survival. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. Volume 90(11):824-32.

Grandis JR, Drenning SD, Chakraborty A, Zhou MY, Zeng Q, Pitt AS, Tweardy DJ.(1998). Requirement of Stat3 but not Stat1 activation for epidermal growth factor receptormediated cell growth In vitro. *J Clin Invest*, Volume 102(7)pp 1385-92.

Grandis JR, Sok JC.(2004). Signaling through the epidermal growth factor receptor during the development of malignancy. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* Volume 102(1)pp37-46.

Greenall S, Johns T.(2016). EGFRvIII: the promiscuous mutation., *Cell Death Discovery* **2**, 16049 https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2016.492016.

Grulich AE, van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM. (2007). Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. *Lancet.* Volume 370(9581):59-67.

Guan X.(2015). Cancer metastases: challenges and opportunities. *Acta Pharm Sin B,* Volume 5(5)pp 402–418.

Guo L, Kozlosky CJ, Ericsson LH, Daniel TO, Cerretti DP, Johnson RS. (2003). Studies of ligand-induced site-specific phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom.* Volume 14(9)pp 1022-31.

Hajra KM, Fearon ER. (2002). Cadherin and catenin alterations in human cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*. Volume 34(3)pp 255-68.

Hama T(2009). Prognostic significance of epidermal growth factor receptor phosphorylation and mutation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncologist.* Volume 14, 900–908.

Hanzawa M, , Shindoh M, Higashino F, Yasuda M, Inoue N, Hida K, Ono M, Kohgo T, Nakamura M, Notani K, Fukuda H, Totsuka Y, Yoshida K, Fujinaga K.(2000). Hepatocyte growth factor upregulates E1AF that induces oral squamous cell carcinoma cell invasion by activating matrix metalloproteinase genes. *carcinogenesis*. Volume 21(6):1079-85

Hashibe M,(2009). Interaction between tobacco and alcohol use and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.*, Volume18(2),pp 541-50.

Hasina R.(1999). Autocrine and paracrine motility factors and their involvement in invasiveness in a human oral carcinoma cell line. *Br J Cancer*. Volume 80(11)pp 1708-17

Hauff SJ, Raju SC, Orosco RK, Gross AM, Diaz-Perez JA, Savariar E, Nashi N[,] Hasselman J[,] Whitney M, Myers JN, Lippman SM, Tsien RY, Ideker T, Nguyen QT.(2014). Matrixmetalloproteinases in head and neck carcinoma-cancer genome atlas analysis and fluorescence imaging in mice. *otolaryngo head and neck surgery*. Volume 151(4)pp 612-8.

Hemmings, B. A.(1997). Akt Signaling--Linking Membrane Events to Life and Death Decisions. *Science* ; Volume 275(5300):628-30.

Henriksen L, Grandal MV, Knudsen SL, van Deurs B, Grøvdal LM. (2013). Internalization mechanisms of the epidermal growth factor receptor after activation with different ligands. *PLoS One.* Volume 8(3):e58148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058148. Epub 2013 Mar 5

Herbst R. S.(2004). Review of epidermal growth factor receptor biology. *International journal of Radiation Oncology*. Volume 59(2 Suppl):21-6

Hobbs CG, Sterne JA, Bailey M, Heyderman RS, Birchall MA, Thomas SJ .(2006).Human papillomavirus and head and neck cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Otolaryngol*. Volume 31(4)pp 259-66.

HsuanJ. J., Totty N., & Waterfield, M. D. (1989). Identification of a novel autophosphorylation site (P4) on the epidermal growth factor receptor. *The Biochemical journal*, Volume *262*(2),pp 659–663. doi:10.1042/bj2620659.

Huang SM, Harari PM.(2000). Modulation of radiation response after epidermal growth factor receptor blockade in squamous cell carcinomas: inhibition of damage repair, cell cycle kinetics, and tumor angiogenesis. *Clin Cancer Res.* Volume 6(6)pp 2166-74.

Iglesias Bartolome R Martin D, Gutkind JS.(2013) . Exploiting the head and neck cancer oncogenome: widespread PI3K-mTOR pathway alterations and novel molecular targets. *Cancer Discov*, Volume 3(7) pp 722-5.

Ismail SB, Kumar SK, Zain RB. (2007). Oral lichen planus and lichenoid reactions: etiopathogenesis, diagnosis, management and malignant transformation. *J Oral Sci*. Volume 49(2)pp 89-106.

Itoh N, Semba S, Ito M, Takeda H, Kawata S, Yamakawa M.(2002) . Phosphorylation of Akt/PKB Is Required for Suppression of Cancer Cell Apoptosis and Tumor Progression in Human Colorectal Carcinoma. *Cancer*. Volume 94(12)pp 3127-34

Jänne PA, Yang JC, Kim DW, Planchard D, Ohe Y, Ramalingam SS, Ahn MJ, Kim SW, Su WC, Horn L, Haggstrom D, Felip E, Kim JH, Frewer P, Cantarini M, Brown KH, Dickinson PA, Ghiorghiu S, Ranson M. M. P.(2015). AZD9291 in EGFR Inhibitor–Resistant Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* Volume 372(18):1689-99

Jethwa AR, Khariwala SS .pp(2017). Tobacco-related carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, Volume 36(3)pp 411-423

Jia WH, Luo XY, Feng BJ, Ruan HL, Bei JX, Liu WS, Qin HD, Feng QS, Chen LZ, Yao SY, Zeng YX.(2010) . Traditional Cantonese diet and nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: a large-scale case-control study in Guangdong, China. *BMC Cancer.* 10:446. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-446.

Johnson GR, K. B. S. M. S. K.(1993). Amphiregulin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor and p185erbB2. Evidence that amphiregulin acts exclusively through the epidermal growth factor receptor at the surface of human epithelial cells. *Journal of biological chemistry.* Volume 268(4):2924-31

Jo M, Stolz DB, Esplen JE, Dorko K, Michalopoulos GK, Strom SC.S. D(2000). Cross-talk between epidermal growth factor receptor and c-Met signal pathways in transformed cells. *Journal of Biol Chem.* Volume 275(12)pp8806-11

Jones AS, Morar P, Phillips DE, Field JK, Husband D, Helliwell TR, (1995). Second primary tumors in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer*. Volume 75(6)pp 1343-53

Jung K , Kang H, Mehra R.. (2018). Targeting phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC). *Cancers of the Head & Neck.* 4.3:3. doi: 10.1186/s41199-018-0030-z. eCollection 2018.

Kalish LH, Kwong RA,Cole IE, Gallagher RM, Sutherland RL, Musgrove EA.(2004) Deregulated cyclinD 1 expression is associated with decrease efficacy of the selective epidermal growth factor receptor kinase inhibitor gefitinib in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell line. Clin Cancer Res. Volume 10(22):7764-74

Kalluri R, Weinberg R A .(2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Clin Invest.* Volume 119(6),pp1420-8.

Kalyankrishna S, Grandis JR .(2006). Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Biology in Head and neck cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, Volume 24(17),pp 2666-72.

Kassim KH, Daley TD.(1988). Herpes simplex virus type 1 proteins in human oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*, Volume 65(4)pp 445-8

Katoh, M.(2012). Function and cancer genomics of FAT family genes (Review). INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ONCOLOGY . 41(6)pp 1913-8. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2012.1669. Epub 2012 Oct 17.

Kawakita D, Matsuo K.(2017). Alcohol and head and neck cancer. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews,* Volume 36(3), pp. 425–434.

Kenichi Suda.(2011). Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in an Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Mutant Lung Cancer Cell Line with Acquired Resistance to Erlotinib. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology,* Volume 6(7) pp. 1152-1161.

Kerdpon D, Rich AM, Reade PC.(1997). Expression of p53 in oral mucosal hyperplasia, dysplasia and squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Dis,* Volume 3(2), pp. 86-92.

Keysae SP,Astling DP,Anderson RT,Vogler BW,Bowels DW, Morton J,Paylor J,Glogowskaa MJ, Le PN, Eagles-Soukup JP, Kako SL, Takimoto SM,Sehrt DB, Umpierrez A, Pittmana MA, Macfadden SM, Helbera RM, Peterson S, Jimeno A (2013). A patient tumor transplant model of squamous cell cancer identifies PI3K inhibitors as candidate therapeutics in defined molecular bins. *molecular oncology*.7(4)776-790 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2013.03.004

Khattri A, Zuo Z, Brägelmann J, Keck MK, El Dinali M, Brown CD, Stricker T, Munagala A, Cohen EE, Lingen MW, White KP, Vokes EE, Seiwert TY. (2015). Rare occurrence of EGFRvIII deletion in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncology*. Volume 51(1)pp53-8.

Kim J, Kong J, Chang H. Kim H, Kim. A(2016). EGF induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition through phospho-Smad2/3-Snail signaling pathway in breast cancer cells. *Oncotarget*. 7(51),pp85021-85032.

Kim KT ,Kim BS, Kim JH .(2016). Association between FAT1 mutation and overall survival in patients with human papillomavirus-negative head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck* 1:E2021-9. doi: 10.1002/hed.24372. Epub 2016 Feb 15..

Kimman M, Norman R, Jan S, Kingston D, Woodward M.(2012). The burden of cancer in member countries of the association of southeast asia nations(ASEAN). *Asian Pac J cancer Prev*, pp. 411-20.

Kobayashi S, Boggon TJ, Dayaram T, Jänne PA, Kocher O, Meyerson M, Johnson BE, Eck MJ, Tenen DG, Halmos B. (2005). EGFR mutation and resistance of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. Volume352(8),pp786-92

Kosaka T, Yatabe Y, Endoh H, Yoshida K, Hida T, Tsuboi M, Tada H, Kuwano H, Mitsudomi T.(2006). Analysis of epidermal growth factor receptor gene mutation in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer and acquired resistance to gefitinib. *Cancer Therapy: Clinical.* Volume (19):5764-9.

Kreimer AR, Clifford GM, Boyle P, Franceschi S. (2005). Human papillomavirus types in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas worldwide: a systematic review.. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, Volume 14(2) pp. 467-75.

Kudo Y, Kitajima S, Ogawa I, Hiraoka M, Sargolzaei, Reza, Sato S, Miyauchi M and Takata.(2004).Invasion and Metastasis of Oral Cancer Cells Require Methylation of E-Cadherin and/or Degradation of Membranous β-Catenin, *, clinical cancer research* Volume 10, Issue 16, 5455-63. Kumar A, Petri ET, Halmos B, Boggon TJ. (2008). Structure and clinical relevance of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology*. Volume 26(10):1742-51

Kuo MY, Jeng JH, Chiang CP, Hahn LJ.(1994) . Mutations of Ki-ras oncogene codon 12 in betel quid chewing-related human oral squamous cell carcinoma in Taiwan. *J Oral Pathol Med,* Volume 23(2):70-4. pp. 70-4.

Kurahara S, Shinohara M, Ikebe T, Nakamura S, Beppu M, Hiraki A, Takeuchi H, Shirasuna K.(1999). Expression of MMPS, MT-MMP, and TIMPs in squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity: correlations with tumor invasion and metastasis.*head and neck*. Volume 21(7):627-38.

Kutler DI, Auerbach AD, Satagopan J, Giampietro PF, Batish SD, Huvos AG, Goberdhan A, Shah JP, Singh B.(2003). High Incidence of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma in Patients With Fanconi Anemia. *JAMA Otolaryngology Head and neck surgery*. Volume 129(1):106-12.

Lam K, Zhang L, Bewick M, Lafrenie RM.(2005).HSG cells differentiated by culture on extracellular matrix involves induction of S-adenosylmethione decarboxylase and ornithine decarboxylase.*J Cell Physiol.*; Volume 203(2):353-61.

La Monica, S., Caffarra, C., Saccani, F., Galvani, E., Galetti, M., Fumarola, C., Alfieri, R. R. (2013). Gefitinib inhibits invasive phenotype and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in drug-resistant NSCLC cells with MET amplification. *PloS one*, **Volume** *8*(10), e78656. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0078656

Lassen P, Eriksen JG, Hamilton-Dutoit S, Tramm T, Alsner J, Overgaard J.(2009) . Effect of HPV-associated p16INK4A expression on response to radiotherapy and survival in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *J Clin Oncol.* Volume 27(12):1992-8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.2853. Epub 2009 Mar 16.

Lax I, Fischer R, Ng, C, Segre J, Ullrich A, Givol D & Schlessinger J. (1991). Noncontiguous regions in the extracellular domain of EGF receptor define ligand-binding specificity. *Cell regulation*, Volume 2(5), 337–345. doi:10.1091/mbc.2.5.337

Lee JI, Soria JC, Hassan KA, El-Naggar AK, Tang X, Liu DD, Hong WK, Mao L.(2001). Loss of PTEN expression as a prognostic marker for tongue cancer. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* Volume 127(12)pp1441-5.

Lee JW, Soung YH, Kim SY, Nam HK, Park WS, Nam SW, Kim MS, Sun DI, Lee YS, Jang JJ, Lee JY, Yoo NJ, Lee SH. (2005). Somatic mutations of EGFR gene in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Clin Cancer Res,* Volume 11(8)pp2879-82.

Lee JM, Dedhar S, Kalluri R, Thompson EW. (2006). The epithelial-mesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease. *J Cell Biol.* Volume 172(7):973-81.

Leemans CR, Braakhuis BJ, Brakenhoff RH. 2011. The molecular biology of head and neck cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Volume 11(1)pp9-22.

Leeman-Neill RJ, Seethala RR, Singh SV, Freilino ML, Bednash JS, Thomas SM, Panahandeh MC, Gooding WE, Joyce SC, Lingen MW, Neill DB, Grandis JR. (2011). Inhibition of EGFR-STAT3 signaling with erlotinib prevents carcinogenesis in a chemically-induced mouse model of oral squamous cell carcinoma.*Cancer Prev Res,* Volume 4(2):230-7.

Lemmon M. A., Bu, Z., Ladbury, J. E., Zhou, M., Pinchasi D, Lax I, Engelman DM, Schlessinger J. (1997). Two EGF molecules contribute additively to stabilization of the EGFR dimer. *The EMBO journal*, Volume *16*(2), 281–294. doi:10.1093/emboj/16.2.281

Lemmon MA, <u>Schlessinger J</u>. (2010) . Cell signaling by receptor-tyrosine kinases. *Cell*. Volume 141(7):1117-34. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.011.

Lenferink AE, Pinkas-Kramarski R, van de Poll ML, van Vugt MJ, Klapper LN, Tzahar E, Waterman H, Sela M, van Zoelen EJ, Yarden Y.(1998). Differential endocytic routing of homo- and hetero-dimeric ErbB tyrosine kinases confers signaling superiority to receptor heterodimers. *EMBO J*. Volume 17(12):3385-97.

Levkowitz G, , Waterman H, Ettenberg SA, Katz M, Tsygankov AY, Alroy I, Lavi S, Iwai K, Reiss Y, Ciechanover A, Lipkowitz S, Yarden Y. (1999). Ubiquitin ligase activity and tyrosine phosphorylation underlie suppression of growth factor signaling by c-Cbl/Sli-1.. *Molecular Cell*, Volume 4(6):1029-40.

Lewis JS Jr, Thorstad WL, Chernock RD, Haughey BH, Yip JH, Zhang Q, El-Mofty SK. (2010). p16 positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma:an entity with a favorable prognosis regardless of tumor HPV status. *Am J Surg Pathol.* Volume 34(8):1088-96

Liao Y, H. M., (2010). Physiological regulation of Akt activity and stability. *Am J Transl Res.* Volume 2(1):19-42.

Li C, Iida M, Dunn EF, Ghia AJ, Wheeler DL.(2009) . Nuclear EGFR contributes to acquired resistance to cetuximab.. *Oncogene*. Oct 29;28(43):3801-13. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.234. Epub 2009 Aug 17.

Li C, Egloff AM, Sen M, Grandis JR, Johnson DE. Caspase-8 mutations in head and neck cancer confer resistance to death receptor-mediated apoptosis and enhance migration, invasion, and tumor growth. Mol Oncol. (2014) Oct;8(7):1220-30. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2014.03.018. Epub 2014 Apr 18.

Li Da Ming, Ambrogio Lauren, Shimamura, Takeshi, Kubo, Suzuho & Takahashi, M & Chirieac, Lucian & Padera, Robert & Shapiro, Geoffrey & Baum, A & Himmelsbach, F & Rettig, W & Meyerson, M & Solca, F. & Greulich, Heidi & Wong, K-K. (2008). BIBW2992, an irreversible EGFR/HER2 inhibitor highly effective in preclinical lung cancer models. Oncogene. Volume 27(34). 4702-4711

Lim AM, Do H, Young RJ, Wong SQ, Angel C, Collins M, Takano EA, Corry J, Wiesenfeld D, Kleid S, Sigston E, Lyons B, Fox SB, Rischin D, Dobrovic A, Solomon B. (2014). Differential mechanisms of CDKN2A (p16) alteration in oral tongue squamous cell carcinomas and correlation with patient outcome. *Int J Cancer.* Volume135(4):887-95. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28727. Epub 2014 Jan 30.

Lin-Gibson S, Sarkar S, Elliott JT (2018) Summary of the National Institute of Standards and Technology and US food and Drug Administration cell counting workshop: Sharing practices in cell counting measurements *Cytotherapy*. Volume 20(6): 785-795.doi. 10.1016

Lin SC, Lin LH, Yu SY, Kao SY, Chang KW, Cheng HW, Liu CJ.(2018). FAT1 Somatic Mutations in Head and Neck Carcinoma are Associated with Tumor Progression and Survival. *Carcinogenesis.* Volume 39(11):1320-1330. Lin SY, Makino K, Xia W, Matin A, Wen Y, Kwong KY, Bourguignon L, Hung MC.(2001). Nuclear localization of EGF receptor and its potential new role as a transcription factor. *Nat Cell Biol.* Volume 3(9):802-8.

Lintz M, Muñoz A., & Reinhart-King, C. A. (2017). The Mechanics of Single Cell and Collective Migration of Tumor Cells. *Journal of biomechanical engineering*, *139*(2), 0210051–0210059. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4035121

Liu CY, Lin HH, Tang MJ, Wang YK .(2015) . Vimentin contributes to epithelial-mesenchymal transition cancerkudo cell mechanics by mediating cytoskeletal organization and focal adhesion maturation. *Oncotarget*. Volume 6(18):15966-83.

Li T, Perez-Soler R.(2009). Skin toxicities associated with epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors. *Target Oncol.* Volume 4(2):107-19

Liu Y, Dean DC.(2010) Tumor initiation via loss of cell contact inhibition versus Ras mutation: do all roads lead to EMT? Cell Cycle. Volume9(5):897-900. Epub 2010 Mar 13.

Loeffler-Ragg J, Witsch-Baumgartner M, Tzankov A, Hilbe W, Schwentner I, Sprinzl GM, Utermann G, Zwierzina H.(2006). Low incidence of mutations in EGFR kinase domain in Caucasian patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinom. *European journal of cancer* Jan; Volume 42(1):109-11.

Lo HW, Hsu SC, Ali-Seyed M, Gunduz M, Xia W, Wei Y, Bartholomeusz G, Shih JY, Hung MC. (2005). Nuclear interaction of EGFR and STAT3 in the activation of the iNOS/NO pathway. *Cancer cell*. Volume 7(6):575-89.

Lo HW, Hsu SC, Xia W, Cao X, Shih JY, Wei Y, Abbruzzese JL, Hortobagyi GN, Hung MC. H.(2007) Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Cooperates with Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 to Induce Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Cancer Cells via Upregulation of TWIST Gene Expression. *Cancer Res.* Volume 67(19)pp9066-76.

Lu Zhimin, Jiang Guoqiang, Blume-Jensen Peter, Hunter Tony(2001)Epidermal growth factor induced tumor cell invasion and metastasis initiated by Dephosphorylation and downregulation of focal ashesion kinase, cellular and molecular biology.pp 4016-4031

Lu Z, Ghosh S, Wang Z, Hunter T. Downregulation of caveolin-1 function by EGF leads to the loss of Ecadherin, increased transcriptional activity of beta-catenin, and enhanced tumor cell invasion. *Cancer Cell*. 2003;4(6):499-515. doi:10.1016/s1535-6108(03)00304-0

Lubin JH, Purdue M, Kelsey K, Zhang ZF, Winn D, Wei Q, Talamini R, Szeszenia-Dabrowska N, Sturgis EM, Smith E, Shangina O, Schwartz SM, Rudnai P, Neto JE, Muscat J, Morgenstern H, Menezes A, Matos E, Mates IN, Lissowska J, Levi F, Lazarus P, La Vecchia C, Koifman S, Herrero R, Franceschi S, Wünsch-Filho V, Fernandez L, Fabianova E, Daudt AW, Maso LD, Curado MP, Chen C, Castellsague X, Brennan P, Boffetta P, Hashibe M, Hayes RB.(2009) . Total Exposure and Exposure Rate Effects for Alcohol and Smoking and Risk of Head and Neck Cancer: A Pooled Analysis of Case-Control Studies. American journal of epidermiology, Volume170(8):937-47.

Luetteke NC, Qiu TH, Peiffer RL, Oliver P, Smithies O, Lee DC. (1993). TGFα deficiency results in hair follicle and eye abnormalities in targeted and waved-1 mice. *cell*. Volume 73(2):263-78.

Luetteke NC, Qiu TH, Fenton SE, Troyer KL, Riedel RF, Chang A, Lee DC. (1999). Targeted inactivation of the EGF and amphiregulin genes reveals distinct roles for EGF receptor ligands in mouse mammary gland development. *Development*, Volume 126(12):2739-50.

Lui VW, Hedberg ML, Li H, Vangara BS, Pendleton K, Zeng Y, Lu Y, Zhang Q, Du Y, Gilbert BR, Freilino M, Sauerwein S, Peyser ND, Xiao D, Diergaarde B, Wang L.(2013). Frequent mutation of the PI3K pathway in head and neck cancer defines predictive biomarkers. *Cancer Discov,* Volume 3(7) pp. 761-9.

Lydiatt W, Sullivan B O', Patel S(2018) Major Changes in Head and Neck Staging for 2018. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Education Book.* volume 38.pp 505-514.

Macha MA, Matta A, Kaur J, Chauhan SS, Thakar A, Shukla NK, Gupta SD, Ralhan R.(2011). Prognostic significance of nuclear pSTAT3 in oral cancer. *Head Neck*, Volume 33(4):482-9.

Malumbres M, Barbacid M.(2009). Cell cycle, CDKs and cancer: a changing paradigm. *nature review cancer*. Volume 9(3):153-66.

Mandic R, Rodgarkia-Dara CJ, Zhu L, Folz BJ, Bette M, Weihe E, Neubauer A, Werner JA. (2006) . Treatment of HNSCC cell lines with the EGFR-specific inhibitor cetuximab (Erbitux) results in paradox phosphorylation of tyrosine 1173 in the receptor.. *FEBS Lett.* Volume 580(20):4793-800

Manzanares M V, Horwitz A R.(2011). Cell migration: an overview. Methods Mol Biol.;769:1-24. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-207-6_1.

Mani SA, , Guo W, Liao MJ, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, Brooks M, Reinhard F, Zhang CC, Shipitsin M, Campbell LL, Polyak K, Brisken C, Yang J, Weinberg RA.(2008). The epithelialmesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cell. *cell*. Volume 133(4):704-15

Margolis BL, , Lax I, Kris R, Dombalagian M, Honegger AM, Howk R, Givol D, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J. (1989). All autophosphorylation sites of epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor and HER2/neu are located in their carboxyl-terminal tails. Identification of a novel site in EGF receptor. *J Biol Chem*, Volume 264(18):10667-71

Marron M, , Boffetta P, Zhang ZF, Zaridze D, Wünsch-Filho V, Winn DM, Wei Q, Talamini R, Szeszenia-Dabrowska N, Sturgis EM, Smith E, Schwartz SM, Rudnai P, Purdue MP, Olshan AF, Eluf-Neto J, Muscat J, Morgenstern H, Menezes A, McClean M, Matos E, Mates IN, Lissowska J, Levi F, Lazarus P, La Vecchia C, Koifman S, Kelsey K, Herrero R, Hayes RB, Franceschi S, Fernandez L, Fabianova E, Daudt AW, Dal Maso L, Curado MP, Cadoni G, Chen C, Castellsague X, Boccia S, Benhamou S, Ferro G, Berthiller J, Brennan P, Møller H, Hashibe M. (2010). Cessation of alcohol drinking, tobacco smoking and the reversal of head and neck cancer risk. International Journal of Epidemiology.. *International journal of Epidermiology*. Volume 39(1):182-96.

Martins RG, Parvathaneni U, Bauman JE, Sharma AK, Raez LE, Papagikos MA, Yunus F, Kurland BF, Eaton KD, Liao JJ, Mendez E, Futran N, Wang DX, Chai X, Wallace SG, Austin M, Schmidt R, Hayes DN. (2013). Cisplatin and radiotherapy with or without erlotinib in locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a randomized phase II trial. *J Clin Oncol,* Volume 31(11):1415-21 Massarelli E, Varella-Garcia M, Tang X, Xavier AC, Ozburn NC, Liu DD, Bekele BN, Herbst RS, Wistuba II. (2007). KRAS mutation is an important predictor of resistance to therapy with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res,* Volume 13(10):2890-6

Matta A, Ralhan R.(2009). Overview of current and future biologically based targeted therapies in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma.*head and neck oncology.* ;1:6. doi: 10.1186/1758-3284-1-6.

Maurizi M, Almadori G, Ferrandina G, Distefano M, Romanini ME, Cadoni G, Benedetti-Panici P, Paludetti G, Scambia G, Mancuso S.(1996). Prognostic significance of epidermal growth factor receptor in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Br J Cancer*. Volume 74(8):1253-7..

Martinelli E, De Palma R, Orditura M, De Vita F, & Ciardiello F. (2009). Anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. *Clinical and experimental immunology*, *158*(1), 1–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03992.x

Maseki S, Ijichi K, Tanaka H, Fujii M. Hasegawa Y, Ogawa T, Murakami S, Kondo, Eand Nakanishi H, (2012). Acquisition of EMT phenotype in the gefitinib-resistant cells of a head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell line through Akt/GSK-3β/snail signalling pathway. *British Journal of Cancer*, Volume 106(6)p. 1196 – 1204.

Masuda M, Suzui M, Yasumatu R, Nakashima T, Kuratomi Y, Azuma K.(2002). Constitutive activation of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 correlates with cyclin D1 overexpression and may provide a novel prognostic marker in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res,*. Volume 62(12):3351-5.

Mehanna H, Beech T, Nicholson T, El-Hariry I, McConkey C, Paleri V, Roberts S.(2013). Prevalence of human papillomavirus in oropharyngeal and nonoropharyngeal head and neck cancer--systematic review and meta-analysis of trends by time and region. Head Neck. Volume 35(5):747-55

Mendez MG, Kojima S, Goldman RD.(2010) . Vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *FASEB J*. Volume 24(6):1838-51 Milanezi F, Carvalho S, Schmitt FC. (2008)EGFR/HER2 in breast cancer: a biological approach for molecular diagnosis and therapy Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics ;8(4):417-34. doi: 10.1586/14737159.8.4.417.

Mineo C, Gill GN, Anderson RG. (1999). Regulated migration of epidermal growth factor receptor from caveolae.. *J Biol Chem.* Volume 274(43):30636-43.

Mineta H, Miura K, Takebayashi S, Ueda Y, Misawa K, Harada H, Wennerberg J, M. Dictor., (2000). Cyclin D1 overexpression correlates with poor prognosis in patients with tongue squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncology*. Volume 36(2)pp 194-198.

Mirghani H, Amen F, Blanchard P, Moreau F, Guigay J, Hartl DM, Lacau St Guily J. (2015). Treatment de-escalation in HPV-positive oropharyngeal carcinoma: ongoing trials, critical issues and perspectives. *Int J Cancer*.136(7):1494-503

Misale S, . Yaeger R, Hobor S, Scala E, Janakiraman M, Liska D, Valtorta E, Schiavo R, Buscarino M, Siravegna G, Bencardino K, Cercek A, Chen CT, Veronese S, Zanon C, Sartore-Bianchi A, Gambacorta M, Gallicchio M, Vakiani E, Boscaro V, Medico E, Weiser M.(2012). Emergence of KRAS mutations and acquired resistance to anti-EGFR therapy in colorectal cancer. *Nature.* 486(7404):532-6

Molinolo AA, Amornphimoltham P, Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Patel V, Gutkind JS.(2010). Dysregulated Molecular Networks in Head and Neck Carcinogenesis. *Oral Oncol* .Volume;45(4-5):324-34. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2008.07.011. Epub 2008 Sep 19.

Molinolo AA, Marsh C, El Dinali M, Gangane N, Jennison K, Hewitt S, Patel V, Seiwert TY, Gutkind JS.(2012). mTOR as a molecular target in HPV-associated oral and cervical squamous carcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res,* Volume 18(9):2558-68.

Moody CA, Laimins LA(2010) Human papillomavirus oncoproteins: pathways to transformation.. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 10(8):550-60.

Morris LG, Kaufman AM, Gong Y, Ramaswami D, Walsh LA, Turcan Ş, Eng S, Kannan K, Zou Y, Peng L, Banuchi VE, Paty P, Zeng Z, Vakiani E, Solit D, Singh B, Ganly I, Liau L, Cloughesy TC, Mischel PS, Mellinghoff IK, Chan TA. (2013). Recurrent somatic mutation of FAT1 in multiple human cancers leads to aberrant Wnt activation. *Nat Genet*. Volume 45(3):253-61. Morris LG, Sikora AG, Patel SG, Hayes RB, Ganly I. (2011). Second primary cancers after an index head and neck cancer: subsitr specifc trends in the era of human papillomavirus associated oropharngeal cancer. *Journal of clincal oncology*. Volume 29(6):739-46.

Moscatello DK, Holgado-Madruga M, Emlet DR, Montgomery RB, Wong AJ.(1998). Constitutive activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by a naturally occurring mutant epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Biol Chem*. Volume273(1):200-6.

Muñoz N, Bosch FX, de Sanjosé S, Herrero R, Castellsagué X, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Meijer CJ; International Agency for Research on Cancer Multicenter Cervical Cancer Study Group. (2003). Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. N.. *New England journel of medicine.* Volume 348(6):518-27.

Murugan AK, Munirajan AK, Tsuchida N. (2012) Ras oncogenes in oral cancer: The past 20 years ,*Oral Oncology* Volume 48 ;48(5):383-92. 383–392

Myong N. H. (2012). Loss of E-cadherin and Acquisition of Vimentin in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition are Noble Indicators of Uterine Cervix Cancer Progression. *Korean journal of pathology*, *46*(4), 341–348. https://doi.org/10.4132/KoreanJPathol.2012.46.4.341

Nagao Y, Sata M.(2009) High incidence of multiple primary carcinomas in HCV-infected patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Med Sci Monit*.15(9):CR453-9.

Na II, Kang HJ, Cho SY, Koh JS, Lee JK, Lee BC, Lee GH, Lee YS, Yoo HJ, Ryoo BY, Yang SH, Shim YS. (2007). EGFR mutations and human papillomavirus in squamous cell carcinoma of tongue and tonsil. *Eur J Cancer*, Volume 43(3). 520-6.

Navarini NF, Araújo VC, Brown AL, Passador-Santos F, Souza IF, Napimoga MH, Araújo NS, Martinez EF. (2015). The EGF signaling pathway influences cell migration and the secretion of metalloproteinases by myoepithelial cells in pleomorphic adenoma. *Tumour biology.* Volume 36(1):205-11.

NCI National Cancer Institute. 2016. [Online] Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/newsevents/cancer-currents-blog/2016/fda-nivolumab-scchn[Accessed 16 02 2019].

NCI, 2018. Harms of Cigarette Smoking and Health Benefits of Quitting. [Online] Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causesprevention/risk/tobacco/cessation-fact-sheet NCI 2019 Drug apptoved for head and neck cancer(online) available at https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/drugs/head-neck

NCI 2020 Dictionary of cancer terms [Online] Available at

https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/cancer

Neilson EG , Zeisberg M. (2009). Biomarkers for epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *journal of clinical investigation,* Volume 119(6) pp. 1429-1437.

Nguyen H, Kitzmiller JP, Nguyen KT, Nguyen CD, Bui TC (2017) Oral Carcinoma Associated with Chronic Use of Electronic Cigarettes. Otolaryngol (Sunnyvale) 7:304. Doi: 10.4172/2161-119X.1000304

Ngwe KK, Soe A, Sein N, Win T. (2016). Betelquid chweing habit in head and neck cancer patients in 2012-2015, Toungoo, Myanmar. *Journal of clinical oncology*. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.e13040 *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34, no. 15_suppl

NICE(2017) https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng12/chapter/1-Recommendationsorganised-by-site-of-cancer#head-and-neck-cancers.

Nichols AC, Palma DA, Chow W, Tan S, Rajakumar C, Rizzo G, Fung K, Kwan K, Wehrli B, Winquist E, Koropatnick J, Mymryk JS, Yoo J, Barrett JW. (2013). High frequency of activating PIK3CA mutations in human papillomavirus-positive oropharyngeal cancer. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, Volume 139(6):617-22

Nieminen MT, Salaspuro M. Local Acetaldehyde-An Essential Role in Alcohol-Related Upper Gastrointestinal Tract Carcinogenesis. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2018;10(1):11. Published 2018 Jan 5. doi:10.3390/cancers10010011

NIH, 2018. Cetuximab with radiation found to be inferior to standard treatment in HPVpositive oropharyngeal cancer. https://www.nih.gov/news-events/newsreleases/cetuximab-radiation-found-be-inferior-standard-treatment-hpv-positiveoropharyngeal-cancer [Accessed 16 02 2019].

NHS,2018. [Online] Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/head-and-neck-cancer/ [Accessed 16 02 2019]. Nijkamp MM, Span PN, Hoogsteen IJ, van der Kogel AJ, Kaanders JH, Bussink J.(2011). Expression of E-cadherin and vimentin correlates with metastasis formation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*. Volume 99(3):344-8 Normanno N, De Luca A, Bianco C, Strizzi L, Mancino M, Maiello MR, Carotenuto A, De Feo G, Caponigro F, Salomon DS.(2006). Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling in cancer. *Gene*. Volume 366(1):2-16. Epub 2005 Dec 27.

Nuyts S, Dok R., (2016). HPV Positive Head and Neck Cancers Molecular Pathogenesis and Evolving Treatment Strategies.. *Cancers (Basel)*. Volume 8(4). E41. doi:

10.3390/cancers8040041

Ogden GR (2018) Alcohol and mouth cancer. *Br Dent J*. 225(9):880-883. doi:10.1038/sj.bdj.2018.921

Öhman J, Rexius H, Mjörnstedt L, Gonzalez H, Holmberg E, Dellgren G, Hasséus B H. R. M. (2015). Oral and lip cancer in solid organ transplant patients – A cohort study. *Oral Oncology.* Volume 51(2):146-50. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.11.007. Epub 2014 Dec 11

Ohnishi Yuichi, Yasui Hiroki, Kakudo Kenji and Nozaki Masami (2017) Regulation of cell migration via the EGFR signaling pathway in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells *Oncol Lett*. volume 13(2): 930–936.

Oo HN, Myint YY, Maung CN, Oo PS, Cheng J, Maruyama S, Yamazaki M, Yagi M, Sawair FA, Saku T.(2011). Oral cancer in Myanmar : a preliminary survey based on hospital-based cancer registries.. *Journal of oral patholgy and medicine.* Volume40(1):20-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0714.2010.00938.x. Epub 2010 Aug 31.

Pande, Mathur M, Shukla NK, Ralhan R.(1998). pRb and p16 protein alterations in human oral tumorigenesis. *Oral Oncology.* volume 34(5):396–40.

Pannone G, Liguori G, Franco R, Aquino G, Sabatino R, Pace M, Santoro A, Ionna F, Longo F, Bufo P.(2013). OP202: Combined evaluation of HER family members other than EGFR in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Preliminary results. *Oral Oncology*. Page S80,ISSN 1368-8375,https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.03.211.http://www.sciencedirect.com/sc ience/article/pii/S1368837513002856

Pant V, Lozano G.(2014). Limiting the power of p53 through the ubiquitin proteasome pathway. *Genes and development*. Volume 28(16):1739- 51

Pećina-Slaus N, (2003). Tumor suppressor gene E-cadherin and its role in normal and malignant cells. *Cancer Cell International.* Volume 3(1):17.

Pectasides E, Egloff AM, Sasaki C, Kountourakis P, Burtness B, Fountzilas G, Dafni U, Zaramboukas T, Rampias T, Rimm D, Grandis J, Psyrri A.(2010). Nuclear Localization of Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Is Associated with a Better Prognosis. *clinical cancer res*, Volume 16(8) :2427-34.

Peng, Q., Deng, Z., Pan, H., Gu, L., Liu, O., & Tang, Z. (2018). Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway in oral cancer. *Oncology letters*, Volume 15(2), 1379–1388. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.7491

Pennock S, Wang Z., 2003. Stimulation of cell proliferation by endosomal epidermal growth factor receptor as revealed through two distinct phases of signaling. *molecular and cellular biology*, Volume 23(16) p. 5803–5815.

Perez CA, Song H, Raez LE, Agulnik M, Grushko TA, Dekker A, Stenson K, Blair EA, Olopade OI, Seiwert TY, Vokes EE, Cohen EE (2012). Phase II study of gefitinib adaptive dose

escalation to skin toxicity in recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Oral Oncol.* Volume 48(9):887-92

Pérez-Sayáns M ,Suárez-Peñaranda JM, Gayoso-Diz P, Barros-Angueira F, Gándara-Rey JM, García-García A.(2011). p16(INK4a)/CDKN2 expression and its relationship with oral squamous cell carcinoma is our current knowledge enough?. *Cancer Lett,* volume 306(2):pp. 134-41..

Perisanidis C. (2017). Prevalence of EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Domain Mutations in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Cohort Study and Systematic Review. *In vivo (Athens, Greece)*, volume *31*(1), 23–34. doi:10.21873/invivo.11020

Philippon H, Brochier-Armanet C. & Perrière G.(2015) Evolutionary history of phosphatidylinositol- 3-kinases: ancestral origin in eukaryotes and complex duplication patterns. *BMC Evol Biol* **15**, 226 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-015-0498-7**2015**.

Pickering CR, Zhang J, Yoo SY, Bengtsson L, Moorthy S, Neskey DM, Zhao M, Ortega Alves MV, Chang K, Drummond J, Cortez E, Xie TX, Zhang D, Chung W, Issa JP, Zweidler-McKay PA, Wu X, El-Naggar AK, Weinstein JN, Wang J, Muzny DM, Gibbs RA, Wheeler DA, Myer.(2013). Integrative genomic characterization of oral squamous cell carcinoma identifies frequent somatic drivers. *Cancer Discov.* volume 3(7):770-81

Plotnikov A, Zehorai E, Procaccia S, Seger R.(2011). The MAPK cascades: Signaling components, nuclear roles and mechanisms of nuclear translocation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. Volume 1813(9):1619-33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.12.012. Epub 2010 Dec 16.

Poch B, Gansauge F, Schwarz A, Seufferlein T, Schnelldorfer T, Ramadani M, Beger HG, Gansauge S.(2001) Epidermal growth factor induces cyclin D1 in human pancreatic carcinoma: evidence for a cyclin D1-dependent cell cycle progression. Pancreas volume 23(3)pp 280-7.

Poeta ML ,Manola J, Goldwasser MA, Forastiere A, Benoit N, Califano JA, Ridge JA, Goodwin J, Kenady D, Saunders J, Westra W, Sidransky D, Koch WM.(2007). TP53 mutations and survival in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *New england journal of medicine*. volume 357(25):2552-61.

Pollard JW.(2004). Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer.* volume 4(1):71-8. doi: 10.1038/nrc1256.

Psyrri A, Seiwert TY, Jimeno A.(2013). Molecular pathways in head and neck cancer: EGFR, PI3K, and more. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book.* 246-55. doi:

10.1200/EdBook_AM.2013.33.246

Psyrri A, Yu Z, Weinberger PM, Sasaki C, Haffty B, Camp R, Rimm D, Burtness BA. (2005) . I: Quantitative determination of nuclear and cytoplasmic epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oropharyngeal squamous cell cancer by using automated quantitative analysis. *Clin Cancer Res,* volume 11(16). 5856-62..

Qian X, Karpova T, Sheppard AM, McNally J, Lowy DR. (2004) . E-cadherin-mediated adhesion inhibits ligand-dependent activation of diverse receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J.* volume 23(8):1739-48

Quesnelle KM, , Boehm AL, Grandis JR. (2007) . STAT-mediated EGFR signaling in cancer. *J Cell Biochem*, 102(2) 311-9..

Quesnelle KM, Grandis JR(2011). Dual kinase inhibition of EGFR and HER2 overcomes resistance to cetuximab in a novel in vivo model of acquired cetuximab resistance. *Clin Cancer Res* volume 17(18):5935-44

Quon H, Liu FF, Cummings BJ. (2001) . Potential molecular prognostic markers in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck*, volume 23(2): 147-59..

Radoï L, Luce D.(2013). A review of risk factors for oral cavity cancer: the importance of a standardized case definition. *Community Dent Oral Epidemiol.* volume 41(2):97-109,

Rajalalitha P, Vali S. Molecular pathogenesis of oral submucous fibrosis--a collagen metabolic disorder. *J Oral Pathol Med*. 2005;34(6):321-328. doi:10.1111/j.1600-

0714.2005.00325.x

Ramakrishnan M. S., Eswaraiah, A., Crombet, T., Piedra, P., Saurez, G., Iyer, H., & Arvind, A. S. (2009). Nimotuzumab, a promising therapeutic monoclonal for treatment of tumors of epithelial origin. *mAbs*, volume 1(1), 41–48. doi:10.4161/mabs.1.1.7509,

Ram H, Sarkar J, Kumar H, Konwar R, Bhatt M. L, & Mohammad S. (2011). Oral cancer: risk factors and molecular pathogenesis. *Journal of maxillofacial and oral surgery*, volume *10*(2), 132–137. doi:10.1007/s12663-011-0195-z

Rampias T, Giagini A, Siolos S, Matsuzaki H1, Sasaki C, Scorilas A, Psyrri A. (2014). RAS/PI3K crosstalk and cetuximab resistance in head and neck squamous cell carcinom. *clinical cancer research.* volume 20(11):2933-46.

Rebucci M, Peixoto P, Dewitte A, Wattez N, De Nuncques MA, Rezvoy N, Vautravers-Dewas C, Buisine MP, Guerin E, Peyrat JP, Lartigau E, Lansiaux A.(2011). Mechanisms underlying resistance to cetuximab in the HNSCC cell line: role of AKT inhibition in bypassing this resistance. *Int J Oncol.* volume 38(1)pp189-200

Reddy P, Liu L, Ren C, Lindgren P, Boman K, Shen Y, Lundin E, Ottander U, Rytinki M, Liu K.(2005) . Formation of E-cadherin-mediated cell–cell adhesion activates AKT and mitogen activated protein kinase via phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase and ligand-independent activation of epidermal growth factor receptor in ovarian cancer cells. *Mol Endocrinol.* volume 19(10):2564-78

Rehm J, Patra J, Popova S.(2007). Alcohol drinking cessation and its effect on esophageal and head and neck cancers: a pooled analysis. *Int J Cancer*, volume 121(5):1132-7.

Reichart PA, Philipsen HP.(2005). Oral erythroplakia-a review. *Oral Oncol.* volume 41(6):551-61.

Reich NC, Liu L., 2006. Tracking STAT nuclear traffic.. *Nat Rev Immunol* volume 6(8):602-12. Ren X, Wang J, Lin X, Wang X. E-cadherin expression and prognosis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: evidence from 19 published investigations. *Onco Targets Ther*. 2016;9:2447-2453. Published 2016 Apr 26. doi:10.2147/OTT.S98577

Reuter CW, Morgan MA, Eckardt A.(2007) . Targeting EGF-receptor-signaling in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. *Br J Cancer* 96(3):408-16. Epub 2007 Jan 16.

Ridge, J. A., 2016. Cancer Network. [Online] Available at:

https://www.cancernetwork.com/cancer-management/head-and-neck-tumors [Accessed 01 04 2019].

Ries J, Vairaktaris E, Agaimy A, Bechtold M, Gorecki P, Neukam FW, Nkenke E.(2013). The relevance of EGFR overexpression for the prediction of the malignant transformation of oral leukoplakia. *Oncology report*, Volume 30(3)pp. 1149-1156.

Roepstorff K, Grandal MV, Henriksen L, Knudsen SL, Lerdrup M, Grøvdal L, Willumsen BM, van Deurs B.(2009). Differential effects of EGFR ligands on endocytic sorting of the receptor. *Traffic.* Volume 10(8):1115-27. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00943.x. Epub 2009 May 19.

Romanitan M, Näsman A, Munck-Wikland E, Dalianis T, Ramqvist T.(2013). EGFR and phosphorylated EGFR in relation to HPV and clinical outcome in tonsillar cancer. *Anti cancer research*. Volume 33(4):1575-83.

Romar GA, K. Kupper TS, Divito SJ.(2016). Research Techniques Made Simple: Techniques to Assess Cell Proliferation. *journal of investigative dermatology*. Volume 136(1):e1-e7. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2015.11.020.

Roskoski, R., (2014). The ErbB/HER family of protein-tyrosine kinases and cancer. *Pharmacological Research*, Volume 79. 34-74.

Roycroft A, Mayor R.(2016). Molecular basis of contact inhibition of locomotion. *cellular and molecular life science*. Volume 73(6):1119-30

Royce Leah S, Kibbey Maura C, Mertz Prema, Kleinman Hynda K, Baum Bruce (1993)

Human neoplastic submandibular intercalated duct cells express an acinar phenotype when cultured on a basement membrane matrix *Differentiation* Volume 52, Issue 3, Pages 247-255

Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F, Normanno N.(1995). Epidermal growth factor-related

peptides and their receptors in human malignancies. Critical Reviews in

Oncology/Hematology, Volume 19(3), pp. 183-232.

Sankari, S. L., Gayathri, K., Balachander, N., & Malathi, L. (2015). Candida in potentially

malignant oral disorders. Journal of pharmacy & bioallied sciences, Volume 7(Suppl 1),

S162-S164. doi:10.4103/0975-7406.155886

Sánchez-Abarca LI Gutierrez-Cosio S, Santamaría C, Caballero-Velazquez T, Blanco B, Herrero-Sánchez C, García JL, Carrancio S, Hernández-Campo P, González FJ, Flores T, Ciudad L, Ballestar E, Del Cañizo C, San Miguel JF, Pérez-Simon JA.(2010). Immunomodulatory effect of 5-azacytidine (5-azaC): potential role in the transplantation setting. *Blood.* Volume 115(1):107-21

Saranath D, Chang SE, Bhoite LT, Panchal RG, Kerr IB, Mehta AR, Johnson NW, Deo MG.(1991). High frequency mutation in codons 12 and 61 of H-ras oncogene in chewing tobacco-related human oral carcinoma in India.. *Br J Cancer*. Volume 115(1):107-21 Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM.(2005). Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science*. Volume 307(5712):1098-101.

Sarode GS, Sarode SC, Maniyar N, Anand R, Patil S. (2018). Oral cancer databases: A comprehensive review. *journal of oral pathology and medicine.* 47(6):547-556. doi: 10.1111/jop.12667.

Schafer, K.(1998). The cell cycle: a review. *Veterinary pathology.* Volume 35(6):461-78 Scher HI, Sarkis A, Reuter V, Cohen D, Netto G, Petrylak D, Lianes P, Fuks Z, Mendelsohn J, Cordon-Cardo C. (1995). Changing pattern of expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor and transforming growth factor alpha in the progression of prostatic neoplasms. *Clin Cancer Res.* Volume 1(5):545-50

Schick U, Gujral DM, Richards TM, Harrington KJ, Nutting CM.(2012). Zalutumumab in head and neck cancer. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*. Volume 12(1):119-25

Schildt EB, Eriksson M, Hardell L, Magnuson A. (1998). Oral infections and dental factors in relation to oral cancer: a Swedish case--control study.. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* Volume7(3):201-6

Schipper J, Frixen U, Behrens, Unger A, Jahnke K, Birchmeier W (1991) E-Cadherin Expression in Squamous Cell Carcinomas of Head and Neck: Inverse Correlation with Tumor Dedifferentiation and Lymph Node Metastasis.*Cancer research* 51. 6328-6337.

Schreiber AB Winkler ME, Derynck R.(1986). Transforming growth factor-alpha: a more potent angiogenic mediator than epidermal growth factor. *Science*. Volume 232(4755):1250-3.

Schultz G, Rotatori DS, Clark W.(1991) . EGF and TGF-alpha in wound healing and repair. *J Cell Biochem*, Volume 45(4): 346-52.

Schulze, W. X., Deng, L., & Mann, M. (2005). Phosphotyrosine interactome of the ErbBreceptor kinase family. *Molecular systems biology*, *1*,.0008. doi:10.1038/msb4100012

Schwartz SR, Yueh B, McDougall JK, Daling JR, Schwartz SM., 2001. Human papillomavirus infection and survival in oral squamous cell cancer: a population-based study. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surgery.* Volume 125(1)pp 1-9

Sedghizadeh PP, Billington WD, Paxton D, Ebeed R, Mahabady S[,] Clark GT, Enciso R[,].(2016). Is p16-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma associated with favorable prognosis? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oral Oncology*, Volume 54, pp. 15-27.

Sen M, Pollock NI, Black J, DeGrave KA¹, Wheeler S[,] Freilino ML, Joyce S, Lui VW, Zeng Y, Chiosea SI, Grandis JR.(2015). JAK kinase inhibition abrogates STAT3 activation and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma tumor growth. *Neoplasia*, volume17(3):256-64. pp. 256-64.

Serrano M, Hannon GJ, Beach D.(1993). A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. *Nature International Journal of Science*. volume 366(6456):704-7.

Serra V, Scaltriti M, Prudkin L, Eichhorn PJ, Ibrahim YH, Chandarlapaty S, Markman B, Rodriguez O, Guzman M, Rodriguez S, Gili M, Russillo M, Parra JL, Singh S, Arribas J, Rosen N, Baselga J. (2011). PI3K inhibition results in enhanced HER signaling and acquired ERK dependency in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. Volume 30(22):2547-57 *oncogene*. Sette G, Salvati V, Mottolese M, Visca P, Gallo E, Fecchi K, Pilozzi E, Duranti E, Policicchio E, Tartaglia M, Milella M, De Maria R, Eramo A.(2015)Tyr1068-phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) predicts cancer stem cell targeting by erlotinib in preclinical models of wild-type EGFR lung cancer. Cell Death Dis. Aug 6;6:e1850. doi:

10.1038/cddis.2015.217

Shen X, & Kramer R. H. (2004). Adhesion-mediated squamous cell carcinoma survival through ligand-independent activation of epidermal growth factor receptor. *The American journal of pathology*, Volume *165*(4), 1315–1329. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63390-12004.

Sheu JJ, Hua CH, Wan L, Lin YJ, Lai MT, Tseng HC, Jinawath N, Tsai MH, Chang NW, Lin CF, Lin CC, Hsieh LJ, Wang TL, Shih IeM, Tsai FJ.(2009). Functional genomic analysis identified epidermal growth factor receptor activation as the most common genetic event in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* Volume 69(6):2568-76. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3199. Epub 2009 Mar 10.

Sherr C J.(1994). G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. *Cell*, Volume 79(4), 551-555. Shin DM , Ro JY, Hong WK, Hittelman WN. (1994) Dysregulation of Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in premalignant lesions during head and neck tumorgenesis. *Cancer Res*, pp. Volume 54(12)pp3153-9.

Shirasuna K, Sato M, Miyazaki T.(1981) A neoplastic epithelial duct cell line established from an irradiated human salivary gland. *Cancer*. volume 48(3)pp745–752

Sibilia M, Kroismayr R, Lichtenberger BM, Natarajan A, Hecking M, Holcmann M. (2007). The epidermal growth factor receptor: from development to tumorigenesis. *Differentiation,* Volume 75(9) pp. 770-787

Sigismund S, Woelk T, Puri C, Maspero E, Tacchetti C, Transidico P, Di Fiore PP, Polo S.(2005). Clathrin-independent endocytosis of ubiquitinated cargos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* Volume 102(8):2760-5. Epub 2005 Feb 8

SIGN, 2006. *Diagnosis and management of head and neck cancer Scottish intercollegiate guidelines network ..* s.l.:s.n.

Smith JM, Sporn MB, Roberts AB, Derynck R, Winkler ME, Gregory H.S. M.(1985).Human transforming growth factor-alpha causes precocious eyelid opening in newborn mice. *Nature*, Volume 315(6019):515-6.

Simpson DR, Mell LK, Cohen EE.(2015). Targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Oral Oncol.* . Oral Oncol. 51(4):291-8. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.11.012. Epub 2014 Dec 17.

Singh A, Settleman J.(2010). EMT, cancer stem cells and drug resistance: an emerging axis of evil in the war on cancer. *Oncogene*. Volume 29(34):4741-51.

Slaughter DP, Southwick HW, Smejkal W.(1953). Field cancerization in oral stratified squamous epithelium; clinical implications of multicentric origin. *Cancer*. Volume 6(5):963-8. Sok JC, Coppelli FM, Thomas SM, Lango MN, Xi S, Hunt JL, Freilino ML, Graner MW, Wikstrand CJ, Bigner DD, Gooding WE, Furnari FB, Grandis JR. (2006). Mutant epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFRvIII) contributes to head and neck cancer growth and resistance to EGFR targeting.. *Clin Cancer Res*, Volume 12(17):5064-73.. Song JI, Grandis JR (2000). STAT signaling in head and neck cancer. *Oncogene*, Volume19(21) pp. 2489-95..

Song X, Xia R, Li J, Long Z, Ren H, Chen W, Mao L.(2014).,Common and complex Notch1 mutations in Chinese oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res,* Volume 20(3) pp. 701-10.

Sorkin, A. Waters CM., 1993. Endocytosis of growth factor receptors. *Bioessays.*. Jun;15(6):375-82.

Soulieres D, Senzer NN, Vokes EE, Hidalgo M, Agarwala SS, Siu LL.S.(2004). Multicenter Phase II Study of Erlotinib, an Oral Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor, in Patients With Recurrent or Metastatic Squamous Cell Cancer of the Head and Neck. *journal of oncology*, Volume 22(1); 75-85.

Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Abrahao AC, Molinolo A, Lingen MW, Gutkind JS. (2013). PTEN deficiency contributes to the development and progression of head and neck cance. *Neoplasia.* Volume 15(5):461-71.

Sriuranpong V, Park JI, Amornphimoltham P, Patel V, Nelkin BD, Gutkind JS. (2003). Epidermal growth factor receptor-independent constitutive activation of STAT3 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma is mediated by the autocrine/paracrine stimulation of the interleukin 6/gp130 cytokine system. *cancer research*. Volume 63(11):2948-56.

Starr JR, Daling JR, Fitzgibbons ED, Madeleine MM, Ashley R, Galloway DA, Schwartz SM. (2001) . Serologic evidence of herpes simplex virus 1 infection and oropharyngeal cancer risk. *Cancer Res,* Volume 61(23) pp. 8459-64..

Stern PH, Krieger NS, Nissenson RA, Williams RD, Winkler ME, Derynck R, Strewler GJ.(1985) . Human transforming growth factor-alpha stimulates bone resorption in vitro. *J Clin Invest.* 76(5):2016-9

Stransky N,, Egloff AM, Tward AD, Kostic AD, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, Kryukov GV, Lawrence MS, Sougnez C, McKenna A, Shefler E, Ramos AH, Stojanov P, Carter SL, Voet D, Cortés ML, Auclair D, Berger MF, Saksena G, Guiducci C, Onofrio RC, Parkin M, Romkes M, Weissfeld JL, Seethala RR, Wang L, Rangel-Escareño C, Fernandez-Lopez JC, Hidalgo-Miranda A, Melendez-Zajgla J, Winckler W, Ardlie K, Gabriel SB, Meyerson M, Lander ES, Getz G, Golub TR, Garraway LA, Grandis JR. (2011). The mutational landscape of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Science*. Volume 333(6046):1157-60. doi:

10.1126/science.1208130. Epub 2011 Jul 28.

Subramanium S, Nithya S, Balasundaram V, Poojar K (2015). Nimotuzumab with induction chemotherapy and chemo-radiation in patients with advanced head and neck cancer. *journal of Cancer Therapy.* Volume 06(02):146-152

Swaminathan U., Joshua, E., Rao, U. K., & Ranganathan, K. (2012). Expression of p53 and Cyclin D1 in oral squamous cell carcinoma and normal mucosa: An Immunohistochemical study. *Journal of oral and maxillofacial pathology : JOMFP*, Volume *16*(2), 172–177. doi:10.4103/0973-029X.98451,

Takes RP, Baatenburg de Jong RJ, Schuuring E, Litvinov SV, Hermans J, Van Krieken JH. (1998.) Differences in expression of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes in different sites of head and neck squamous cell. *Anticancer Res,* Volume 18(6B) pp. 4793-800..

Talavera A, Friemann R, Gómez-Puerta S, Martinez-Fleites C, Garrido G, Rabasa A, López-Requena A, Pupo A, Johansen RF, Sánchez O, Krengel U, Moreno E. (2009). Nimotuzumab, an antitumor antibody that targets the epidermal growth factor receptor, blocks ligand binding while permitting the active receptor conformation. *Cancer Res.* Volume 69(14):5851-9.

Temam S, Kawaguchi H, El-Naggar AK, Jelinek J, Tang H, Liu DD, Lang W, Issa JP, Lee JJ, Mao L., (2007). Epidermal growth factor receptor copy number alterations correlate with poor clinical outcome in patients with head and neck squamous cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Volume 25(16):2164-70

Thiery J P, Sleeman, J.(2006). Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* Volume 7(2):131-42.

Thomas GR, Nadiminti H, Regalado J. (2005). Molecular predictors of clinical outcome in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Exp Pathol,* Volume 86(6), p. 347–363.

Thomas SJ, Snowden JA, Zeidler MP, Danson SJ, (2015). The role of JAK/STAT signalling in the pathogenesis, prognosis and treatment of solid tumours. *Br J Cancer*, Volume 113(3)pp. 365-71.

Thomas SM, Coppelli FM, Wells A, Gooding WE, Song J, Kassis J, Drenning SD, Grandis JR. (2003). Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-stimulated Activation of Phospholipase Cγ-1 Promotes Invasion of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer research* Volume 63(17):5629-35

Thomson S, Buck E, Petti F, Griffin G, Brown E, Ramnarine N, Iwata KK, Gibson N, Haley JD. (2005). Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition Is a Determinant of Sensitivity of Non–Small-

Cell Lung Carcinoma Cell Lines and Xenografts to Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Inhibition. *Cancer Res,* 15; Volume 65(20):9455-62.

Thwe A(2015) *EGF* and *TGF*α motogenic activities are mediated by *EGFR*:*Identification* of signalling pathway invloved in head and neck cancer.(Unpublished Master's Thesis), University of Dundee,UK.

Tilakaratne W.M, Klinikowski MF, Saku T, Peters TJ, Warnakulasuriya S(2006). Oral submucous fibrosis: Review on aetiology and pathogenesis. *Oral Oncology*. Volume 42, Issue 6, Pages 561-568,

Tinhofer I, Klinghammer K, Weichert W, Knödler M, Stenzinger A, Gauler T, Budach V, Keilholz U. (2011). Expression of amphiregulin and EGFRvIII affect outcome of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck receiving cetuximab-docetaxel treatment. *Clin Cancer Res.* Volume 17(15):5197-204. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3338. Epub 2011 Jun 8.

Travasso C.(2013). Betel quid chewing is responsible for half of oral cancer cases in India, finds study. *BMJ research news*. 347:f7536. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f7536

Tsuda M & Ohba Y.(2012). Functional Biomarkers of Oral Cancer, Oral Cancer, Kalu U. E. Ogbureke, IntechOpen, DOI: 10.5772/33016. Available from:

https://www.intechopen.com/books/oral-cancer/functional-biomarkers-of-oral-cancer-

Turke AB, Song Y, Costa C, Cook R, Arteaga CL, Asara JM, Engelman JA.(2012). MEK inhibition leads to PI3K/AKT activation by relieving a negative feedback on ERBB receptors. *Cancer Res.* Volume72(13):3228-37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3747. Epub 2012 May 2.
Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam AW, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J, (1984). Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Nature,* Volume 309(5967):418-25

Uramoto H,Iwata T, Onitsuka T, Shimokawa H, Hanagiri T, Oyama T.(2010). Epithelialmesenchymal transition in EGFR-TKI acquired resistant lung adenocarcinoma. *Anticancer Res.* Volume 30(7):2513-7.

Vanhaesebroeck B, Alessi DR. (2000). The PI3K-PDK1 connection: more than just a road to PKB. *Biochemistry.* 15;346 Pt 3:561-76.

Vatte, C., Al Amri, A. M., Cyrus, C., Chathoth, S., Acharya, S., Hashim, T. M., Al-Ali, A. K. (2017). Tyrosine kinase domain mutations of *EGFR* gene in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *OncoTargets and therapy*, *10*, 1527–1533. doi:10.2147/OTT.S132187

Vermorken JB, Remenar E, Hitt R, Kawecki A, Rottey S, Schulten L, Mesia R (2008). Platinum-Based Chemotherapy plus Cetuximab in Head and Neck Cancer. *The new england journal of medicine,* Volume 359(11):1116-1127.

Vermorken JB, Stöhlmacher-Williams J, Davidenko I, Licitra L, Winquist E, Villanueva C, Foa P, Rottey S, Skladowski K, Tahara M, Pai VR, Faivre S, Blajman CR, Forastiere AA, Stein BN, Oliner KS, Pan Z, Bach BA (2013). Cisplatin and fluorouracil with or without panitumumab in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SPECTRUM): an open-label phase 3 randomised trial.. *Lancet Oncology.* Volume 14(8):697-710. Vigneswaran N, William MD.(2014). Epidemiologic trends in head and neck cancer and aids in diagnosis. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am*. Volume 26(2):123-41.

Vincent EE, Elder DJ, Thomas EC, Phillips L, Morgan C, Pawade J, Sohail M, May MT, Hetzel MR, Tavaré JM, (2011). Akt phosphorylation on Thr308 but not on Ser473 correlates with Akt protein kinase activity in human non-small cell lung cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*; Volume 104(11)pp1755-61.

Waal VD (2009). Potentially malignant disorders of the oral and oropharyngeal mucosa; terminology, classification and present concepts of management. *Oral Oncology*. Volume 45(4–5):317-323.

Wakeling AE, Guy SP, Woodburn JR, Ashton SE, Curry BJ, Barker AJ, Gibson KH.(2002) . ZD1839 (Iressa): an orally active inhibitor of epidermal growth factor signaling with potential for cancer therapy. *Cancer Res.* Volume 62(20):5749-54.

Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Muñoz N., (1999). Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. *J Pathol,* Volume 189(1), 12-9..

Walker F., Kato A, Gonez LJ, Hibbs ML, Pouliot N, Levitzki A, Burgess AW. (1998). Activation of the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway by kinase-defective epidermal growth factor receptors results in cell survival but not proliferation. *Mol Cell Biol.* Volume 18(12):7192-204.

Walton GM, Chen WS, Rosenfeld MG, Gill GN. (1990) . Analysis of deletions of the carboxyl terminus of the epidermal growth factor receptor reveals self-phosphorylation at tyrosine

992 and enhanced in vivo tyrosine phosphorylation of cell substrates. *J Biol Chem,* Volume 265(3):1750-4..

Wang, F., Wang, S., Wang, Z.(2012). Phosphorylated EGFR expression may predict outcome of EGFR-TKIs therapy for the advanced NSCLC patients with wild-type EGFR. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* **31**, 65 https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-31-65

Wang W, Dong L, Zhao B, Lu J, Zhao Y. (2018) . Ecadherin is downregulated by microenvironmeental changes in pancreatic cancer and induces EMT. *Oncology reports* Pages 1641-1649

Wang Z, Valera JC, Zhao X, Chen Q, Gutkind JS(2017). mTOR co-targeting strategies for head and neck cancer therapy. *cancer metastasis review*. Volume 36(3):491-502.

Ward C W, & Garrett T. P. (2001). The relationship between the L1 and L2 domains of the insulin and epidermal growth factor receptors and leucine-rich repeat modules. *BMC bioinformatics*, *2*, 4. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-2-4

Warnakulasuriya S, Johnson Newell. W, Waal I van der(2007) Nomenclature and classification of potentially malignant disorder of the oral mucosa. *J Oral Pathol Med* 36 pp575-80

Warnakulasuriya S. (2009). Global epidemiology of oral and oropharyngeal cancer: Oral oncology. *Oral oncology,* Volume 45(4-5): 309–316.

Warnakulasuriya S, Ariyawardana A.(2015). Malignant transformation of oral leukoplakia: a systematic review of observational studies. *journal of oral pathology and medicine*, Volume 45(3):155-66

Watanabe S.(2010). Analysis of cell proliferation and pattern of invasion in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Oral Sci.* Volume 52(3):417-24.

Weber A, Langhanki L, Sommerer F, Markwarth A, Wittekind C, Tannapfel A.(2003). Mutations of the BRAF gene in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Oncogene*, 22(30) 4757-9..

Wee Ping and Wang Zhixiang (2017) Epidermal growth factor receptor cell proliferation signalling pathways *Cancers (Basel)*. Volume 9(5). pii: E52. doi: 10.3390/cancers9050052.

Weinberg RA, Hanahan D, (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, Volume 100(1):57-70

Weinberg RA., Hanahan D.(2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell,

144(5).647-74

Weinberg, R. A.(2006). *biology of cancer*. Garland Science: New York. 850 p. ISBN. Chapter6 pp 160

Weng CH, Chen LY,Lin YC, Shih JY,Lin YC, Tseng RY,Chiu AC, Yeah YH, Liu C, Lin YT, Fang JM, Chem CC .(2019). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) beyond EGFR mutations per se is a common mechanism for acquired resistance to EGFR TKI. *Oncogene*. Volume 38(4):455-468.

Wheeler DL, Huang S, Kruser TJ, Nechrebecki MM, Armstrong EA, Benavente S, Gondi V, Hsu KT, Harari PM.(2008). Mechanisms of acquired resistance to cetuximab: role of HER (ErbB) family members. *oncogene*. Volume27(28):3944-56

Wheelock JM , Shintani Y., Maeda M., Fukumoto Y. and JohnsonK.R.(2008). Cadherinswitching. *Journal of cell science*. 121(Pt 6):727-35. doi: 10.1242/jcs.000455. WHO, 2014. Word Health Organization. Head and Neck Cancer union for international cancer control 2014 review of cancer medicine on WHO list of essential medicines [Online] Availableat:https://www.who.int/selection_medicines/committees/expert/20/applications/ HeadNeck.pdf[Accessed 01 04 2019].

WHO, 2018. Cancer-World Health Organization. [Online] Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer[Accesserdd 13 02 2019].

Winkler ME, O Connor L, Winget M, Fendly B.(1987). Epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor alpha bind differently to the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Biochemistry.* Volume 28(15):6373-8

Wong S.(2005). Cetuximab: an epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody for the treatment of colorectal cancer. *Clin Ther.* Volume 27(6):684-94

Wynder EL, Bross ij, Feldman RM. (1957) A study of the etiological factors in cancer of the mouth. *Cancer*, Volume 10(6):1300-23

Wyckoff J, Wang W, Lin EY, Wang Y, Pixley F, Stanley ER, Graf T, Pollard JW, Segall J, Condeelis J. (2004). A paracrine loop between tumor cells and macrophages is required for tumor cell migration in mammary tumors. *Cancer research*. Volume 64(19):7022-9.

Xu J, Gimenez-Conti IB, Cunningham JE, Collet AM, Luna MA, Lanfranchi HE, Spitz MR, Conti CJ.(1998). Alterations of p53, cyclin D1, Rb, and H-ras in human oral carcinomas related to tobacco use. *Cancer.* Volume 83(2):204-12

Xia W, Lau YK, Zhang HZ, Liu AR, Li L, Kiyokawa N, Clayman GL, Katz RL, Hung MC. (1997). Strong correlation between c-erbB-2 overexpression and overall survival of patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* Volume 3(1):3-9. Xuan Hien N & Reichart PA. (2008). Betel-chewing in mainland Southeast Asia. *I I A S N E W S L E T T E R*.international institute for asian studies https://www.iias.asia/thenewsletter/article/betel-chewing-mainland-southeast-asia

Xu S, Liu X[,] Liu R, Shi T, Li X, Zhong D, Wang Y, Chen G, Chen J. (2017). Concurrent epidermal growth factor receptor T790M secondary mutation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in a lung adenocarcinoma patient with EGFR-TKI drug resistance. *Thoracic cancer.* 8(6):693-697. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.12484. Epub 2017 Aug 8.

Yamaguchi H, Wyckoff J, Condeelis J. (2005) Cell migration in tumors Current Opinion in Cell Biology. Volume 17(5):559-564https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2005.08.002

Yanagawa T, Hayashi Y, Yoshida H, Yura Y, Nagamine S, Bando T, Sato M. (1986) An adenoid squamous carcinoma-forming cell line established from an oral keratinizing squamous cell carcinoma expressing carcinoembryonic antigen. *Am J Pathol*.volume124(3):496-509.
Yang XD, Jia XC, Corvalan JR, Wang P, Davis CG. (2001) Development of ABX-EGF, a fully human anti-EGF receptor monoclonal antibody, for cancer therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.
Volume 38(1):17-23.

Yao Y, Wang G, Li Z, Yan B, Guo Y, Jiang X, Xi Z.,(2010) Mitochondrially localized EGFR is independent of its endocytosis and associates with cell viability. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai). Volume 42(11):763-70. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmq090. Epub 2010 Oct 7.

Yap LF, Lee D, Khairuddin A, Pairan MF, Puspita B, Siar CH, Paterson IC.(2015). The opposing roles of NOTCH signalling in head and neck cancer: a mini review. Oral Dis. Volume 21(7):850-7. doi: 10.1111/odi.12309. Epub 2015 Jan 29.

Yardimci G, Kutlubay Z, Engin B, Tuzun, Y. (2014). Precancerous lesions of oral mucosa. *World journal of clinical cases*, Volume 2(12), 866–872. doi:10.12998/wjcc.v2.i12.866 Yokoyama K, Kamata N, Fujimoto R, Tsutsumi S, Tomonari M, Taki M, Hosokawa H, Nagayama M. (2003) .Increased invasion and matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression by Snail-induced mesenchymal transition in squamous cell carcinomas. nt J Oncol. Volume 22(4):891-8.

Yonesaka, K., Zejnullahu, K., Okamoto, I., Satoh, T., Cappuzzo, F., Souglakos, J., Jänne, P. A. (2011). Activation of ERBB2 signaling causes resistance to the EGFR-directed therapeutic antibody cetuximab. *Science translational medicine*, *3*(99), 99ra86.

doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3002442

Yu CC, Hung SK, Lin HY, Chiou WY, Lee MS, Liao HF, Huang HB, Ho HC, Su YC.(2017). Targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway as an effectively radiosensitizing strategy for treating human oral squamous cell carcinoma in vitro and in vivo Oncotarget.8(40):68641-68653. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19817. eCollection 2017 Sep 15.

Yu MC, Ho JH, Lai SH, Henderson BE.(1986). Cantonese-style Salted Fish as a Cause of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma: Report. *Cancer research*, Volume 46(2):956-61..

Yun CH, Mengwasser KE, Toms AV, Woo MS, Greulich H, Wong KK, Meyerson M, Eck MJ. 2008). The T790M mutation in EGFR kinase causes drug resistance by increasing the affinity for ATP. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. Volume 105(6):2070-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709662105. Epub 2008 Jan 28.

Zeineldin R, Ning Y, Hudson LG. (2010). The constitutive activity of epidermal growth factor receptor vIII leads to activation and differential trafficking of wild-type epidermal growth factor receptor and erbB2. *J Histochem Cytochem*. Volume 58(6):529-41.

Zhao Y, Yu D, Li H, Nie P, Zhu Y, Liu S, Fang B. (2014). Cyclin D1 overexpression is associated with poor clinicopathological outcome and survival in oral squamous cell carcinoma in Asian populations: insights from a meta-analysis. *PloS one*, *9*(3), e93210.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0093210

Zheng C, Hoffman MP, McMillan T, Kleinman HK, O'Connell BC(1998)Growth factor regulation of the amylase promoter in a differentiating salivary acinar cell line.*J Cell Physiol.* Volume 177(4):628-35.

Zhen Y, Caprioli RM, Staros JV. (2003). Characterization of glycosylation sites of the epidermal growth factor receptor. Biochemistry. Volume 42(18):5478-92.

Zhou C, Shen Z, Ye D, Li Q, Deng H, Liu H, Li J.(2018). The Association and Clinical Significance of CDKN2A Promoter Methylation in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: a Meta-Analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem volume 50(3)pp868-882.

Zhou G, Liu Z, Myers JN.(2016). TP53 Mutations in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Their Impact on Disease Progression and Treatment Response. *journal of cell biochem*, volume 117(12):2682-2692